

overnment Gazette C 8 U. R ΡU \mathbf{O} T С 3 0 Δ



IMPORTANT NOTICE:

THE GOVERNMENT PRINTING WORKS WILL NOT BE HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY ERRORS THAT MIGHT OCCUR DUE TO THE SUBMISSION OF INCOMPLETE / INCORRECT / ILLEGIBLE COPY.

NO FUTURE QUERIES WILL BE HANDLED IN CONNECTION WITH THE ABOVE.

Contents

No.

Gazette Page No. No.

GOVERNMENT NOTICES • GOEWERMENTSKENNISGEWINGS

Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural Development, Department of / Landbou, Grondhervorming en Landelike Ontwikkeling, Departement van 1690 Land Reform (Labour Tenants) Act (3/1996): Portion 8 of the Farm Onverwacht 611 JT..... 45816 14 1691 Land Reform (Labour Tenants) Act (3/1996): Portion 8 of the Farm Goedehoop 142 JT..... 45816 15 1692 Land Reform (Labour Tenants) Act (3/1996): R/E of Portion 1 of the Farm Middelburg 231 IR 45816 16 1693 Restitution of Land Rights Act (22/1994), as amended: Part of the Remaining Extent of Portion 9 of the Farm 45816 Leeuwkraal 92 JR 17 1694 Restitution of Land Rights Act (22/1994: Remaining Extent of Erf 733, Hankey..... 45816 18 Restitution of Land Rights Act (22/1994), as amended: Erf 30, Bethelsdorp, Port Elizabeth..... 45816 1695 19 1696 Restitution of Land Rights Act (22/1994) as amended: Farm Adnamurchan No. 1115: Farm Ardtonish No. 1116: Farm Gillie Callum No. 1117; Farm Arisaig No. 1127; Farm Kwaaiplaats No. 1128; Farm Uijtwoon No. 1147, under Engcobo Local Municipality under Chris Hani District, Eastern Cape Province..... 45816 20 1697 Restitution of Land Rights Act (22/1994), as amended: Various properties situated in Great Kei Local Municipality, 45816 21 Amathole District..... 1698 Restitution of Land Rights Act (22/1994), as amended: Farm 40, Maseru, Matatiele..... 45816 22 Correctional Services, Department of / Korrektiewe Dienste, Departement van 1699 Section 5 of the Correctional Services Act (111/1998), as amended: Review: Establishment of Correctional Centres 45816 and Remand Detention Facilities 23 Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment, Department of / Bosbou, Visserye en die Omgewingsake, Departement van 1700 National Environmental Management: Air Quality Act (39/2004): Methodological Guidelines for Quantification of Greenhouse Gas Emissions - Carbon Sequestration in the Forestry Industry 45816 28 Higher Education and Training, Department of/ Hoër Onderwys en Opleiding, Departement van 1701 The Strategic Policy Framework on Disability for the Post-school Education and Training (PSET) System: Invitation for comments on the Draft Framework and Guidelines to Accommodate Students with Disabilities in Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) Colleges 175 45816 **GENERAL NOTICES • ALGEMENE KENNISGEWINGS**

Civilian Se	ecretariat for the Police Service / Burgerlike Sekretariaat vir die Polisiediens		
777	Critical Infrastructure Protection Act (8/2019): Publication of Members of the Critical Infrastructure Council	45816	205
Employme	ent and Labour, Department of / Indiensneming en Arbeid, Departement van		
778	Labour Relations Act (66/1995) as amended: Notice published by the Essential Services Committee ('the Committee') in terms of section 71(1), read with section 70(B)(1)(d) of the Act	45816	207
South Afri	can Reserve Bank / Suid-Afrikaanse Reserwebank		
779	Banks Act (94/1990): Designation by the Prudential Authority of activities of an institution which shall not be deemed to constitute "the business of a bank" under paragraph (cc) in section 1(1) of the Act	45816	209
Trade, Ind	lustry and Competition, Department of / Handel, Nywerheid en Kompetisie, Departement van		
780	International Trade Administration Act: Customs Tariff Applications: List 01/2022	45816	213
Traditional	Affairs, Department of / Tradisionele Sake, Departement van		
781	Customary Initiation Act (2/2021): National Initiation Oversight Committee: Filling of vacancy	45816	217
Transport.	Department of / Departement van Vervoer		

No.	45816	3
		-

782	Air Service Licensing Act (115/1990): Application for the grant or amendment of Domestic Air Service Licence	45816	218
783	International Air Service Act (60/1993): Grant/amendment of International Air Service License	45816	219

BOARD NOTICES • RAADSKENNISGEWINGS

194	Road Accident Fund Act (56/1996): Adjustment of the Statutory Limit in respect of Claims for Loss of Income and Loss of Support	45816	220
194	Padongelukfondswet, (56/1996): Aanpassing van Statutêre Limiet ten opsigte van eise vir Verlies aan Inkomste en Onderhoud	45816	220
195	Gauteng Gambling Act, 1995: Application for Amendment of Bookmaker's Licence	45816	221
196	Construction Industry Development Board (CIDB): Act (38/2000): Notice of the appointment of the New Accounting Authority for the CIBD	45816	222



HIGH ALERT: SCAM WARNING!!!

TO ALL SUPPLIERS AND SERVICE PROVIDERS OF THE GOVERNMENT PRINTING WORKS

It has come to the attention of the GOVERNMENT PRINTING WORKS that there are certain unscrupulous companies and individuals who are defrauding unsuspecting businesses disguised as representatives of the Government Printing Works (GPW).

The scam involves the fraudsters using the letterhead of *GPW* to send out fake tender bids to companies and requests to supply equipment and goods.

Although the contact person's name on the letter may be of an existing official, the contact details on the letter are not the same as the *Government Printing Works*'. When searching on the Internet for the address of the company that has sent the fake tender document, the address does not exist.

The banking details are in a private name and not company name. Government will never ask you to deposit any funds for any business transaction. *GPW* has alerted the relevant law enforcement authorities to investigate this scam to protect legitimate businesses as well as the name of the organisation.

Example of e-mails these fraudsters are using:

PROCUREMENT@GPW-GOV.ORG

Should you suspect that you are a victim of a scam, you must urgently contact the police and inform the *GPW*.

GPW has an official email with the domain as @gpw.gov.za

Government e-mails DO NOT have org in their e-mail addresses. All of these fraudsters also use the same or very similar telephone numbers. Although such number with an area code 012 looks like a landline, it is not fixed to any property.

GPW will never send you an e-mail asking you to supply equipment and goods without a purchase/order number. *GPW* does not procure goods for another level of Government. The organisation will not be liable for actions that result in companies or individuals being resultant victims of such a scam.

Government Printing Works gives businesses the opportunity to supply goods and services through RFQ / Tendering process. In order to be eligible to bid to provide goods and services, suppliers must be registered on the National Treasury's Central Supplier Database (CSD). To be registered, they must meet all current legislative requirements (e.g. have a valid tax clearance certificate and be in good standing with the South African Revenue Services - SARS).

The tender process is managed through the Supply Chain Management (SCM) system of the department. SCM is highly regulated to minimise the risk of fraud, and to meet objectives which include value for money, open and effective competition, equitability, accountability, fair dealing, transparency and an ethical approach. Relevant legislation, regulations, policies, guidelines and instructions can be found on the tender's website.

Fake Tenders

National Treasury's CSD has launched the Government Order Scam campaign to combat fraudulent requests for quotes (RFQs). Such fraudulent requests have resulted in innocent companies losing money. We work hard at preventing and fighting fraud, but criminal activity is always a risk.

How tender scams work

There are many types of tender scams. Here are some of the more frequent scenarios:

Fraudsters use what appears to be government department stationery with fictitious logos and contact details to send a fake RFQ to a company to invite it to urgently supply goods. Shortly after the company has submitted its quote, it receives notification that it has won the tender. The company delivers the goods to someone who poses as an official or at a fake site. The Department has no idea of this transaction made in its name. The company is then never paid and suffers a loss.

OR

Fraudsters use what appears to be government department stationery with fictitious logos and contact details to send a fake RFQ to Company A to invite it to urgently supply goods. Typically, the tender specification is so unique that only Company B (a fictitious company created by the fraudster) can supply the goods in question.

Shortly after Company A has submitted its quote it receives notification that it has won the tender. Company A orders the goods and pays a deposit to the fictitious Company B. Once Company B receives the money, it disappears. Company A's money is stolen in the process.

Protect yourself from being scammed

- If you are registered on the supplier databases and you receive a request to tender or quote that seems to be from a government department, contact the department to confirm that the request is legitimate. Do not use the contact details on the tender document as these might be fraudulent.
- Compare tender details with those that appear in the Tender Bulletin, available online at <u>www.gpwonline.co.za</u>
- Make sure you familiarise yourself with how government procures goods and services. Visit the tender website for more information on how to tender.
- If you are uncomfortable about the request received, consider visiting the government department and/or the place of delivery and/or the service provider from whom you will be sourcing the goods.
- In the unlikely event that you are asked for a deposit to make a bid, contact the SCM unit of the department in question to ask whether this is in fact correct.

Any incidents of corruption, fraud, theft and misuse of government property in the *Government Printing Works* can be reported to:

Supply Chain Management: Ms. Anna Marie Du Toit, Tel. (012) 748 6292. Email: <u>Annamarie.DuToit@gpw.gov.za</u>

Marketing and Stakeholder Relations: Ms Bonakele Mbhele, at Tel. (012) 748 6193. Email: <u>Bonakele.Mbhele@gpw.gov.za</u>

Security Services: Mr Daniel Legoabe, at tel. (012) 748 6176. Email: Daniel.Legoabe@gpw.gov.za



LIST OF TARIFF RATES FOR PUBLICATION OF NOTICES

COMMENCEMENT: 1 APRIL 2018

NATIONAL AND PROVINCIAL

Notice sizes for National, Provincial & Tender gazettes 1/4, 2/4, 3/4, 4/4 per page. Notices submitted will be charged at R1008.80 per full page, pro-rated based on the above categories.

Pricing for National, Provincial - Variable Priced Notices				
Notice Type	New Price (R)			
Ordinary National, Provincial	1/4 - Quarter Page	252.20		
Ordinary National, Provincial	2/4 - Half Page	504.40		
Ordinary National, Provincial	3/4 - Three Quarter Page	756.60		
Ordinary National, Provincial	4/4 - Full Page	1008.80		

EXTRA-ORDINARY

All Extra-ordinary National and Provincial gazette notices are non-standard notices and attract a variable price based on the number of pages submitted.

The pricing structure for National and Provincial notices which are submitted as **Extra ordinary submissions** will be charged at R**3026.32** per page.

IMPORTANT NOTICE:

THE GOVERNMENT PRINTING WORKS WILL NOT BE HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY ERRORS THAT MIGHT OCCUR DUE TO THE SUBMISSION OF INCOMPLETE / INCORRECT / ILLEGIBLE COPY.

NO FUTURE QUERIES WILL BE HANDLED IN CONNECTION WITH THE ABOVE.

The **Government Printing Works** (**GPW**) has established rules for submitting notices in line with its electronic notice processing system, which requires the use of electronic *Adobe* Forms. Please ensure that you adhere to these guidelines when completing and submitting your notice submission.

CLOSING TIMES FOR ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICES

- 1. The *Government Gazette* and *Government Tender Bulletin* are weekly publications that are published on Fridays and the closing time for the acceptance of notices is strictly applied according to the scheduled time for each gazette.
- 2. Please refer to the Submission Notice Deadline schedule in the table below. This schedule is also published online on the Government Printing works website <u>www.gpwonline.co.za</u>

All re-submissions will be subject to the standard cut-off times. <u>All notices received after the closing time will be rejected</u>.

Government Gazette Type	Publication Frequency	Publication Date	Submission Deadline	Cancellations Deadline	
National Gazette	Weekly	Friday	Friday 15h00 for next Friday	Tuesday, 15h00 - 3 working days prior to publication	
Regulation Gazette	Weekly	Friday	Friday 15h00 for next Friday	Tuesday, 15h00 - 3 working days prior to publication	
Petrol Price Gazette	Monthly	Tuesday before 1st Wednesday of the month	One day before publication	1 working day prior to publication	
Road Carrier Permits	Weekly	Friday	Thursday 15h00 for next Friday	3 working days prior to publication	
Unclaimed Monies (Justice, Labour or Lawyers)	January / September 2 per year	Last Friday	One week before publication	3 working days prior to publication	
Parliament (Acts, White Paper, Green Paper)	As required	Any day of the week	None	3 working days prior to publication	
Manuals	Bi- Monthly	2nd and last Thursday of the month	One week before publication	3 working days prior to publication	
State of Budget (National Treasury)	Monthly	30th or last Friday of the month	One week before publication	3 working days prior to publication	
Extraordinary Gazettes	As required	Any day of the week	Before 10h00 on publication date	Before 10h00 on publication date	
Legal Gazettes A, B and C	Weekly	Friday	One week before publication	Tuesday, 15h00 - 3 working days prior to publication	
Tender Bulletin	Weekly	Friday	Friday 15h00 for next Friday	Tuesday, 15h00 - 3 working days prior to publication	
Gauteng	Weekly	Wednesday	Two weeks before publication	3 days after submission deadline	
Eastern Cape	Weekly	Monday	One week before publication	3 working days prior to publication	
Northern Cape	Weekly	Monday	One week before publication	3 working days prior to publication	
North West	Weekly	Tuesday	One week before publication	3 working days prior to publication	
KwaZulu-Natal	Weekly	Thursday	One week before publication	3 working days prior to publication	
Limpopo	Weekly	Friday	One week before publication	3 working days prior to publication	
Mpumalanga	Weekly	Friday	One week before publication	3 working days prior to publication	

Government Gazette Type	Publication Frequency	Publication Date	Submission Deadline	Cancellations Deadline
Gauteng Liquor License Gazette	Monthly	Wednesday before the First Friday of the month	Two weeks before publication	3 working days after submission deadline
Northern Cape Liquor License Gazette	Monthly	First Friday of the month	Two weeks before publication	3 working days after submission deadline
National Liquor License Gazette	Monthly	First Friday of the month	Two weeks before publication	3 working days after submission deadline
Mpumalanga Liquor License Gazette	Bi-Monthly	Second & Fourth Friday	One week before publication	3 working days prior to publication

EXTRAORDINARY GAZETTES

3. *Extraordinary Gazettes* can have only one publication date. If multiple publications of an *Extraordinary Gazette* are required, a separate Z95/Z95Prov *Adobe* Forms for each publication date must be submitted.

NOTICE SUBMISSION PROCESS

- 4. Download the latest *Adobe* form, for the relevant notice to be placed, from the **Government Printing Works** website <u>www.gpwonline.co.za</u>.
- 5. The *Adobe* form needs to be completed electronically using *Adobe Acrobat / Acrobat Reader*. Only electronically completed *Adobe* forms will be accepted. No printed, handwritten and/or scanned *Adobe* forms will be accepted.
- 6. The completed electronic *Adobe* form has to be submitted via email to <u>submit.egazette@gpw.gov.za</u>. The form needs to be submitted in its original electronic *Adobe* format to enable the system to extract the completed information from the form for placement in the publication.
- 7. Every notice submitted **must** be accompanied by an official **GPW** quotation. This must be obtained from the *eGazette* Contact Centre.
- 8. Each notice submission should be sent as a single email. The email **must** contain **all documentation relating to a particular notice submission**.
 - 8.1. Each of the following documents must be attached to the email as a separate attachment:
 - 8.1.1. An electronically completed *Adobe* form, specific to the type of notice that is to be placed.
 - 8.1.1.1. For National *Government Gazette* or *Provincial Gazette* notices, the notices must be accompanied by an electronic Z95 or Z95Prov *Adobe* form
 - 8.1.1.2. The notice content (body copy) MUST be a separate attachment.
 - 8.1.2. A copy of the official **Government Printing Works** quotation you received for your notice. (*Please see Quotation section below for further details*)
 - 8.1.3. A valid and legible Proof of Payment / Purchase Order: **Government Printing Works** account customer must include a copy of their Purchase Order. **Non-Government Printing Works** account customer needs to submit the proof of payment for the notice
 - 8.1.4. Where separate notice content is applicable (Z95, Z95 Prov and TForm 3, it should **also** be attached as a separate attachment. (*Please see the Copy Section below, for the specifications*).
 - 8.1.5. Any additional notice information if applicable.

- 9. The electronic *Adobe* form will be taken as the primary source for the notice information to be published. Instructions that are on the email body or covering letter that contradicts the notice form content will not be considered. The information submitted on the electronic *Adobe* form will be published as-is.
- 10. To avoid duplicated publication of the same notice and double billing, Please submit your notice **ONLY ONCE.**
- 11. Notices brought to **GPW** by "walk-in" customers on electronic media can only be submitted in *Adobe* electronic form format. All "walk-in" customers with notices that are not on electronic *Adobe* forms will be routed to the Contact Centre where they will be assisted to complete the forms in the required format.
- 12. Should a customer submit a bulk submission of hard copy notices delivered by a messenger on behalf of any organisation e.g. newspaper publisher, the messenger will be referred back to the sender as the submission does not adhere to the submission rules.

QUOTATIONS

- 13. Quotations are valid until the next tariff change.
 - 13.1. Take note: GPW's annual tariff increase takes place on 1 April therefore any quotations issued, accepted and submitted for publication up to 31 March will keep the old tariff. For notices to be published from 1 April, a quotation must be obtained from GPW with the new tariffs. Where a tariff increase is implemented during the year, GPW endeavours to provide customers with 30 days' notice of such changes.
- 14. Each quotation has a unique number.
- 15. Form Content notices must be emailed to the *eGazette* Contact Centre for a quotation.
 - 15.1. The *Adobe* form supplied is uploaded by the Contact Centre Agent and the system automatically calculates the cost of your notice based on the layout/format of the content supplied.
 - 15.2. It is critical that these *Adobe* Forms are completed correctly and adhere to the guidelines as stipulated by **GPW**.

16. APPLICABLE ONLY TO GPW ACCOUNT HOLDERS:

- 16.1. GPW Account Customers must provide a valid GPW account number to obtain a quotation.
- 16.2. Accounts for **GPW** account customers **must** be active with sufficient credit to transact with **GPW** to submit notices.
 - 16.2.1. If you are unsure about or need to resolve the status of your account, please contact the GPW Finance Department prior to submitting your notices. (If the account status is not resolved prior to submission of your notice, the notice will be failed during the process).

17. APPLICABLE ONLY TO CASH CUSTOMERS:

- 17.1. Cash customers doing **bulk payments** must use a **single email address** in order to use the **same proof of payment** for submitting multiple notices.
- 18. The responsibility lies with you, the customer, to ensure that the payment made for your notice(s) to be published is sufficient to cover the cost of the notice(s).
- 19. Each quotation will be associated with one proof of payment / purchase order / cash receipt.
 - 19.1. This means that the quotation number can only be used once to make a payment.

COPY (SEPARATE NOTICE CONTENT DOCUMENT)

- 20. Where the copy is part of a separate attachment document for Z95, Z95Prov and TForm03
 - 20.1. Copy of notices must be supplied in a separate document and may not constitute part of any covering letter, purchase order, proof of payment or other attached documents.

The content document should contain only one notice. (You may include the different translations of the same notice in the same document).

20.2. The notice should be set on an A4 page, with margins and fonts set as follows:

Page size = A4 Portrait with page margins: Top = 40mm, LH/RH = 16mm, Bottom = 40mm; Use font size: Arial or Helvetica 10pt with 11pt line spacing;

Page size = A4 Landscape with page margins: Top = 16mm, LH/RH = 40mm, Bottom = 16mm; Use font size: Arial or Helvetica 10pt with 11pt line spacing;

CANCELLATIONS

- 21. Cancellation of notice submissions are accepted by GPW according to the deadlines stated in the table above in point 2. Non-compliance to these deadlines will result in your request being failed. Please pay special attention to the different deadlines for each gazette. Please note that any notices cancelled after the cancellation deadline will be published and charged at full cost.
- 22. Requests for cancellation must be sent by the original sender of the notice and must accompanied by the relevant notice reference number (N-) in the email body.

AMENDMENTS TO NOTICES

23. With effect from 01 October 2015, GPW will not longer accept amendments to notices. The cancellation process will need to be followed according to the deadline and a new notice submitted thereafter for the next available publication date.

REJECTIONS

- 24. All notices not meeting the submission rules will be rejected to the customer to be corrected and resubmitted. Assistance will be available through the Contact Centre should help be required when completing the forms. (012-748 6200 or email <u>info.egazette@gpw.gov.za</u>). Reasons for rejections include the following:
 - 24.1. Incorrectly completed forms and notices submitted in the wrong format, will be rejected.
 - 24.2. Any notice submissions not on the correct Adobe electronic form, will be rejected.
 - 24.3. Any notice submissions not accompanied by the proof of payment / purchase order will be rejected and the notice will not be processed.
 - 24.4. Any submissions or re-submissions that miss the submission cut-off times will be rejected to the customer. The Notice needs to be re-submitted with a new publication date.

APPROVAL OF NOTICES

- 25. Any notices other than legal notices are subject to the approval of the Government Printer, who may refuse acceptance or further publication of any notice.
- 26. No amendments will be accepted in respect to separate notice content that was sent with a Z95 or Z95Prov notice submissions. The copy of notice in layout format (previously known as proof-out) is only provided where requested, for Advertiser to see the notice in final Gazette layout. Should they find that the information submitted was incorrect, they should request for a notice cancellation and resubmit the corrected notice, subject to standard submission deadlines. The cancellation is also subject to the stages in the publishing process, i.e. If cancellation is received when production (printing process) has commenced, then the notice cannot be cancelled.

GOVERNMENT PRINTER INDEMNIFIED AGAINST LIABILITY

- 27. The Government Printer will assume no liability in respect of-
 - 27.1. any delay in the publication of a notice or publication of such notice on any date other than that stipulated by the advertiser;
 - 27.2. erroneous classification of a notice, or the placement of such notice in any section or under any heading other than the section or heading stipulated by the advertiser;
 - 27.3. any editing, revision, omission, typographical errors or errors resulting from faint or indistinct copy.

LIABILITY OF ADVERTISER

28. Advertisers will be held liable for any compensation and costs arising from any action which may be instituted against the Government Printer in consequence of the publication of any notice.

CUSTOMER INQUIRIES

Many of our customers request immediate feedback/confirmation of notice placement in the gazette from our Contact Centre once they have submitted their notice – While **GPW** deems it one of their highest priorities and responsibilities to provide customers with this requested feedback and the best service at all times, we are only able to do so once we have started processing your notice submission.

GPW has a 2-working day turnaround time for processing notices received according to the business rules and deadline submissions.

Please keep this in mind when making inquiries about your notice submission at the Contact Centre.

- 29. Requests for information, quotations and inquiries must be sent to the Contact Centre ONLY.
- 30. Requests for Quotations (RFQs) should be received by the Contact Centre at least **2 working days** before the submission deadline for that specific publication.

PAYMENT OF COST

- 31. The Request for Quotation for placement of the notice should be sent to the Gazette Contact Centre as indicated above, prior to submission of notice for advertising.
- 32. Payment should then be made, or Purchase Order prepared based on the received quotation, prior to the submission of the notice for advertising as these documents i.e. proof of payment or Purchase order will be required as part of the notice submission, as indicated earlier.
- 33. Every proof of payment must have a valid **GPW** quotation number as a reference on the proof of payment document.
- 34. Where there is any doubt about the cost of publication of a notice, and in the case of copy, an enquiry, accompanied by the relevant copy, should be addressed to the Gazette Contact Centre, **Government Printing Works**, Private Bag X85, Pretoria, 0001 email: <u>info.egazette@gpw.gov.za</u> before publication.
- 35. Overpayment resulting from miscalculation on the part of the advertiser of the cost of publication of a notice will not be refunded, unless the advertiser furnishes adequate reasons why such miscalculation occurred. In the event of underpayments, the difference will be recovered from the advertiser, and future notice(s) will not be published until such time as the full cost of such publication has been duly paid in cash or electronic funds transfer into the **Government Printing Works** banking account.
- 36. In the event of a notice being cancelled, a refund will be made only if no cost regarding the placing of the notice has been incurred by the **Government Printing Works**.
- 37. The **Government Printing Works** reserves the right to levy an additional charge in cases where notices, the cost of which has been calculated in accordance with the List of Fixed Tariff Rates, are subsequently found to be excessively lengthy or to contain overmuch or complicated tabulation.

PROOF OF PUBLICATION

- 38. Copies of any of the *Government Gazette* or *Provincial Gazette* can be downloaded from the **Government Printing Works** website <u>www.gpwonline.co.za</u> free of charge, should a proof of publication be required.
- Printed copies may be ordered from the Publications department at the ruling price. The Government Printing Works will assume no liability for any failure to post or for any delay in despatching of such Government Gazette(s)

GOVERNMENT PRINTING WORKS CONTACT INFORMATION

Physical Address:					
Government Printing Works					
149 Bosman Street					
Pretoria					

Postal Address: Private Bag X85 Pretoria 0001

For Gazette and Notice submissions: Gazette Submissions: For queries and quotations, contact: Gazette Contact Centre:

Contact person for subscribers: Mrs M. Toka:

GPW Banking Details:

Bank: ABSA Bosman Street Account No.: 405 7114 016 Branch Code: 632-005

E-mail: <u>submit.egazette@gpw.gov.za</u> E-mail: <u>info.egazette@gpw.gov.za</u> Tel: 012-748 6200

E-mail: subscriptions@gpw.gov.za Tel: 012-748-6066 / 6060 / 6058 Fax: 012-323-9574

GOVERNMENT NOTICES • GOEWERMENTSKENNISGEWINGS

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, LAND REFORM AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

NO. 1690

28 January 2022

LAND REFORM (LABOUR TENANTS) ACT, 1996 (ACT NO. 3 OF 1996)

Notice is hereby given, in terms of Section 17 (2) (c) of the Land Reform (Labour Tenants) Act, 1996 (Act No 3 of 1996) ("the LTA"), that an Application for acquisition of land was lodged with the Director General of the Department of Land Affairs by the Applicants, and in respect of the Property set out in the Schedule.

Any party who may have an interest in the above-mentioned Application is hereby invited to make written representations to the Director General, within 30 days from the publication of this Notice. The representations must be forwarded to:

The Director General c/o Deputy Director: Tenure Systems Implementation Department of Rural Development and Land Reform 23 corner Henshall & Brander street, Home affairs Building 4th Floor Nelspruit 1200. Tel: 0137522064; Fax: 013752820 File Reference: ET6/5/L12606

SCHEDULE

Applicants:

No.	Name and Surname	Identity Number	
1.	Malinga nyembezi Setty	3003160177086	
2.	Malinga Madinga Juley	4608160344087	
3.	MasekoNomavundvo Josephina	4704290366080	

Property:

No.	Property Description	Locality (District)	Current Title Deed No	Current Owner	Bonds and Restrictive Conditions
1.	Portion 8 of the farm Onverwacht 611 JT. Mpumalanga Province	Albert Luthuli	T107863/2006	African Rainbow Minerals Ltd	n/a

AN.

For DIRECTOR-GENERAL: DEPARTMENT OF RURAL DEVELOPMENT AND LAND REFORM

SIGNED BY: J.E. Motaling DEPUTY DIRECTOR: LABOUR TENANTS DULY AUTHORISE

NO. 1691

28 January 2022

LAND REFORM (LABOUR TENANTS) ACT, 1996 (ACT NO. 3 OF 1996)

Notice is hereby given, in terms of Section 17 (2) (c) of the Land Reform (Labour Tenants) Act, 1996 (Act No 3 of 1996) ("the LTA"), that an Application for acquisition of land was lodged with the Director General of the Department of Land Affairs by the Applicants, and in respect of the Property set out in the Schedule.

Any party who may have an interest in the above-mentioned Application is hereby invited to make written representations to the Director General, within 30 days from the publication of this Notice. The representations must be forwarded to:

The Director General c/o Deputy Director: Tenure Systems Implementation Department of Rural Development and Land Reform 23 corner Henshall & Brander street, Home affairs Building 4th Floor Nelspruit 1200. Tel: 0137522064; Fax: 013752820 File Reference: ET6/5/L12606

SCHEDULE

Applicants:

No.	Name and Surname	Identity Number	
1.	MOTIANE JOSEPH MOSOTHO	530609 9544 08 7	
2.	SKENK JOHANNES MNISI	430520 5199 08 5	
3.	NTLOMENG PAULUS KUTU	470227 5214 08 3	

Property:

No.	Property Description	Locality (District)	Current Title Deed No	Current Owner	Bonds and Restrictive Conditions
1.	Portion 8 of the farm Goedehoop 142 JT. Mpumalanga Province	Ehlanzeni	T13405/2007	Sea Spirit Trading 229 cc	n/a



For DIRECTOR-GENERAL: DEPARTMENT OF RURAL DEVELOPMENT AND LAND REFORM

SIGNED BY: <u>J. E. Motaung</u>. DEPUTY DIRECTOR: LABOUR TEMANTS DULY AUTHORISE

NO. 1692

28 January 2022

LAND REFORM (LABOUR TENANTS) ACT, 1996 (ACT NO. 3 OF 1996)

Notice is hereby given, in terms of Section 17 (2) (c) of the Land Reform (Labour Tenants) Act, 1996 (Act No 3 of 1996) ("the LTA"), that an Application for acquisition of land was lodged with the Director General of the Department of Land Affairs by the Applicants, and in respect of the Property set out in the Schedule.

Any party who may have an interest in the above-mentioned Application is hereby invited to make written representations to the Director General, within 30 days from the publication of this Notice. The representations must be forwarded to:

The Director General c/o Deputy Director: Tenure Systems Reform Department of Agriculture, Land Reform And Rural Development Nkangala District Shared Services Centre, Private Bag X 7261 Witbank 1035 Tel: 013 655 1000

SCHEDULE

Applicants:

No.	Name and Surname	Identity Number		
1.	KANANDU THOMAS MQWATHI	381223 5245 086,		
(Hereinafter referred to as "the Applicants")				

Property:

No.	Property Description	Locality (District)	Current Title Deed No	Current Owner	Bonds and Restrictive Conditions (Interdicts)
1	R/E of Portion 1 of the farm Middelburg 231 IR	Nkangala	T14263/2008	1. ANTIOCH INITIATIVE	

For DIRECTOR-GENERAL: DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, LAND REFORM AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT SIGNED BY: 1400 Nomefandaw

DEPUTY DIRECTOR: TENURE SYSTEMS REFORM, DULY AUTHORISED

Notice is hereby given in terms of Section 11 of the Restitution of Land Rights Act, 1994 (Act No. 22 of 1994) as amended, that a claim for restitution of land rights has been lodged by the deceased Mr. PETER TSOAI on behalf of his grandfather, the deceased Mr. KRISJAN TSWAI, in respect of PART OF THE REMAINING EXTENT OF PORTION 9 of the farm LEEUWKRAAL 92 JR, located in the CITY OF TSHWANE GENERAL NOTICE IN TERMS OF SECTION 11 OF THE RESTITUTION OF LAND RIGTHS ACT, 1994 (ACT NO. 22 OF 1994), AS AMENDED PETER TSOAI CLAIMANT CITY OF TSHWANE 9F BOPHUTHATSWANA METROPOLITAN MUNICIPALITY REPUBLIC HOLDERS ENDORSEMENT VA12761/2008 VA6269/2001 PART OF THE REMAINING EXTENT OF PORTION 9 OF THE FARM LEEUWKRAAL 92 JR Z EXTENT IN HECTARES 140 DEED T89775/2001PTA METROPOLITAN MUNICIPALITY, GAUTENG PROVINCE NUMBERS TITLE OF METROPOLITAN MUNICIPALITY TSHWANE OWNERS CITY HH REMAINING EXTENT OF PORTION 9 OF FARM LEEUWKRAAL 92 JR PROPERTIES 5 PART THE

has an interest on the above-mentioned property is hereby invited to submit in writing, within 14 days of publication of this notice, any comments Take further notice that the Commission on Restitution of Land Rights, herein-after the Commission, is investigating this land claim. Any party that or information or objection to the said notice under reference number KRP 10452 to:

Office of the Regional Land Claims Commissioner: Limpopo Private Bag X9552 POLOKWANE 0700

First Floor, Koos Smit Building Corner Biccard & Grobler Streets POLOKWANE 0699

LEBJANE MAPHUTHA (A)REGIONAL LAND CLAIMS COMMISSIONER DATE: 06/01/2022

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, LAND REFORM AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

NO. 1693

28 January 2022

This gazette is also available free online at **www.gpwonline.co.za**

NO. 1694

28 January 2022

GENERAL NOTICE IN TERMS OF SECTION 11A (2) OF THE RESTITUTION OF LAND RIGHTS ACT, 1994 (ACT NO.22 OF 1994)

WHEREAS The Peter Walsh lodged a claim which was published in terms of Section 11 A(1) of the Restitution of Land Rights Act, No. 22 of 1994 ("the Act") And

WHEREAS during the investigation of the land claims, in so far as it relates to the property referred below, the office of the Regional Land Claims Commissioner: Eastern Cape Province has reason to believe that the criteria set out in Section 11(1) (b) of the Act, has not been met.

NOW THEREFORE A WITHDRAWALNOTICE: is hereby given in terms of Section 11A (2) of the Act that at the expiry of the of 60 days from the date of publication of this notice in the Government Gazette, the notice of the claim previously published in terms of Section 11)1 of the Act in Gazette No.25690, under Gazette Notice 3246 dated 21st November 2003, to the extent that it relates to the property listed below, will be withdrawn unless cause to the contrary is shown to the satisfaction of the Regional Land Clams Commissioner.

The details of the Government Gazette Notice No. 3246 of 2003 in the Government Gazette No. 25690 of 14th November 2003 relates to the following:

REFERENCE	: 6/2/2/D/50/780/875/104
CLAIMANT	: Peter Walsh
PROPERTY	: Remaining Extent of Erf 733, Hankey
DISTRICT	: Humansdorp
MEASURING	: 2453 square metres
DEEDS OF TRANSFER	: T10159 /1959
DATE SUBMITTED	: 30 November 1996
BONDHOLDER	: None
CURRENT OWNER	: J. Walsh
PROPERTY DISTRICT MEASURING DEEDS OF TRANSFER DATE SUBMITTED BONDHOLDER CURRENT OWNER	: Remaining Extent of Erf 733, Hanke : Humansdorp : 2453 square metres : T10159 /1959 : 30 November 1996 : None : J. Walsh

The reason of the Regional Land Claims Commissioner believes that the criteria in Section 11 (1) of the Act may have not been met is that:

a) There was no dispossession as a result of racially discriminatory laws as defined in the Act

Any party who may have an interest in the above – mentioned land claim is hereby invited to make representations within 60 days from publication of this notice, as to why the claim should not be withdrawn in terms of Section 11A(2) of the Act.

The Regional Land Claims Commissioner Department of Rural Development and Land Reform Land Restitution Support Office: Eastern Cape P.O. Box 1375

NO. 1695

28 January 2022

GENERAL NOTICE IN TERMS OF THE RESTITUTION OF LAND RIGHTS ACT, 1994 (ACT NO.22 OF 1994)

Notice is hereby given in terms of section 11 (1) of the Restitution of Land Rights Act, 1994 (Act No.22 of 1994 as amended) that a claim for restitution of land rights on:

REFERENCE	: 6/2/3/D/51/797/174/9
CLAIMANT	: Nomakula Margaret Gedze (On behalf of HA Dlova family)
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION	: Erf 30 Bethelsdorp, Port Elizabeth, situated in the Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality, Eastern Cape Province
EXTENT OF LAND	: 833 sqm
TITLE DEED	: 59544/89
DATE CLAIM SUBMITTED	: 20/01/1997
CURRENT OWNER	: Reformed Old Apostolic Church Bethelsdorp

Has been submitted to the Regional Land Claims Commissioner for the Eastern Cape and that the Commission on Restitution of Land Rights will investigate the claim in terms of the provisions of the Act in due course.

Any person who has an interest in the above-mentioned land is hereby invited to submit, within fourteen (14) days from the publication of this notice, any comments/information to:

Office of the Regional Land Claims Commissioner : Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Land Reform PO Box 1375 East London 5200 Tel : 043 700 6000, Fax : 043 743 3687

Mr. L.H. Maphutha Regional Land Claims Commissioner

NO. 1696

28 January 2022

GENERAL NOTICE IN TERMS OF THE RESTITUTION OF LAND RIGHTS ACT, 1994 (ACT NO.22 OF 1994)

Notice is hereby given in terms of Section 11 A (4) of the Restitution of Land Rights Act, No, 22 of 1994 as amended, due to a an error in the gazette notice 1340 of 2009 dated the 02nd October 2009 as Contained in the Gazette Number 32600.

The above-mentioned gazette notice is hereby amended to specify the following correct properties under claim.

Reference No.	:	KRO – 6/2/2/D/82/0/0/12
Claimant	:	Mr Fojisa Lucas Gwarhube
Property Description	:	Farm Adnamurchan No.1115; Farm Ardtonish No.1116; Farm Gillie Callum No. 1117; Farm Arisaig No. 1127; Farm Kwaai plaats No. 1128; Farm Taynuilt No. 1131; Farm Teeboom No. 1146; Farm Uijtwoon No. 1147 under Engcobo Local Municipality under Chris Hani District, Eastern Cape Province.
Extent of Land	:	4405, 8704 hectares
Current Title Deed	:	T1142/2002; T17658/2015; T53053/2003; T92017/06; T92018/06CTN; T56736/97CTN; T100703/04CTN; T32741/06CTN.
Date Submitted	:	31 December 1998
Current Owner	:	Various landowners
Current Land Use	:	

The reason why the office of the Regional Land Claims Commissioner believes that the notice must be withdrawn:

a) When the claim was gazetted it transpired that there was an error in stating the exact/correct property description.

NOTICE is further given that at the expiry of the aforesaid 60-day period; the office of the Regional Land Claims Commissioner shall, unless cause to the contrary has been shown to his satisfaction, withdraw the notice of claim in accordance with the provisions of Section 11(3) of the Act

The Regional Land Claims Commissioner Eastern Cape P .O. Box 15402 Beacon Bay East London 5241

Tel: (043) 700 6000 Fax: (043) 743 3687

Mr. Lebjane Maphutha Regional Land Claims Commissioner Date: 201/09/2/

NO. 1697

28 January 2022

GENERAL NOTICE IN TERMS OF THE RESTITUTION OF LAND RIGHTS ACT, 1994 (ACT NO.22 OF 1994)

Notice is hereby given in terms of section 11 (1) of the Restitution of Land Rights Act, 1994 (Act No.22 of 1994 as amended) that a claim for restitution of land rights on:

REFERENCE :	(6/2/2/D/91/0/0/17
-------------	---	-------------------

CLAIMANT

: Ms Shumikazi Felicia Vika (On behalf of Mtshemla Family)

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION	EXTENT OF LAND	TITLE DEED	CURRENT OWNER
Farm 189	103.1 ha	T723/1927	Parry Lorraine Pamela & Paarry John William
Farm 190	31.0 ha	T723/1927	Hoffeldt Karen
Farm 191	89.9 ha	T723/1927	South African National Roads Agency
Farm 192	29.6 ha	T3156/2003	Zwelitsha Prop Association
Farm 193	44.4 ha	T2970/2009	South African National Roads Agency
Farm 367	112.3 ha	T4763/2004	Muller Veggies CC
Farm 368	13.9 ha	TT4763/2004	Muller Veggies CC

All properties are situated in Great Kei Local Municipality, Amathole District, Eastern Cape Province

DATE CLAIM SUBMITTED : 27/12/1998

Any other interested party : Justin Holl, Thorn Valley Farms

Has been submitted to the Regional Land Claims Commissioner for the Eastern Cape and that the Commission on Restitution of Land Rights will investigate the claim in terms of the provisions of the Act in due course.

Any person who has an interest in the above-mentioned land is hereby invited to submit, within fourteen (14) days from the publication of this notice, any comments/information to:

Office of the Regional Land Claims Commissioner : Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Land Reform PO Box 1375 East London 5200 Tel : 043 700 6000, Fax : 043 743 3687

Mr. L.H. Maphutha Regional Land Claims Commissioner No. 45816 21

NO. 1698

28 January 2022

GENERAL NOTICE IN TERMS OF THE RESTITUTION OF LAND RIGHTS ACT, 1994 (ACT NO.22 OF 1994)

Notice is hereby given in terms of section 11 (1) of the Restitution of Land Rights Act, 1994 (Act No.22 of 1994 as amended) that a claim for restitution of land rights on:

REFERENCE	: 6/2/2/D/200/0/0/3
CLAIMANT	: Andries Petrus Rawlins Van Wijk on behalf of Andries Petrus Prymm van Wijk
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION	: Farm 40 Maseru, Matatiele, Matatiele Local Municipality, Akfred Ndzo District Municipality in the Eastern Cape Province
EXTENT OF LAND	: 580.5546
TITLE DEED	: T240/2016
DATE CLAIM SUBMITTED	: 19/12/1998
CURRENT OWNER	: National Government of the Republic of South Africa

Has been submitted to the Regional Land Claims Commissioner for the Eastern Cape and that the Commission on Restitution of Land Rights will investigate the claim in terms of the provisions of the Act in due course.

Any person who has an interest in the above-mentioned land is hereby invited to submit, within fourteen (14) days from the publication of this notice, any comments/information to:

Office of the Regional Land Claims Commissioner : Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Land Reform PO Box 1375 East London 5200 Tel : 043 700 6000, Fax : 043 743 3687

Mr. L.H. Maphutha Regional Land Claims Commissioner

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONAL SERVICES

NO. 1699

28 January 2022

REVIEW: ESTABLISHMENT OF CORRECTIONAL CENTRES AND REMAND DETENTION FACILITIES

I Makgothi Samuel Thobakgale, the acting National Commissioner for the Department Correctional Services, with the authority delegated to me as published in the Government Gazette no 43834 dated 23 October 2020, establish and review in terms of section 5 of the Correctional Services Act, 1998 (Act 111 of 1998) as amended, the utilization of all correctional centres, remand detention centres and correctional centres housing remand detainees in section/s as determined by the Head of the Correctional Centre.

Government Gazette Notice 148 of 2012 is therefore repealed where it refers to establish and review of the utilization of all correctional centres, remand detention centres and correctional centres housing remand detainees.

A: REMAND DETENTION FACILITIES

EASTERN CAPE REGION	FREE STATE NORTHERN CAPE
1. Bizana Remand Detention Facility	REGION
2. Butterworth Remand Detention Facility	1. Odendaalsrus Remand Detention
3. East London Remand Detention Facility	Facility
4. Graaff-Reinet Remand Detention	KWAZULU NATAL REGION
Facility	1. Durban Remand Detention Facility
5. King Williams Town Remand Detention	2. Empangeni Remand Detention Facility
Facility	3. Ladysmith Remand Detention Facility
6. Mthatha Remand Detention Facility	WESTERN CAPE REGION
7. Queenstown Remand Detention Facility	1. Caledon Remand Detention Facility
8. St. Albans Remand Detention Facility	2. Goodwood Remand Detention Facility
GAUTENG REGION	3. Malmesbury Remand Detention Facility
1. Johannesburg Remand Detention	4. Pollsmoor Remand Detention Facility A
Facility	5. Pollsmoor Remand Detention Facility B
2. Kgoši Mampuru II Remand Detention	
Facility	
LIMPOPO MPUMALANGA AND NORTH	
WEST REGION	
1. Potchefstroom Remand Detention	
Facility	
2. Thohoyandou Remand Detention	
Facility	

B: CORRECTIONAL CENTRES HOUSING REMAND DETAINEES IN SECTION/S AS DETERMIND BY THE HEAD OF THE CORRECTIONAL CENTRE

EASTERN CAPE REGION	FREE STATE NORTHERN CAPE		
1. Barkly East Correctional Centre	REGION		
2. Burgersdorp Correctional Centre	7. Ficksburg Correctional Centre		
3. Cradock Youth Correctional Centre	8. Frankfort Correctional Centre		
4. East London Female Correctional	Grootvlei Maximum Correctional		
Centre	Centre		
5. Grahamstown Correctional Centre	10. Harrismith Correctional Centre		
6. Lusikisiki Correctional Centre	11. Heilbron Correctional Centre		

Page 1 of 5

EASTERN CAPE REGION	FREE STATE NORTHERN CAPE
7. Middelburg Correctional Centre (EC)	REGION
8. Mt Fletcher Correctional Centre	12. Hennenman Correctional Centre
9 Ngamakwe Correctional Centre	13. Hoopstad Correctional Centre
10 Port Elizabeth Correctional Centre	14. Hopetown Correctional Centre
11 Sada Correctional Centre	15. Kimberley Correctional Centre
GAUTENG REGION	16. Kuruman Correctional Centre
1 Boksburg Maximum Juvenile	17. Lindley Correctional Centre
Correctional Centre	18. Parys Correctional Centre
2 Boksburg Medium Correctional Centre	19. Richmond Correctional Centre
3 Heidelberg Medium Correctional Centre	20. Sasolburg Correctional Centre
4 Johannesburg Female Correctional	21. Senekal Correctional Centre
Centre	22. Springbok Correctional Centre
5 Kooši Mampuru II Female Correctional	23. Upington Correctional Centre
Centre	24. Ventersburg Correctional Centre
6 Krugersdorp Correctional Centre	25. Vereeniging Correctional Centre
7 Modderbee Correctional Centre	26. Victoria West Correctional Centre
8 Nigel Correctional Centre	27. Winburg Correctional Centre
LIMPOPO MPUMALANGA AND NORTH	28. Zastron Correctional Centre
WEST REGION	KWAZULU NATAL REGION
1 Barberton Youth Correctional Centre	1. Durban Female Correctional Centre
2 Bethal Correctional Centre	2. Durban Youth Correctional Centre
3 Brits Correctional Centre	3. Maphumulo Correctional Centre
4. Ermelo Correctional Centre	4. Ncome Maximum Correctional Centre
5. Makhado Correctional Centre	5. Newcastle Correctional Centre
6. Middelburg Correctional Centre	6. Pietermaritzburg Medium A
(Mpumalanga)	Correctional Centre
7. Mogwase Correctional Centre	7. Qalakabusha Maximum Correctional
8. Nelspruit Correctional Centre	Centre
9. Piet Retief Correctional Centre	8. Umzimkhulu Correctional Centre
10. Polokwane Correctional Centre	9. Umzinto Correctional Centre
11. Rooigrond Maximum Correctional	10. Vryheid Correctional Centre
Centre	11. Waterval Maximum Correctional
12. Rustenburg Youth Correctional Centre	Centre
13. Standerton Correctional Centre	WESTERN CAPE REGION
14. Thohoyandou Female Correctional	1. Allandale Correctional Centre
Centre	2. Beaufort West Correctional Centre
15. Volksrust Correctional Centre	3. Buffeljagsrivier Correctional Centre
16. Witbank Correctional Centre	4. Calvinia Correctional Centre
FREE STATE NORTHERN CAPE	5. George Correctional Centre
REGION	6. Knysna Correctional Centre
1. Bethlehem Correctional Centre	7. Ladismith Correctional Centre
2. Bethulie Correctional Centre	8. Malmesbury Correctional Centre
3. Bizzah Makhate Female Correctional	9. Mosselbay Youth Correctional Centre
Centre	10. Oudtshoorn Female Correctional
4. Bizzah Makhate Medium B	Centre
Correctional Centre	11. Oudtshoorn Wedium Correctional
5. Boshof Correctional Centre	Centre
6. Brandfort Correctional Centre	12. Polismoor Female Correctional

Page 2 of 5

FREE STATE NORTHERN CAPE	WESTERN CAPE REGION		
REGION	Centre		
7. Colesberg Correctional Centre	13. Prince Albert Correctional Centre		
8. De Aar Correctional Centre	14. Stellenbosch Correctional Centre		
9. Douglas Correctional Centre	15. Swellendam Correctional Centre		
10. Edenburg Correctional Centre	16. Uniondale Correctional Centre		
11. Fauresmith Correctional Centre	17. Vanrhynsdorp Correctional Centre		
	18. Voorberg Medium B Correctional		
	Centre		
	19. Worcester Female Correctional		
	Centre		
	20. Worcester Male Correctional Centre		

C: CORRECTIONAL CENTRES HOUSING SENTEN	NCED OFFENDERS
--	----------------

ASTERN CAPE REGION	FREE	STATE NORTHERN CAPE REGION
Cofimvaba Youth Correctional	1.	Barkly West Correctional Centre
Centre	2.	Bizzah Makhate Medium A
Dordrecht Correctional Centre		Correctional Centre
East London Maximum	3.	Bizzah Makhate Youth Correctional
Correctional Centre		Centre
Elliotdale Correctional Centre	4.	Goedemoed Medium A Correctional
Engcobo Correctional Centre		Centre
Flagstaff Correctional Centre	5.	Goedemoed Medium B Correctional
Fort Beaufort Correctional Centre		Centre
Idutywa Correctional Centre	6.	Groenpunt Juvenile Correctional
Jansenville Correctional Centre		Centre
. Kirkwood Correctional Centre	7.	Groenpunt Maximum Correctional
 Lady Frere Correctional Centre 		Centre
. Mdantsane Correctional Centre	8.	Groenpunt Medium Correctional
. Middledrift Correctional Centre	-	Centre
 Mqanduli Correctional Centre 	9.	Grootvlei Medium Correctional
Mt Ayliff Youth Correctional Centre		Centre
Mt Frere Correctional Centre	10.	Ladybrand Correctional Centre
Mthatha Correctional Centre	11.	Mangaung Correctional Centre (PPP)
Ngqeleni Correctional Centre	12.	Tswelopele Correctional Centre
Patensie Correctional Centre	13.	Virginia Correctional Centre
Somerset East Correctional	14.	Wepener Correctional Centre
Centre	KWA	ZULU NATAL REGION
St. Albans Maximum Correctional	1.	Bergville Correctional Centre
Centre	2.	Dundee Correctional Centre
St. Albans Medium Correctional	3.	Durban Maximum Correctional Centre
Centre	4.	Durban Medium Pre-Release
Sterkspruit Correctional Centre	1, 1997	Correctional Centre
Stutterheim Correctional Centre	5.	Ebongweni Maximum Correctional
Tabankulu Correctional Centre		Centre
Willowvale Correctional Centre	6.	Ekuseni Youth Correctional Centre
	7.	Eshowe Correctional Centre
	8.	Estcourt Correctional Centre

Page 3 of 5

GA	UTENG REGION	KWA	ZULU NATAL REGION
1	Atteridgeville Correctional Centre	9.	Glencoe Correctional Centre
2	Baviaanspoort Maximum	10	Grevtown Correctional Centre
	Correctional Centre	11.	Ingwayuma Correctional Centre
3	Baviaanspoort Medium	12.	Ixopo Correctional Centre
Ŭ.	Correctional Centre	13.	Kokstad Medium Correctional Centre
4	Devon Correctional Centre	14.	Kranskop Correctional Centre
5	Emthonieni Juvenile Correctional	15.	Matatiele Correctional Centre
•	Centre	16.	Melmoth Correctional Centre
6.	Johannesburg Maximum	17.	Mtunzini Correctional Centre
	Correctional Centre	18.	Ncome Medium Correctional Centre
7.	Johannesburg Medium	19.	New Hanover Correctional Centre
	Correctional Centre	20.	Nkandla Correctional Centre
8.	Kgoši Mampuru II Central	21.	Nongoma Correctional Centre
	Correctional Centre	22.	Pietermaritzburg Medium B
9.	Kgoši Mampuru II Maximum		Correctional Centre
	Correctional Centre	23.	Pomeroy Correctional Centre
10.	Leeuwkop Maximum Correctional	24.	Port Shepstone Correctional Centre
	Centre	25.	Sevontein Correctional Centre
11.	Leeuwkop Medium A Correctional	26.	Stanger Correctional Centre
	Centre	27.	Utrecht Correctional Centre
12.	Leeuwkop Medium B Correctional	28.	Waterval Medium Correctional Centre
	Centre	WEST	ERN CAPE REGION
13.	Leeuwkop Medium C Correctional	1.	Brandvlei Juvenile Correctional
	Centre		Centre
14.	Odi Correctional Centre	2.	Brandvlei Maximum Correctional
15.	Zonderwater Maximum		Centre
	Correctional Centre	3.	Brandvlei Medium Correctional
16.	Zonderwater Medium Correctional		Centre
	Centre	4.	Drakenstein Juvenile Correctional
LIM	POPO MPUMALANGA AND		Centre
NOF	RTH WEST REGION	5.	Drakenstein Maximum Correctional
1.	Barberton Farm Maximum		Centre
	Correctional Centre	6.	Drakenstein Medium A Correctional
2.	Barberton Farm Medium A	_	Centre
	Correctional Centre	7.	Dwarsrivier Correctional Centre
3.	Barberton Farm Medium B	8.	Hawequa Correctional Centre
	Correctional Centre	9.	neiderstroom Waximum Correctional
4.	Beirast Correctional Centre	10	Centre Helderetreem Medium Contectional
5.	Carolina Correctional Centre	10.	Contro
0.	Constiana Correctional Centre	11	Obique Correctional Contro
1.	Geruk Correctional Centre	12	Paardeberg Correctional Centre
0.	Kutama Sinthumula Carrectional	12	Pollsmoor Medium Correctional
9.	Centre (PPP)	15.	Centre
10.	Lichtenburg Correctional Centre	14.	Pollsmoor Pre-Release Correctional
11.	Losperfontein Correctional Centre		Centre
12.	Lydenburg Correctional Centre	15.	Riebeeck West Pre-Release
13.	Matikeng Correctional Centre		Correctional Centre

Page 4 of 5

LIMPOPO MPUMALANGA AND NORTH WEST REGION

- 14. Modimolle Correctional Centre
- 15. Rooigrond Medium Correctional Centre
- 16. Rustenburg Juvenile Correctional Centre
- 17. Thohoyandou Medium A Correctional Centre
- 18. Tzaneen Correctional Centre
- 19. Wolmaransstad Correctional Centre
- 20. Zeerust Correctional Centre

Y

MS Thobakgale Acting National Commissioner Department of Correctional Services Date: BO (11 787

WESTERN CAPE REGION

- Robertson Correctional Centre
 Voorberg Medium A Correctional
 - 7. Voorberg Medium A Correctional Centre
- 18. Warmbokveld Correctional Centre

DEPARTMENT OF FORESTRY, FISHERIES AND THE ENVIRONMENT

NO. 1700

28 January 2022

NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT: AIR QUALITY ACT, 2004 (ACT NO. 39 OF 2004)

METHODOLOGICAL GUIDELINES FOR QUANTIFICATION OF GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS -CARBON SEQUESTRATION IN THE FORESTRY INDUSTRY

I, Barbara Dallas Creecy, Minister of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment, hereby, in terms of section 12 of the National Environmental Management: Air Quality Act, 2004 (Act No. 39 of 2004), read with Regulation 10 of the National Greenhouse Gas Emission Reporting Regulations, published under General Notice No. 275 in *Government Gazette* 40762 of 3 April 2017, as amended, publish the Methodological Guidelines for quantification of greenhouse gas emissions - carbon sequestration in the forestry industry, in the Schedule hereto, for implementation.

The MRV tool complimenting the Methodological Guidelines can be accessed at the following link: <u>https://ghgreporting-public.environment.gov.za/GHGLanding/SAGERSHome.html</u>

BARBARA DALLAS CREECY MINISTER OF FORESTRY, FISHERIES AND THE ENVIRONMENT

Methodological Guidelines for Quantification of Greenhouse Gas Emissions – Carbon Sequestration in the Forestry Industry





forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA Page ii

Acronyms

ΔC _B	Annual change in carbon stocks in biomass
BEF	Biomass Expansion Factor
BCEF	Biomass Conversion and Expansion Factor
С	Carbon
CAI	Current Annual Increment
CF	Combustion factor
CH ₄	Methane
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
CO ₂ eq	Carbon dioxide equivalents
COC	Chain of custody
D	Density
DFFE	Department of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment
DOM	Dead organic matter (composed of dead wood and litter)
d.m.	dry matter
DW	Dead wood (sub-pool of DOM)
FES	Forest Economic Services
FSC	Forest Stewardship Council
GC	Growth curve
GHG	Greenhouse gas
GS	Gold Standard
ha	hectares
HWP	Harvest wood products
IPCC	Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change
ISO	International Organisation for Standardisation
КР	Kyoto Protocol
LCA	Life cycle analysis
LT	Litter (sub-pool of DOM)
LULUCF	Land use, land use change and forestry
MAI	Mean Annual Increment
MRV	Monitoring, reporting and verification



Page iii

No. 45816 31

SCHEDULE

N ₂ O	Nitrous oxide
NAEIS	National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory System
NFA	National Forest Act 1998 (Act No. 84 of 1998)
NGER	National GHG Emissions Regulation
NGHGIS	National GHG Information System
PAMSA	Paper Manufacturers Association of South Africa
PEFC	Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification
QA/QC	Quality Assurance and Quality Control
R	Ratio of below-ground biomass to above-ground biomass
S _B	$\ensuremath{\text{CO}_2}$ component of biogenic fuel emissions from the combustion of biogenic fuels from plantations
S _{fert}	Emissions from fertilisers
S _{fire}	Emissions from fires
S _{HWP}	Emissions/removals from HWP
SAGERS	South Africa's GHG Emissions Reporting System
SOC	Soil organic matter
TAR	Third Assessment Report
TUP	Temporary Unplanted Areas
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VCS	Verified Carbon Standard
WBP	Wood-based panels
wwt	wet white tonnes



Page iv

Definitions

- "**3rd party forests**" is defined as a forest land area or ownership that is not eligible under the Carbon Tax Act 2019, (Act No. 15 of 2019) (C Tax Act). Its participation in the scheme is only possible through eligible entities which report emissions from fossil fuels "E" under the C tax.
- "accounted data" means the data in the MRV tool which is included in the accounted taxable amount.
- "accounting" is a method to calculate the amount of emission reduction or sequestration, following the rules defined in this rulebook, by an eligible company.
- "accounting period" is the period over which for which emissions reduction or removals by forestry activities are reported and accounted, which is annually from 1st of January to December the 31st, submissions are due at the end of each fiscal year.
- "accounting rulebook" refers to the Forestry Accounting Rulebook provided in Chapter B.
- "afforestation" is the direct human-induced conversion of non-forested land to forested land through planting, seeding and/or the human-induced promotion of natural seed sources.
- "deforestation" is the direct human-induced conversion of forested land to non-forested land (consistent with IPCC, 2014). This includes all areas that meet the forest definition (including invasive species such as wattle).
- "facility" is a plantation management unit or manufacturing facility.

"forest" definition from the National Forest Act (Act No. 84 of 1998) (NFA) states that:

- a) "forest" includes a natural forest, a woodland and a plantation (Section 1(2)(x) of NFA).
- b) "natural forest" means a group of trees whose crowns are largely contiguous, or which have been declared by the Minister to be a natural forest (Section 1(2)(xx) of NFA).
- c) "plantation" means a group of trees cultivated for exploitation of the wood, bark, leaves or essential oils (Section 1(2)(xxii) of NFA).
- d) "woodland" means a group of indigenous trees which are not a natural forest, but whose crowns cover more than five percent of the area bounded by the trees forming the perimeter of the group (Section 1(2)(xxxix) of NFA).

However, to facilitate a robust reporting and accounting system for forestry under the GHG Reporting Regulations, using the Marrakech Accord (2011) as a guide, a forest is defined as follows:

"Forest" is defined as having a minimum area of land of 1.0 hectare with tree crown cover (or equivalent stocking level) of more than 30 per cent with trees with the potential to reach a minimum height of 5 metres at maturity in situ. A forest may consist either of closed forest formations where trees of various storeys and undergrowth cover a high proportion of the ground or open forest. Young natural stands and all plantations which have yet to reach a crown density of 30 per cent or tree height of 5 metres are included under forest, as are areas normally forming part of the forest area which are temporarily unstocked as a result of human intervention such as harvesting or natural causes, but which are expected to revert to forest."



Page v

"forest activity" refers to the activities forest management, afforestation and deforestation.

- "forest management" is a system of practices for stewardship and use of forest land aimed at fulfilling relevant ecological (including biological diversity), economic and social functions of the forest in a sustainable manner. Note: The broad definition of management shall be applied, which means including planned management of silvicultural intervention even if the forest is not currently managed.
- "gross-net accounting" is an accounting method to calculate the accounting amount which does not consider a reference period, so it is equal to the reported gross removal/emission for a forest category over the accounting period.
- "net-net accounting" is an accounting method to calculate the accounting amount as the reported emissions/removals over the accounting period minus the annual emissions/removals for the selected reference period.
- "mass-balance" is a rule where amount entering the system is equal to amounts exiting the system.
- "methodological guidelines" refers to the Methodological Guidelines for Land Activities in Forest Plantations provided in Chapter C.
- "MRV tool" refers to the Carbon Tax Sequestration MRV Tool for Forest Plantations and Timber Processing Industry.
- "not a source" is a rule that allows to exclude from accounting a carbon pool in which the C stock change is neutral or a sink (acts as removal) rather than a source (emission).
- "reference period" is the period which is selected as representing the baseline circumstances for emission or removals level, it can be one to several successive years. It is used for net-net accounting to estimate the mean annual net emission/removal for forest over the selected period.
- "reported data" refers to the data that is reported in the MRV tool, but which are not included in the total accounted tax amount due to discounts or exclusions.
- "reporting" is the provision of data by a taxpayer in a comparable, transparent, consistent, accurate and complete manner to DFFE for estimation of accountable CO₂eq emissions/removals.
- "taxpayer" means a person or company liable for the carbon tax in terms of section 3 of the C Tax Act.

"verification" refers to the collection of activities and procedures that can be followed during the planning and development, or after completion of an inventory report that can help to establish its reliability for the intended applications of that inventory. Typically, methods external to the inventory are used to check the truth of the inventory or input parameters (Guidelines for Validation and Verification of Emissions).



Page vi

Contents

Methodological Guidelines for Quantification of Greenhouse Gas Emissions – Carbon Sequestration in the Forestry Industry

Overarching purpose and document layout	1
Chapter A: Introduction and Accounting Approach Selection	2
A.1. Introduction	2
A.1.1. Purpose of the chapter	4
A.2. System boundary	4
A.3. The Carbon Sequestration Accounting	5
A.4. Definition of the Variable "S"	6
A.5. Principles of a Robust GHG Accounting System	7
A.6. Challenges faced when implementing carbon accounting system at the company leve	el10
A.6.1. Eligibility and liability	10
A.6.2. HWP accounting	12
A.6.2.1. C stock and Emissions from HWPs	13
A.6.2.2. How should HWP decay be accounted?	14
A.7. Accounting frameworks	19
A.7.1.1. Justification for the Use of Annual Gross net Accounting	20
A.8. Links with existing Regulations and forestry frameworks	21
A.8.1. National GHG Emission Reporting Regulations	21
A.8.2. Regulation 19 under Section 6 of the National Forest Act	21
A.8.3. Chain of custody standards and certification	21
A.9. Carbon Tax Sequestration submission process	23
A.10. Future considerations	23
A.10.1.1. Net-net Accounting Frameworks	23
A.10.1.2. Natural disturbance	27
A.10.1.3. Indirect N ₂ O	30
A.11. References	30
Appendix A	34
Chapter B: Accounting Rulebook for Forest Plantations	35
B.1. Purpose of the Accounting Rulebook	35
B.2. Introduction	35
B.2.1. Definition of "S" for carbon accounting	35
B.2.2. Emission pools or sources included under the various forest activities	35
B.3. Accounting Rules	36
B.3.1. Eligibility	36
B.3.1.1. Ownership and liability	36
B.3.2. Accounting categories and activities	37
B.3.2.1. Afforestation and deforestation activities	37
B.3.2.2. Forest management activities	38
B.3.2.3. 3 rd Party forest activities	38
B.3.2.4. Controlled burning	38



Page vii

B.3.2.5. Harvested wood products	
B.3.3. Permanence	40
B.3.4. Accounting periods and intervals	41
B.3.5. Robustness	41
B.3.6. Additionality	42
B.3.7. Incentives and policy alignment	42
B.3.8. Leakage	
B 3 9 Double accounting	43
B 3 10 Significance	43
B 3 11 Global Warming Potentials	43
Chanter C: Methodological Guidelines for Land Activities in Forest Plantations	
C 1 Introduction	
C 1.1 Carbon sequestration Mathedology	45
C.1.2. Carbon sequestration Methodological Cuidelines	45
C.1.2. Purpose of the Methodological Guidelines	40
C.2.4 Deletise to Asso etize Deletes and MDV/Teel	
C.2.1. Relation to Accounting Rulebook and MRV Tool	
C.3. Methodological Guidelines for Reporting and Accounting Carbon Sequestration in	1 Forest
Plantations	
C.3.1. Area tracking for the reporting of Annual Change in Plantation Carbon Stocks, ΔC .	50
C.3.2. Annual Change in Plantation Carbon Stocks, ΔC	51
C.3.2.1. Living biomass pool: Gain-loss method	51
C.3.2.2. Living biomass pool: Stock-difference method	58
C.3.2.3. Dead organic Matter, ΔDOM	64
C.3.2.4. Soil Organic Carbon, ΔSOC	68
C.3.3. Harvested Wood Products, S _{HWP}	71
C.3.3.1. The mass balance approach	71
C.3.3.2. Paper mills	73
C.3.3.3. Sawmills	74
C.3.4. Emissions from Fire, S _{fire}	83
C.3.5. Applied Fertiliser, S _{fert}	
C.3.6. Land Tracking	
C.3.8. Verification	91
C.3.9. Guidance for the Use of Models	
C.4. References	
Annendix C	94
Annendix C 1: Eunctionalities in the MRV Tool & User Tins	94
Appendix C 2: Country specific Mass flow factors for sawn wood	95
Appendix C 2: BCEE default values (see "BCEE lookups" in MRV tool)	96
Appendix C.3. Definition and country-specific parameters included in the MPV tool	۵۵ ۵۵
Chapter D: Verification Guidelines for Carbon Sequestration in Forest Plantations	120
D.1. Overview	120
D.1. Overview	120
D.2. Data collection	121
D.3.1. Submission reports	
D.4. Review by DFFE	123
D.4.1. Post submittal checks	123
D.5. Independent verification	128
D.5.1. Selection of facilities for independent verification	128



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA Page viii

D.5.1.1. Criteria for selection of independent verification	128
D.5.1.2. Notification of independent verification	128
D.5.2. Independent verification principles and requirements	128
D.5.2.1. Principles of verification	128
D.5.2.2. Scope of verification	129
D.5.2.3. Reasonable level of assurance	129
D.5.2.4. Materiality	129
D.5.3. Independent verification process	129
D.6. Data approval	129
D.7. References	130
Appendix D	131



Page ix
List of Tables

Table A.1: Common principles informing the scope and structure of organization GHG inventories...7 Table A.2: Common principles adopted when developing a robust carbon accounting system and considerations specific to accounting of forest land under the C Tax Act.8 Table A.3: Estimated maximum proportions of wood and paper converted to CO₂ or CH₄ in landfills (Skog & Nicholson, 1998) with associated life-cycle retention values (fLC96)......14 Table A.4: A comparison between the landfill carbon remaining approach (LCA), CCAR and 100-year approaches for accounting emissions and removals for paper production in a hypothetical mill (assuming production of 200 000tC/year based on the mass flow principle). The effect of using different half-lives and life-cycle retention values (FLC96 or FR). Retention fraction (FR) values are calculated using corresponding half-life values in the same row. The 2-year half-life (highlighted in red) is the current IPCC default for paper, and the FLC96 of 0.74 (highlighted in green) is the suggested value for paper based on an average of the data from Skog and Table A.5: A projected estimate of accountable HWP removals/emissions under the CCAR scheme using a hypothetical mill with a pulp production of 225 000 tC/yr as an example assuming a constant or 2% annual increase of decrease in production output......17 Table A.6: The proposed impact of using the LCA approach for annual accounting HWP removals and emissions for mills with various pulp production using the average paper FLC96 factor of 0.74. Table C.1: Content of the MRV tool: sheets and purpose......47 Table C.2: Colour coding used in the MRV tool......48 Table C.5: Hypothetical stand characteristics of Pinus patula showing volume data (merchantable over bark volume)......54 Table C.7: Data required for estimating $\Delta C ABG + BGB$ (stock-difference method)......63 Table C.8: Data required for estimating ΔC Dead Organic Matter (DOM)......65 Table C.11: Data required for estimating HWP, pulp/ paper mills. Table C.12: Data required for the estimating HWP, sawmill Tier 1......80 Table C.13: Data required for estimating HWP, sawmill Tier 281



Page x

Table C.16: Data required for estimating emissions from applied fertiliser.	89
Table C.17: General information by Facility unit.	90
Table C.18: General information by Forest unit.	91
Table C.19: Mass flow factors for sawn wood. Not to be used for Tier 1	95
Table D.1: Overview of verification process.	120
Table D.2: Examples of checks that will be completed as part of the review by competent author	rity. 123
Table D.3: Verification table included in the Sequestration tool.	126



Page xi

List of Figures

Figure A.1: A schematic representation of GHG flows between the atmosphere and forestry related activities including forest management, disturbances, wood processing emissions, net HWP storage and product substitution
Figure A.2: Illustration of the process for accounting excluding (Option A) and including (Option B) voluntary 3 rd party HWP inputs12
Figure A.3: Examples of net-net accounting of reported emissions and removals
Figure A.4: Carbon Tax sequestration submission process23
Figure A.5: Plantation area damaged between 1980 and 201728
Figure C.1: Derived CAI and MAI from cumulative volume production data and the interpolated CAI using the Chapmans growth function (blue line)55
Figure C.2: A mass flow accounting for paper mills74
Figure C.3: Mass flow accounting tier 1 (default) option for the sawmill, panels, mining, and pole production
Figure C.4: Mass flow tier 2 accounting option for the sawmill, panels, mining and pole production 76



Page xii

Overarching purpose and document layout

Companies are to report their combustion based-, process based- and fugitive greenhouse gas emissions under the Carbon Tax Act (Act No. 15 of 2019) (referred to as "C Tax Act" in this document). In addition, National Treasury (NT) introduced a carbon sequestration ("S") component into the C Tax Act. This allows permanent carbon dioxide (CO₂) removals from the atmosphere to be used to offset against emissions from the use of fossil fuels and other fugitive emission from wood processing companies reporting and accounting under the carbon tax scheme. The C Tax Act attempts to motivate emitting entities to change practices to reduce fossil fuel emissions and to increase sequestration associated with the land use and forestry sectors.

These Guidelines aim to provide recommendations on the accounting approach to be adopted by DFFE to include carbon sequestration from plantation forests into the annual company tax accounting process. It also proposes a supporting set of rules and methods for measuring, reporting, and verifying the associated GHG emissions and removals. The document has been divided into the following four chapters:

- Chapter A: Introduction and Accounting Approach Selection
- Chapter B: Accounting Rulebook for Forest Plantations
- Chapter C: Methodological Guidelines for Land Activities in Forest Plantations
- Chapter D: Verification Guidelines for Carbon Sequestration in Forest Plantations

Chapter A: Introduction and Accounting Approach Selection

A.1. Introduction

Sequestration in the forestry sector can broadly be split into 3 major activities, namely removals in the forest carbon (C) cycle (including land use change related management), storage of C in harvested wood products (HWP) and substitution of energy intensive materials or fossil fuels with timber products (Figure A.1).

Forestry activity related C sequestration can be achieved through:

- a) afforestation and reduction of deforestation;
- b) extension of the rotation ages in current plantations or reduced harvest, integral harvesting and use of wood parts of the trees;
- c) substitution with tree species with higher capacity of carbon uptake and storage over a rotation (e.g. faster growth, wood with higher density or increase productivity through genetic improvement);
- d) manufacture of harvested wood products (HWP) from domestically produced timber;
- e) production of harvested wood products with a longer lifetime or increased recycling of products in order to further delay emissions from HWP;
- f) substitution of energy intensive products such as steel or cement with wood products (i.e. product substitution);
- g) increase of the carbon permanently stored in the soils, deadwood and litter pools;
- h) reduction of controlled biomass burning such as burning of harvest residues; and
- i) reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from fertiliser application.

Sequestration in the forest ecosystem is a result of the net uptake of C during photosynthesis, accumulation in the deadwood and soil pools, decomposition losses associated with turnover of C in deadwood and emission of greenhouse gasses due to disturbances (e.g. harvest, fires) and application of fertilisers. Disturbance due to management intervention has the largest impact on the C balance resulting in either net removals or net emissions of CO₂ into the atmosphere. One of the largest impacts on managed forest plantation C balance is the level of harvest relative to growth increment (Grassi et al., 2018). It is generally accepted that afforestation results in a net removal of CO₂ from the atmosphere for the first rotation, but deforestation causes emissions of similar magnitude. It is important that accounting CO₂ removals from atmosphere under financial mechanisms or emissions reduction mitigation action are permanent.

HWP removals are a function of manufacture of long-life timber products, which are stored in the HWP pool, and emissions from the existing (historical) HWP pool back to the atmosphere due to product end life and cascading into other products or uses (e.g. bioenergy). HWP sequestration does not take place just by production of HWP but by adding more HWP to the pool than what is being released back to the atmosphere.





Figure A.1: A schematic representation of GHG flows between the atmosphere and forestry related activities including forest management, disturbances, wood processing emissions, net HWP storage and product substitution.

Product substitution is based on the concept of avoidance of emissions by replacement of processes or products using wood as a substitute (Sathre and O'Connor, 2010). Life cycle analysis (LCA) of wood products provides a way of measuring the CO₂ savings that can be made by use of wood products and replacement of high CO₂ emission potential products such as energy, cement etc. (Oliver, 2014). However, the accounting of product substitution is not included in C offsetting mechanisms, emission trading and C tax schemes due to methodological complexities and detailed data required to determine the extent of substitution. Potential sequestration can vary considerably depending on assumptions used and the system boundary used in the LCA (Sathre and O'Connor, 2010).

For emissions and removals to be accounted under International Climate Change Targets (e.g. Kyoto Protocol), C trading platforms or C tax schemes, certain well adopted principles should be adhered to such as permanence, additionality, leakage, robustness and avoidance of double accounting. Permanence of accounted removals is a particularly complex issue to address in the context of forest activities. All accounted forest and HWP removals should, in principle, be permanent to reflect real removals from the atmosphere. In this context, the relationship between emissions associated from harvest from forest land, the production of HWP and the decomposition of the HWP pool needs to be considered (i.e. accounting must ensure mass balance of relevant C flows).

Additionality is another principle which is difficult to deal with in the land use sector. Accounted removals should be directly human induced and additional to historical trends to ensure that effective

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

emission reduction to the atmosphere are real and fully attributable to the concerned activity. This requires consideration of base line, and reference level accounting frameworks, such as gross net or net-net accounting (Grassi et al., 2018; 16CMP/1¹, 2CMP/7 and 8).

A.1.1. Purpose of the chapter

The purpose of this chapter is to define "S" under the C Tax Act, assess the various approaches and challenges with setting up a robust carbon accounting system, and make recommendations to DFFE on the methods and process to be adopted for including carbon sequestration in the first carbon tax phase. In addition, the chapter aims to highlight options for improving the system in future should additional data become available, or amendments be made to the C Tax Act.

A.2. System boundary

The scope of the study only includes an accounting framework for forest and HWP related emissions and removals in the South African plantations and timber processing sector. The accounting of emissions associated with wood processing and use of fossil fuels (defined as "E" in the C Tax Act) have already been developed under the C Tax Act and are not considered here.

To account for sequestration activities accounting for plantation management and wood processing (i.e. "S"), all C pools (biomass, deadwood, litter, soils and HWP) and non-CO₂ emissions such as those form fires, management of soils, fertiliser and lime application in activities are considered based on internationally established methods (IPCC, 2006; IPCC, 2014). Specific novel approaches are, however, explored to facilitate company-based accounting under the C Tax Act.

Ownership and liability of emissions and removals is a key system boundary consideration. Although the C Tax Act lays out the criteria for eligibility, careful consideration on how timber flows from small and non-eligible plantation owners are included in the accounting framework without creating a reporting burden on owners with limited resources. This aspect has not been extensively explored in the C Tax Act. We propose new criteria for eligibility under the C Tax Act to address these issues. Rules defined here also avoid double-accounting or leakage.

¹ https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2005/cmp1/eng/08a03.pdf



A.3. The Carbon Sequestration Accounting

The C Tax Act serves as an accounting framework at the company scale. The legal basis for this is the C Tax Act which came into effect from 1 June 2019. Amendments to the Act were gazetted on 31 October 2019.

Section 6 (1) of the C Tax Act sets out the formula for calculation of the tax payable by a taxpayer in respect of a tax period.

 $X = \langle \{[(E-S) \times (1-C)] - [D \times (1-M)]\} + \{P \times (1-J)\} + \{F \times (1-K)\} \rangle R$ Equation A.1

The variables in the above formula are:

- a) "X" represents the amount of tax to be determined that must not be less than zero
- b) "E" represents the total fuel combustion related greenhouse gas emissions
- c) "S" represents the greenhouse gas emissions, expressed in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent, that were sequestered
- d) "C" represents a number equal to the sum of the percentages of allowances under section 7, 10, 11, 12 and 13 of the C Tax Act
- e) "D" represents the petrol and diesel related greenhouse gas emissions.
- f) "M" represents a number equal to the sum of the percentages of the allowances under section 7, 12 and 13 of the C Tax Act
- g) "P" represents the total industrial process related greenhouse gas emissions.
- h) "J" represents a number equal to the sum of the percentages of the allowances determined under sections 7, 8, 10, 11, 12 and 13 of the C Tax Act
- i) "F" represents the total fugitive greenhouse gas emissions
- j) "K" represents the sum of the percentages of the allowances determined in terms of sections 7, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13 of the C Tax Act
- k) "R" represents the rate of tax prescribed under section 5 of the C Tax Act

GHG emissions represented by the variable "E" in the formula are calculated in accordance with the methodology set out in the Technical Guidelines for Monitoring, Reporting and Verification of Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Industry (DEA, 2017).

The applicable allowances for listed activities that are summed to calculate variable "C" are set out in Schedule 2 of the Carbon Tax amendments.

Although the variable "S" is included in the formula, the calculation method is not defined. There are, however, a number of elements in the Act that pertain to eligibility of forest plantations and sector owners/companies and which define the system boundary of a forest accounting system. These elements can be used to define some accounting rules since they are already defined in law.

Key points included in the C Tax amendments that are relevant to the forestry sector are:

a) Schedule 1: Biogenic fuels that include wood/wood waste, sulphite lyes (black liquor), other primary solid biomass, charcoal, bio-gasoline, biodiesels, other liquid biofuels, landfill gas,



sludge gas, other biogas and municipal waste (biomass fraction) report CO_2 emissions separately and are not included in the CO_2 emission totals (namely in "E"). The calculated values for N_2O and CH_4 are included in the calculation for the variable "E".

- b) Schedule 2: All activities listed under IPCC Code 3 (Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use) and Code 4 (Waste) are discounted with a 100% allowance.
- c) The threshold for reporting by plantations is set out as >100 ha.

Guidance on the definition of "S" are provided in the next section.

A.4. Definition of the Variable "S"

The previous "Technical guidance for the reporting of GHG emissions from plantation forests, biogenic fuels and harvested wood products within the South African plantation forest and forest products sector" (Knowles and Christie, 2018) defines the net sequestration by forest and forest products ("S"), as:

$$S = S_B + S_{HWP} - \Delta C - S_{fire} - S_{fert}$$

Equation A.2

Where:

- S_B = CO₂ component of biogenic fuel emissions from the combustion of biogenic fuels sourced from South African plantations (e.g. wood, bark, black liquor) expressed in t CO₂eq. Note that this excludes non-CO₂ emissions but these are reported and accounted under 'E'
- S_{HWP} = CO₂ emissions or removals by harvested wood products (expressed in t CO₂eq)
- ΔC = Annual change in plantation carbon stocks (expressed in t CO₂eq)
- S_{fire} = Emissions from controlled burning and wildfires (N₂O and CH₄ expressed in t CO₂eq)
- S_{fert} = The fraction of emissions from applied fertiliser (N₂O expressed in t CO₂eq)

Subsequent to the compilation of the Knowles and Christie (2018) guideline document, the amendments to the C Tax Act define biogenic fuels as a net zero CO_2 emission assuming that sources are renewable. In addition, through the implementation of a mass balance methodology of S_{HWP} , biogenic fuel use and CO_2 emissions are included in this calculation.

Since the conventions for net removals of CO_2eq under the UNFCCC are that emissions are denoted as a positive value and sequestration as a negative value, both S_{HWP} and ΔC should have negative values. In the C Tax Act the equation is stated as being (E-S) (Equation A.1) which suggests that "S" is positive, therefore the signs need to be changed. Equation A.2, therefore, becomes:

$$S = -S_{HWP} - \Delta C - S_{fire} - S_{fert}$$

Equation A.3

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Foresty, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Emissions from fires and fertilisation are included in the "S" equation and should be reported in the accounting system, however it is proposed that for this initial phase these components be fully discounted under the C Tax Act (see equation A.4). The rationale for reporting (under the C Tax Act) but not accounting for these emissions is that company level baseline data is required to develop more suitable accounting procedures in the future. Fertiliser emissions may be excluded from reporting (under the C Tax Act) in future if they are found to be insignificant (i.e. below the significance threshold provided in Table A.1), but the initial reporting is required to determine if these emissions are below the threshold. Fire is to be reported so that a company background level can be determined to exclude wildfire (natural disturbance) emissions in future (see Section A.10.1.2). On the other hand, fire and fertilisation emissions may also be included for accounting if determined to be significant and if the C Tax Act is reviewed. Equation A.3 is therefore rewritten as:

$$S = -S_{HWP} - \Delta C - \left[S_{fire} - \left(S_{fire} \times \frac{D}{100}\right)\right] - \left[S_{fert} - \left(S_{fert} \times \frac{D}{100}\right)\right]$$
 Equation A.4

D is the current discount defined in the act (Schedule 2, C Tax Act of 2019), which is 100% for emissions from fires and fertiliser application.

Equation A.4 excludes the following emissions associated with forest lands in the IPCC guidelines, as these are considered negligible in South Africa:

- a) Nitrogen mineralisation associated with loss of soil organic matter resulting from change of land use or management of mineral soils (F_{SOM}) (du Toit et al, 2016). However, F_{SOM} can be calculated directly from soil C stock changes under ΔC (Equation A.4) and included in the future if considered to be significant (Table A.1).
- b) CO₂ emissions associated with lime application is not a practice of SA plantations.
- c) Indirect N₂O emissions, however these should be included in future should fertiliser emissions be shown to be significant, and the discounts removed.

A.5. Principles of a Robust GHG Accounting System

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO), the Verified Carbon Standard (VCS), the Gold Standard (GS) as well as South Africa 's GHG Emissions Reporting System (SAGERS) and National GHG Inventory Management System (NGHGIS), among others, have adopted the common principles of relevance, significance, completeness, consistency, accuracy, transparency, and comparability. These principles should be applied to entities accounting for "S" under the C Tax Act.

Table A.1: Common principles informing the scope and structure of organization GHG inventories.



Common Reporting Principles*	Description (as defined in ISO 14064-1)		
Relevance	Select the GHG sources, GHG sinks, GHG reservoirs, data and methodologies appropriate to the needs of the intended user.		
Completeness	Include all relevant GHG emissions and removals. Include all relevant information to support criteria and procedures.		
Consistency	Estimations of GHG stocks, emissions and removals should be done consistently across time and space		
Comparability	Enable meaningful comparisons in GHG-related information over time and across different data providers		
Accuracy	Reduce bias and uncertainties of parameters used and accounted amounts as far as is practical		
Transparency	Disclose sufficient and appropriate GHG-related information to allow intended verifiers to make decisions with reasonable confidence and reporting and accounting rules have been adhered to.		
Significance	An emission for a pool or source may only be excluded from reporting and accounting if it is smaller than a significance threshold which is a fraction of the total emission and removals. Following the UNFCCC guidelines (art 37(b) of decision 24/cp19), the significance threshold is <0.05% of the total emissions for both "E" and "S" (i.e. sum of absolute emissions from "E" and "S").		
Adherence to the IPCC Guidance (AFOLU 2006 and KP- supplement 2013)	The IPCC guidance provides the reporting methodology which is broadly adopted under the forestry reporting rulebook (Annex B). This is important in cases where models may be used or where company specific factors are used in calculation emissions and removals. Note: some IPCC guidance is not followed in detail, such as HWP (see section A.8.3)		
*These common principles are shared by IPCC, ISO, VCS, CDM, GS, GHG Protocol as well as South Africa 's GHG Emissions			

Reporting System (SAGERS) and National GHG Inventory Management System (NGHGIS).

Additional considerations on overriding principles should be adhered to when a framework for robust accounting of GHG emissions and removals is developed (Table A.2). These principles are based on international agreements, such as the Paris Agreement, agreements from other UNFCCC Conference of the Parties (particularly 16CMP/1², 2CMP/7 and 8), the voluntary market principles and climate change policy drivers behind the C Tax Act.

 Table A.2: Common principles adopted when developing a robust carbon accounting system and considerations specific to accounting of forest land under the C Tax Act.

² <u>https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2005/cmp1/eng/08a03.pdf</u>



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Accounting principles	Considerations			
Eligibility	Forest definition: The forest definition should be consistent with the National forest definition but with additional criteria to ensure robust reporting of areas.			
	Ownership and liability: C Tax Act thresholds stipulate that plantation forests eligible for registration and define liability for removals or emissions.			
	Eligibility should ensure that the mass flow of C between HWPs and forest land C budgets are maintained.			
Permanence	Once in, always in principle: Once emissions and removals are accounted for in a unit of forest land these areas and pools should be continued to be reported and accounted throughout the accounting period and for subsequent accounting periods.			
	Permanence has important implications on the treatment of deforestation and decay of accounted HWP removals			
Accounting periods and intervals	Reporting Periods and intervals pursuant to the C Tax Act			
Robustness	The treatment of any accounted activities be based on sound science, that mass balance is conserved, and accounting should ensure emissions or removals are verifiable.			
Additionality	That the mere presence of carbon stocks be excluded from accounting.			
	That accounting excludes removals resulting from indirect human activities: (i) elevated carbon dioxide concentrations above their pre- industrial level; (ii) indirect nitrogen deposition; and (iii) the dynamic effects of age structure resulting from activities and practices before the accounting year.			
	This is an important consideration when deciding on appropriate accounting rules, such as gross-net or net-net accounting and the rules for HWP accounting.			
Incentives and policy alignment:	Accounting framework should consider other policies such as those set out under the national framework, UNFCCC and the Paris Agreement (e.g. action plans) but also incentivise companies to enhance forest sinks and reduce emissions without being unfairly penalized for current and historical management practice.			



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Leakage	Increased emissions of GHGs or decreased removals should not result outside the accounting framework boundary. For example: use of timber sources from outside the geographical of South Africa for production of HWPs or timber form non-reporting or unregistered entities could result in increased emission or deforestation in other regions or from forest lands non-certified for sustainable management.
Double accounting avoidance	Emissions or removals shall not be accounted twice. For example, already produced pulp, recycled pulp or paper from another production facility cannot be used as a carbon inflow into the HWP pool for the reporting entity.

A.6. Challenges faced when implementing carbon accounting system at the company level

A.6.1. Eligibility and liability

The use of an area threshold as a criterion for accounting forest and HWP emissions/removals (C Tax Act October 2019) has implications regarding inclusion of timber to HWP from non-eligible, 3rd party, forest owners. The major forest companies who will account for HWP removals can only include timber produced by eligible companies under the C Tax Act (from own wood land and leased land), estimated to be ca. 80% or less of the annual harvest. This is because the emissions associated with harvest must be linked to removals associated with HWPs to ensure balanced and robust accounting.

Another issue is that the area-based criteria also does not consider related eligibility to account for "E" under the act. It is possible in the future that a wood product manufacturer must account for emissions from "E" but cannot account for potential forest removals if the forest areas they own falls below the area threshold.

It is therefore, proposed that the area threshold currently used in the C Tax Act be removed and eligibility to account be based solely on the threshold related to processing and fossil fuel emissions "E" (Figure A.2, option A)

During the consultation, the forestry industry indicated that it would be important to include all wood flows into the HWP pool as there were concerns that the market would be biased as companies would lean towards purchasing wood from accounting companies. This may cause smaller plantations to be disadvantaged. As discussed, emissions associated with such harvest would need to be included to ensure permanence. To accommodate this an additional voluntary clause has been incorporated in the proposed framework where non-eligible 3rd party timber inflows can be included in the HWP accounting by eligible companies (Figure A.2, option B) provided that the following conditions are met:

a) Ownership of HWP removals and emissions is assigned to the wood processing company.



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Foresty, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

- b) 3rd party forest emissions associated with the harvest timber inflows into the HWP pool are accounted.
- c) There is no double accounting if timber is supplied to two or more registered companies accounting for HWP.
- d) All timber from 3rd parties must be registered with COC or certified from sustainability perspective (i.e. replanting to occur after harvesting within the legal 5-year period). This ensures harmonisation between land ownership and industry related emissions.





Figure A.2: Illustration of the process for accounting excluding (Option A) and including (Option B) voluntary 3rd party HWP inputs.

A.6.2. HWP accounting

The HWP first order decay approach for semi-finished HWP (IPCC, 2006) proposed by Knowles and Christie, (2018) for use under the C Tax Act, has numerous drawbacks when implemented at company scale:

- a) Application of the first order decay approach means that emissions from previous historically produced HWP must be accounted in subsequent years. If there is change of ownership or where a company may exceed the eligibility threshold to the account for "E" for the first time, then newly registered companies (persons) are being debited for emissions created by previous owners or historical HWP inflows that were not accounted. Ownership is a key eligibility criterion under the C Tax Act. Therefore, annual accounting requires the accounting of removals and all emissions associated with production and use of the HWP in the year when HWPs are manufactured so to ensure that permanence principles are adhered to. The IPCC approach can be applied at the company level for annual accounting, but this would require the reporting and accounting of emissions from HWP produced in previous years (for many decades or since establishment).
- b) The IPCC semi-finished product approach to allocate timber harvest to wood product does not consider company level processing efficiencies in conversion or raw timber to products. A recent South African study (Adu Poku, 2015) provides process specific mass flow approaches and conversion factors for the paper industry and similar approaches can be applied to the sawlog processing industry. Previous studies show that more detailed timber allocation models to finished products provide more accurate removal estimates when compared to the IPCC semi-finished product approach based on FAO data (Aleinikovas et al., 2018). The mass flow approach proposed by Adu Poku (2015) appears to be the best option for the South African industry.
- c) The IPCC methodology (2006) does not clearly outline the assumptions used when determining the lifetime (half-life) of wood and wood products. The methodology assumes a time constant (half-life) and that the product life goes to recycling or waste or burning etc. In South Africa, it is estimated that ca. 68% of paper is recycled³, but recycled paper should not be considered as an emission (Vácha, 2011). To account for recycling, a large proportion of paper should be reallocated to the recycled inflow pool every year or the half-life decay should be applied to 32% only. The same would apply to solid wood cascading and recycling, but there are no known national studies on detailed life cycle analysis in wood products.

³ https://www.thepaperstory.co.za/south-africas-paper-recycling-rate-rises-to-68-4/



Consequently, the proposed accounting rules advocate to use the mass flow approach (Adu Poku, 2015) with product efficiencies and flow factors derived from South African studies (Adu Poku, 2015; Christie and Scholes, 1995) supplemented by international data where data is not available (UNECE/FAO, 2010). Mass flow approach means that the total amount of C entering the system (e.g. round wood and recycled paper) equals the sum of C outputs from the system (e.g. in sawn-wood, gaseous emissions from burning wood) (see Equation C.9 in Chapter C). The application of the method for accounting for emissions from HWP emissions is discussed in more detail in section C.3.3.1.

A.6.2.1. C stock and Emissions from HWPs

HWPs are included in "S" as a potential sequestration because removals are deemed to be permanent and that credits cannot be accounted simply due to the creation of C stocks (Table A.2). HWP sequestration does not take place just by production of HWP but by adding more HWP to the pool that what is being released back to the atmosphere, so accounting should be based on removals and emissions or a stock change from year to year (IPCC, 2006).

Current legislation states that ownership is the key liability for accounting of emissions for corporate/company, so the consumer should be responsible for all related emissions. However, there are numerous drawbacks and risks associated with this:

- a) Equal treatment of all sectors: Long term retention of C in manufactured products are considered viable for annual accounting if the product life cycle is more than 1 year. Therefore, sequestration from production of charcoal, firewood, matches and other biogenic compounds in the food sector (for example) are excluded from the C Tax Act because they are considered as short-term products due to the relatively fast decay of the products after production and sale to the consumer. Emissions from these products are, therefore, implicitly accounted. Although paper and other HWP have long lifecycles, the decay of the created HWP pool should be accounted to ensure permanence and so that accounting rules are applied equally across all sectors.
- b) Removals must be permanent (so there is an actual benefit for the atmosphere, i.e. less CO₂). For HWP removals to be permanent emissions from the HWP pool must be considered. If the ownership principle is applied, then all future emissions from HWP should be accounted under the waste sector, however, waste emissions are not included in the C Tax Act due the methodological complexity. Therefore, if emissions cannot be accounted under the forest sector then all removals and emissions should be excluded from the act due to methodological complexity and to ensure that removals are permanent. This, again, is consistent application of rules to all sectors.
- c) Robust accounting. If no emissions are applied to all HWPs, then the accounting framework does not acknowledge extensive scientific evidence⁴ that solid wood products have longer lifecycles than paper. The discount under the act already excludes biogenic and waste emissions

⁴ Skog and Nicholson, 1998; Profft et al., 2009; Winjum et al., 1998; Brown et al., 1999; Marland et al., 2010; Miner and Perez-Garcia, 2007; Broadmeadow and Matthews, 2003; O'Connor, 2010; Lippke et al., 2011; Henschel et al., 2008; Pingoud et al., 2006; Skog, 2008; Ellison et al., 2011; UNECE, 2010; etc



for HWP manufacturing, therefore, the paper industry will be able to claim the same amount of credits per t C of product as the sawn wood and wood-based panel manufacturing facilities. This is contrary to the scientific literature.

d) **Baseline approach**. The fact that various industrial entities produce various HWP with different climate or C storage impact is considered part of the baseline, resulted from historical contribution to the national economy.

A.6.2.2. How should HWP decay be accounted?

The suitability of the IPCC approach for accounting HWP removal and emissions was questioned by the forest industry. The use of the mass flow approach provides a partial solution for the C allocation aspect of the method, however, alternative methods to account for emissions on an annual basis are still required. A review of the literature concluded the use of one of the three options discussed below could be considered.

A.6.2.2.1. The land fill approach

The default half-life factors applied to the paper and other timber products is suggested to be over conservative and the half-life value for paper products is too generalised to capture the range of products produced by the paper industry (see Section A.6.2). An alternative approach may be to use the share of wood products converted to C emissions in landfills (Skog and Nicholson, 1998). Some studies suggest that C emissions from paper in landfill varies form 3- 38 % over 96 years (Skog & Nicholson, 1998; Table A.3), magnitudes lower than the expected C lost based on the first order decay approach. The comparable half-life of paper using the landfill approach is 220 years, compared to 1 to 6 years for paper (IPCC, 2006, Skog & Nicholson, 1998). Land fill approach by Skog and Nicholson does not consider paper recycling, product life in use and combustion of paper, so could be considered as an underestimation of emissions.

Product type (i)	Maximum % carbon converted	fLC ₉₆
Solid wood	3	0.97
Newsprint	16	0.84
Coated paper	18	0.82
Boxboard	32	0.68
Office paper	38	0.62
Mean for paper and pulp		0.74

Table A.3: Estimated maximum proportions of wood and paper converted to CO₂ or CH₄ in landfills (Skog & Nicholson, 1998) with associated life-cycle retention values (fLC96).



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Foresty, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

A.6.2.2.2. <u>The 100-year approach</u>

A proposed alternative is the use of the 100-year approach (Miner, 2006), which is designed for application to corporate accounting, considering future decay of today products of the company in contrast to the national reporting by the IPCC approach (that applies decay to historical inflows). This approach proposes three important modifications:

- a) It recognised that the decay is not a first order function, i.e. the decay constant varies over time (see Kurtz et al., 1992; Row & Phelps, 1996). This acknowledges that decay constant declines over time due to the slower breakdown of more recalcitrant C (such as lignin) remaining in product after end of use and during decay. These functions also attempt to construct decay curves by considering time-in-use, an improvement on the IPCC assumptions (see section 0).
- b) The 100-year time frame is based on the general IPCC approach used to defining radiative forcing potentials and this 100-year period is used in many climate change projection scenarios.
- c) The approach facilitates annual accounting where all future emissions and current removals are accounted in one year.
- d) Removals and emissions are all attributed to current business options of the company.

The 100-year method involves five steps:

- Identify the types and amounts of biomass-based products (e.g. Pine or Eucalyptus) that are made in the year of interest and end up in a final product (e.g. sawlog, pallet, mining poles, paper, long life paper etc.)
- Express this annual production in terms of the amount of biomass carbon per year for each product.
- 3) Divide the products into categories based on function and allocate the carbon to the functional categories. Some of the functions may be single use products. Alternatively, products can be divided into the categories used for national and international harvested wood products.
- Use 2nd or 3rd order decay curves or other time-in-use information to estimate the fraction of the carbon in each functional category, expected to remain in use for 100 years.
- 5) Multiply the amount of carbon in annual production in products in each functional category by the fraction remaining at 100 years. The result is the amount of sequestered carbon in the products in each functional category attributable to this year's production.

A.6.2.2.3. The CCAR approach

All C trading platforms, besides the Californian Carbon Action Registry (CCAR), do not account for HWP because of methodological and system boundary complications. The CCAR solution is to use the IPCC approach but to exclude historical HWP C stock in the first year of reporting because it is not often



possible to derive this data at a corporate level. At the end of the first year, the net emission/removal of HWPs is equal to the amount of carbon in products-in-use associated with the company's production for that year. In each subsequent year, the company estimates additions to, and losses from, the pool of carbon attributable to its products. Additions are equal to the carbon in productsin-use attributable to new production. Losses are determined by decay curves that describe the amounts of products-in-use removed from service each year.

Under a scenario where the annual production of new products remains constant, the approach results in large annual increases in the pool of carbon in products-in-use in early years, and smaller annual increases over time. This is because the annual losses from the pool of products-in-use are small at first but increase over time as the pool gets larger and the products get older. This results in what might be termed a "start-up effect", which may be an undesirable feature in a corporate accounting context (Miner, 2006).

The disadvantage of this approach is that the use of first order decay models tend to overestimate emissions, but the multiple time decay constant approach (e.g. Row and Phelps, 1996) can be used. Another disadvantage is that the accounting of emissions of manufactured product is done in years after production and these emissions increase as the HWP pool increases. Another disadvantage is related to when a company has a new owner (which should continue the account for previous owner emissions) or starts new accounting (when "start-up effect" is strong).

A.6.2.2.4. Comparisons and conclusions

In conclusion, all the outlined methods have problems from an accounting perspective and do not accurately reflect emission reductions perspective and true atmospheric effect. If future emissions are accounted in advance (e.g. the landfill and 100-year approach), the company is in effect paying a C tax in advance. On the other hand, if emissions are accounted when they occur in subsequent years then all emissions and removals are not accounted in the year and the company may be prone to legacy risks in the future.

Comparison of the potential outcomes on implementing a HWP accounting method for the three HWP is summarised in Table A.4 below.

Table A.4: A comparison between the landfill carbon remaining approach (LCA), CCAR and 100-year approaches for accounting emissions and removals for paper production in a hypothetical mill (assuming production of 200 000tC/year based on the mass flow principle). The effect of using different half-lives and life-cycle retention values (FLC96 or FR). Retention fraction (FR) values are calculated using corresponding half-life values in the same row. The 2-year half-life (highlighted in red) is the current IPCC default for paper, and the FLC96 of 0.74 (highlighted in green) is the suggested value for paper based on an average of the data from Skog and Nicholson (1998) (see Table A.3).

S _{HWP} with landfill factor 96 year		S _{HWP} CCAR a (using IPCC hal 1 of accou	pproach f-life) Year ınting	S _{H\} appro Phelps are cal liv	MP 100-year bach Row and decay curve (FR culated at half- es of 1 -10)
FLC96	t CO₂ /yr	Half-life (yr)	t CO₂ /yr	FR	t CO ₂ /yr



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

0.74	542 667	1	366 667	0.05	35 911
0.8	586 667	2	518 548	0.06	41 553
0.85	623 333	3	582 050	0.06	45 758
0.9	660 000	4	616 661	0.07	49 298
0.95	696 667	5	638 407	0.07	52 445
1	733 333	10	684 228	0.09	65 416

As seen in Table A.4, the application of the landfill carbon remaining approach (LCA), compared to the CCAR and 100-year method, offers a large advantage to the paper industry. It should be noted that the CCAR approach has a high "start-up value" but this will decline sharply regardless of future production outputs (Table A.5).



Table A.5: A projected estimate of accountable HWP removals/emissions under the CCAR scheme using a hypothetical mill with a pulp production of 225 000 tC/yr as an example assuming a constant or 2% annual increase of decrease in production output.

The 100-year approach appears to be the most robust from a scientific point of view, but this is still sensitive to assumptions on the time products are in use. The 100-year approach would be the preferred option, but only if data can be provided on product time in use for the industry.

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Foresty, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

The landfill or LCA approach clearly overestimates C retention in wood products. The corresponding half-life of paper using a FLC96 of 0.74 (Skog & Nicholas, 1998) is 220 years. This is greater than the half-life of lignin (150 years) in natural ecosystems (Dittmar, 2001), which is theoretically unlikely. Although it is acknowledged that the 1st order half lived are overly conservative, the 100-year approach and multiple time decay models show that differences are quite small (Miner (2006). Uncertainty analysis by Pingoud et al (2011) show that the level of uncertainty for first order decay short life products (2-4 year half-lives) is only 9-20% and most published half-life values for paper do not exceed 6 years (Miner, 2006).

Although the life-cycle retention value (FLC96) for different products (Skog and Nicholson, 1998), may largely overestimate HWP removals, the risk of claiming excessive credits due to removals is limited due to the cap applied under the C Tax Act (Appendix A). Moreover, since the annual accounting of future emissions might be argued as a payment of tax in advance, this downside may be seen to be compensated by the over estimation of removals. The landfill approach covers more HWP categories (see Skog and Nicholson 1998, Christie and Scholes, 1995) and will not have a large influence in differences in claimed credits if emissions are not accounted (Table A.6).

	Annual production (Adu Poku, 2015)	S _{HWP} with FLC96	Տ _{нwp} without FLC96	Difference
Mill	pulp (t C/yr)		t CO₂/yr	
Mill A	400 000	1 085 333	1 466 667	381 333
Mill B	300 000	814 000	1 100 000	286 000
Mill C	200 000	542 667	733 333	190 667
Mill D	100 000	271 333	366 667	95 333
Mill E	50 000	135 667	183 333	47 667
Mill F	20 000	54 267	73 333	19 067
Mill G	10 000	27 133	36 667	9 533
Mill H	2 000	5 427	7 333	1 907

 Table A.6: The proposed impact of using the LCA approach for annual accounting HWP removals and emissions for mills with various pulp production using the average paper FLC96 factor of 0.74.

The proposed interim accounting approach is to adopt the mass flow approach with the land fill approach to account emissions. It is, however, strongly recommended that the 100-year approach

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

be implemented in future C tax periods as soon as industry specific studies are completed to derive suitable half-life, and product use period assumptions.

A.7. Accounting frameworks

There are various proposed accounting frameworks designed to deal with different forestry activities.

Gross-net accounting: is generally applied to afforestation and deforestation activities, where actual reported emissions or removals are accounted for each year.

Net-net accounting: is applied to managed forests, where removals or emissions need to factor out indirect human induced removals/emissions (see additionality principle) or incentives are provided to account where there are net emissions. Notably, there is a reduction in the accounted amounts of net emissions in managed areas over time. The net-net accounted value is calculated using the reported emissions/removals in an accounting period (grey zone in Figure A.3 (2008-2012) relative to a reference year (example 2000 in Figure A.3)). In all the scenarios provided in Figure A.3, credits will be accounted, even in the case where net emissions are reported in the accounting period (Scenario C). Debits will only be accounted if the slope between the reference year and accounting year is negative.



Figure A.3: Examples of net-net accounting of reported emissions and removals.

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Net-net with a reference level: This is an adopted net-net approach which accounts for dynamic shifts in age class structure and historic management legacy, however, the approach requires the use of complex models (to simulate at least biomass growth under management interventions). This is dealt with in more detail in section A.10.1.1.

An accounting cap: The C Tax Act applies a cap where credits from "S" cannot exceed debits from "E", i.e. there is no tax rebate if the sum of "E" and "S" is a net removal. In order to provide a fair and balanced cap and in accordance with the discounts applied to the Land sector in schedule 2 of the C Tax Act, we proposed the same should apply to a situation where the sum of emissions and removals from forests and HWP is a net emission (i.e. additional emissions from "S" cannot be added to "E" (see Appendix A). The advantage of the cap is that it limits the amount of credits that can be claimed through forest activities whilst at the same time incentivising participation of the forestry industry in the C Tax Act where net forest and HWP activities may be a net emission, particularly under a gross net accounting framework. This may function as compensation across time given the intensity of commercial activity.

A.7.1.1. Justification for the Use of Annual Gross net Accounting

Gross-net reporting in this first phase is recommended to apply to all eligible forest activities because of the following:

- a) The gross-net approach provides incentives for accounting of removals through allocation of timber for long term wood products and creation of new forest sinks through continued afforestation. Application of a net-net framework would provide no incentive for these.
- b) Although a gross-net approach or the only net-net options available at present (i.e. net-net with a reference period) does not factor out any dynamic age class legacy effect on forest growth increment, particularly due to historical afforestation legacy, there is no modelling capacity to develop an alternative approach at present.
- c) Application of a gross-net accounting to both the forest and HWP category ensures that the accounting system is robust and balanced. Appling different accounting framework to HWP and forest land would result in unbalanced and inconsistent accounting.
- d) Application of one accounting procedure to all forest categories facilitates a simpler reporting task. Ideally the cost and effort of reporting under the C Tax Act should be minimised and simplified as much as possible.
- e) Although a gross-net approach does not factor out any indirect human influences on emissions and removals, it is assumed that any windfalls are offset by debits associated with management legacy which is not factored out.
- f) Liability for very large debits due to natural disturbances are excluded because emissions from fires are not accounted under the current framework.
- g) "Implicit cap" from C Tax Act ensures that accounted credits are limited by the size of the "E" debit and debits cannot be incurred for "S".
- h) The gross-net approach encourages participation and collecting data for future when enhanced accounting can be applied.



A.8. Links with existing Regulations and forestry frameworks

Several existing regulations, forest data resources and certification schemes were suggested to be suitable for inclusion and/or adaption for reporting and accounting requirements under the C Tax Act. These were considered during the development of these Guidelines and the reporting MRV tool.

A.8.1. National GHG Emission Reporting Regulations

The National Greenhouse Gas Emission Reporting Regulations (NGER) published under the National Environmental Management: Air Quality Act, 2004 (Act No. 39 of 2004) were gazetted on 3 April 2017 and amended on the 11 September 2020. Annexure 1 of the amended Regulations list the activities and thresholds for which GHG emissions must be reported. The data reported through the NGER are to be utilized to improve the National GHG Inventory which is required for international reporting.

While there are similarities in the reporting for GHG inventories and accounting, there are also some differences which are highlighted in Section B.3.7. The reporting for carbon accounting has additional reporting requirements, particularly for deforestation and HWP. These differences are partly brought about because the GHG Inventory reporting follows the IPCC guidelines (IPCC, 2006), while the accounting rules follow the more detailed Kyoto Protocol (KP) IPCC guidance. Another aspect to consider is the eligibility criteria. For the NGER the eligibility is based on area (i.e. all plantations >100ha are eligible to report), while for the C Tax Accounting it is proposed that eligibility is based on the threshold related to processing and fossil fuel emissions ("E" in the tax equation) (Section A.6.1). Even though there are differences between the reporting for NGER and the C Tax Act the NGER data can be used for high level (such as total plantation volume, total area, emission factor) checks⁵ and verification of the accounting data.

A.8.2. Regulation 19 under Section 6 of the National Forest Act

The Forestry Economics Services (on behalf of DFFE) collects all plantation and timber production data as legally required in terms of Regulation 19 made by the Minister of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries under the provisions of Section 6(1) and Section 6(3) of the National Forest Act (Government Gazette No 32185, dated 29 April 2009). This data is submitted by all company and state-owned plantations in electronic format (referred to as the "Green Mamba" form in this document and the MRV tool). This is the primary data source on forestry statistics, such as the Forestry South Africa Handbook. This data was considered during the development of the templates and guidelines and, as with NGER reporting, the data reported under the National Forest Act can serve as validation for various components included in the accounting (specifics are provided in the MRV tool, Table D.3).

A.8.3. Chain of custody standards and certification

⁵ The specific checks can be determined once the format of the NGER template has been finalised.



Forest products chain of custody standards (COC) and certification (PEFC and FSC) demonstrates that registered company produces source timber from controlled, well managed forest resources. The forestry industry suggests that COC or certification should be used as a proxy for sustainable timber production, preservation of forest C stocks and that these mechanisms could be incorporated in an accounting framework. However, this approach has drawbacks:

- a) Since COC or certification uses sustainability indicators to assess adherence to the schemes, this is often misinterpreted that timber is sustainably produced, while at best it could be described as responsible management with no causative link with carbon sequestration as an ecosystem service. For example, FSC criteria⁶, under the S.A. standard, does not assess harvest relative to volume increment, a core sustainability indicator linked to forest C budgets (Grassi et al, 2018). Moreover, C sequestration is not listed as one of the ecosystem criteria under the FSC standard.
- b) The assumption that certified plantations would not be a net emission for any reporting period does not hold. In fact, nearly 60% of the worlds certified forests and plantations are in Europe. Some member state GHG inventories report that net emissions or a decline in forest C stocks since 1990 (UNFCCC⁷). The same can be seen in the emission/removal trends for the South African forest industry (Forestry SA, 2019).
- c) Not all timber suppliers to the processing facilities are certified⁸. In South Africa approximately 76% of the plantation areas are owned or managed by large companies, 95% of which are certified. Another 20% of the plantation area is owned by commercial farmers or family companies (typically between 100 and 5,000 ha). Only 30% of these areas are covered by one of the four certification schemes and nearly no small growers are covered by a scheme. This means that even if certification was used as a proxy to ensure harvested 3rd party and non-registered forest areas (under the C Tax Act) are replanted and "responsibly" managed, most on the 3rd party timber sources supplied to manufacturing facilities may still not be certified.
- d) Participation in COC or a certification scheme does not guarantee permanence of accounted removals because certification may not be renewed following subsequent audits.

Despite the above-mentioned difficulties, it is acknowledged that COC and certification could be used in cases where the risk of non-permanent accounting of removals is low, such as in the case of 3rd party forest emissions and removals and inflows into HWP storage (see Accounting Rules in Chapter B). However, 3rd parties can only be included if proof of certification is provided and that the burden of reporting and accounting is put on the company accounting for "S" under the C tax scheme.

⁷ <u>https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/transparency-and-reporting/reporting-and-review-under-the-convention/greenhouse-gas-inventories-annex-i-parties/national-inventory-submissions-2019</u>

⁸ Source SA Forestry http://saforestryonline.co.za/articles/environment/how_effective_is_forest_certification/ Online



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

⁶ <u>https://fsc.org/en/document-centre/documents/resource/319</u>

A.9. Carbon Tax Sequestration submission process

For C Tax reporting of sequestration, taxpayers are required to register on SAGERS. Here the MRV tool (see Section C.2.1) will be provided for completion. Once completed the tool can be uploaded to SAGERS where it will go to DFFE for review (Figure A.4). A taxpayer may be selected to undergo an independent review (see further details in the Verification Guidelines in Chapter D). Once reviewed and verified, DFFE will approve the "S" amount and submit it to SARS where it will be combined with the other emission components in the carbon tax equation to determine the overall tax liability.



Figure A.4: Carbon Tax sequestration submission process.

A.10. Future considerations

A.10.1.1. Net-net Accounting Frameworks

The UNFCCC COP (2/CMP7) and the EU LULUCF regulation 841/EU(2018) implemented the use of a forward-looking baseline approach to define the reference level for managed forests based on dynamic forest models. This approach factors out age-class legacy and other indirect human factors whilst still providing an incentive for potential C credits, but also allowing the continuation of sustainable management practice without potential debits associated with management legacy. This



legacy has been shown to be associated with age-class shifts in forest areas due to either fluctuation in afforestation or practices that result in non-uniformly distributed ages classes in forest ecosystems (Black et. al., 2012; Botcher et al., 2008). The same trends are evident based on our analysis of the plantation on forestry industry carbon stock changes. The forward-looking baseline approach is generally accepted as credible science-based carbon accounting approach based on the projected continuation of documented historical forest management practice (Grassi et al., 2018). Meanwhile the gross-net approach is retained for afforestation and deforestation.

The advantage of this approach, in a South African forest industry perspective, is that implementation of improved management practice or deployment of genetically improved nursery stock can potentially increase any removals and hence companies can account removal credits for these activities. The suggested framework allows for the continuation of sustainable management practice and utilisation of HWP without unfairly debiting accountable emissions due to age class legacy effects (see Box A.1).

The development of forward-looking baselines requires the implementation of modelling frameworks that simulate changes in forest age class structure based on silvicultural rules defined for different species and existing stands over the defined reference period.

A.10.1.1.1. Current Forest Carbon Modelling Capacity

The development of a forward-looking baseline requires the ability to dynamically model forest C stocks based on silvicultural practice and shifts in the state of the forest (i.e. age class shifts as a result of management etc.). Based on a review of the forestry industry's capacity to develop and use complex tier 3 models for reporting or development baselines (this project and Knowles and Christie, 2018), it is suggested that the capacity is not sufficiently developed to implement such an approach.

A phased approach to the implementing of reporting should be adopted allowing entities to report using Tier 1 methodology unless the information is available for an entity to submit information using higher tier calculation.

A study by Ndalowa (2014) highlighted the potential use of internationally available models, such as CBM_CFSv3 (Kurz et al., 2009) or CASMOFOR (Somogyi, 2019), for reporting and modelling future GHG profiles from South African plantations. However, it was also suggested that considerable time and resources are required to implement this at a company or national scale (Knowles and Christie, 2018). Other national platforms such as the carbon calculator are being developed to calculate carbon stocks in above- and below ground biomass pools (du Toit et al 2016, 2019). We are also aware that some companies have produced carbon stock change forecasts based on Mean Annual Increment (MAI) growth curves and inventory information.

It is noted that the basic information and allometric equations for the calculation of above ground biomass changes are available (du Toit et al., 2016) and these together with growth curves can be used to develop integrated modelling frameworks, which can simulate forest stock changes using different silvicultural assumptions but not for different climatic conditions.





The figure shows hypothetical reported GHG emission and removals for managed forest land and HWP, where the sink is declining due to age class legacy effects under two scenarios. The high level of harvest (red line) scenario is due to increase demand for timber of timber products. The low harvest scenario represents a case where forest sinks are enhanced though deployment of improved genetic material and a reduction in the level of harvest.

The projected forest reference level (FRL, green line) was constructed using historical management practices based on the historic period using a dynamic model.

The accountable emissions/removals under a gross-net accounting framework in the reference period would be equivalent to the absolute values for each year over the reference period (solid symbols). Note that there would be an accountable net emission of 413 and 137 GgCO₂eq. in 2020 for both the high and low scenarios, respectively.

Under a net-net forward-looking base line approach the annual accountable amount is equal to the reported amount minus the FRL in any given year in the reference period. Under the high harvest scenarios, an annual net debit of 134 to 994 Gg of CO₂eq. will be incurred, however, a net credit of -60 to -420 Gg CO₂eq. will be accounted under the low harvest scenario. In the year 2020, the low harvest scenario reports a net emission of 137 Gg CO₂, but the FRL emission is higher (275 Gg CO₂eq.), which means an accounted credit of -138 GgCO₂ is incurred.



A.10.1.1.2. Forward looking baseline (net-net) rules

It is recommended that the proposed accounting framework applied to managed forests be reviewed in the next 3-5 years to determine if a forward-looking baseline [reference level] approach can be adopted for managed forest lands based on the proposal by Grassi et al. (2018). Assuming that the modelling capacity has been developed by that time, the following accounting rules and criteria should be considered in constructing a reference level:

- a) The projected reference level should be based on historical management practice (silvicultural practices they were *actually* applied) used for a defined historic reference period, for which period data needs to be available. Accordingly, the following information should be considered:
 - i) Historic thinning practice such as thinning intensity and frequency for specified species.
 - ii) Historic rotation ages and fallow periods for specific species/management cohorts.
 - iii) Historic proportional inflows of timber products into HWPs.
 - iv) Historic levels of deforestation and afforestation.
 - v) The projected reference level should not include the following factors (after the initial year of the simulation):
 - envisaged increased levels of harvest due to increased demand or future policy;
 - the harvest to volume increment ratios observed for the reference period should not be exceeded in the projected reference level; and
 - planned changes in forest structure, management, or composition of tree species.

Guidance on construction of reference levels are outlined by Grassi et al. (2018).

- b) Models must be able to simulate age-class dynamics because of management and simulations should replicate historical carbon inventory estimates.
- c) The generated reference level must be reviewed and verified by an independent third party based on defined rules before a new accounting cycle is implemented. This can be verified by a technical board set up by the Forestry industry and DFFE.
- d) The South African Forestry Industry advocated the implementation of a Technical Advisory Board to guide the development of revised reporting and accounting rules. Such a body could be involved with the definition of reference periods, implementation of a 100year HWP approach (see Section A.6.2.2), review processes or even model capacity building.
- e) The reference level should be able to simulate all C pools unless a pool is explicitly ruled out in the legislation revision.
- f) There must be a capacity to adjust for changes in methodology over time by implementation of a technical correction when accounting for forest and HWP emissions and removals.
- g) Net-net accounting with a baseline should be applied to both HWP and managed forest to ensure robust and balance accounting.



A.10.1.2. Natural disturbance

Currently it is proposed that emissions from fires be fully discounted until further data is obtained and a proper analysis of a natural disturbance baselines has been completed. A natural disturbance provision should be considered for inclusion in the next phase.

A.10.1.2.1. Accounting of natural disturbances

To minimise the impact of "force majeure" disturbance effects, such as wildfires, a natural disturbance provision, like that used for Kyoto Protocol⁹ accounting and the EU LULUCF regulation¹⁰, can be applied. This eliminates the liability of non-anthropogenic GHG emissions and emissions that are beyond the control of the taxpayer.

The forest industry could consider the use of a background level to correct for non-controlled GHG emissions (Box A.2). Due to climate change the incidence of natural disturbance events will increase (more droughts, hail, heat, etc.). Furthermore, the occurrence of natural disturbance is not similar from year to year. History shows that there are large peaks in certain years when disasters strike, such as the 2007/2008 fires (Figure A.5). Industry will not be penalised for such events that are outside their control if a natural disturbance baseline rule is defined and used.

Carbon stock changes due to natural disturbances and effects beyond human control (e.g. droughts, pests and diseases, fire, frost, snow, etc.) should be excluded from accounting. An attempt has been made to develop a method to partition between the effects (Krug, 2018). Kurz (2018) provided a conceptual framework that can be used as a starting point:

- a) The natural disturbance provision allows areas effected by wildfires to be excluded from accounting if the annual emissions from wildfires in company owned forest exceeds a background level. The burnt area is removed from the accounting until biomass C stocks are equivalent to those before the disturbance event took place.
 - i) The background threshold could be based on historical wildfire data for each eligible company.
 - ii) If the threshold is exceeded in an accounting year, then emissions and removals for these areas are excluded from accounting until such time that the C stocks in these areas are equivalent to the biomass stock before the wildfire event.
 - iii) Companies should still report C annual stock changes for the areas excluded, which must be geospatially explicitly identified (i.e. a GIS boundary, GIS co-ordinates or maps showing boundaries and describing the elements which define the boundary), as a separate item in their annual reporting.
 - iv) Emission associated with salvage logging shall continue to be reported and accounted.
 - v) If the excluded areas are deforested after the natural disturbance provision was applied, then emissions shall be accounted for in the current reporting year when deforestation is identified.

 ⁹ <u>https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2012/cmp8/eng/13a01.pdf#page=2</u>
 ¹⁰ <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv:OJ.L_2018.156.01.0001.01.ENG&toc=OJ:L:2018:156:TOC</u>



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Foresty, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

- vi) Emission from controlled burning, i.e. burning of harvest residues or fire breaks, should be excluded from the natural disturbance provision.
- b) The natural disturbance background must be calculated for afforested and managed forest land activities separately if different accounting frameworks are use.
- c) The background level cannot be adjusted after submission and verification, and it will be applied for all accounting periods (one off submission).



Figure A.5: Plantation area damaged between 1980 and 2017.



Box A.2: The natural disturbance example

The forest areas subject to fire (obtained from Forestry SA data (Forestry SA, 2019)) were used to calculate CO₂eq emissions for the period 1990-2017 using IPCC tier 1 methods and emission factors. The background level is calculated as the mean and the margin is the standard deviation. Outliers are removed from the data set for any given year if the annual emission is greater than the background plus 2 times the margin value (IPCC, 2014). The background and margin values are then recalculated until all outliers are removed. The reference threshold in then determined as the background plus 2 times the margin, when there are no outliers in the calibration dataset (see figure below).



In this figure 2007 and 2008 are outliers and these were removed before the final threshold (margin plus background were estimated). When emissions from fire are greater than the threshold (ca. 2513 Gg CO_2eq) emissions will be excluded from accounting under the natural disturbance provision.

An alternative approach, and one better suited for situations where calibration data is limited, is the minimum background threshold (IPCC, 2014). The threshold is determined as the minimum emission value observed over the time series. In this example the threshold will be 575 Gg CO_2eq (black dashed line in the figure above).



A.10.1.3. Indirect N₂O

The "S" equation includes direct N_2O emissions from fertilisers, however indirect N_2O emissions have not yet been included. This is because they are not currently in the C Tax Act and amendments have not yet been proposed to include these. In addition, direct N_2O emissions are currently fully discounted. Indirect emissions should be considered for inclusion in the second phase if fertiliser emissions are shown to be significant.

A.11. References

- Adu Poku, S. (2015). Plant-Based Carbon Flow Analysis of South African Pulp Mills. MSc Thesis School of Chemical Engineering at the College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban South Africa.
- Aleinikovas, M., Jasinevičius, G., Škėma, M., Beniušienė, L., Šilinskas, B and Varnagirytė-Kabašinskienė*, I. (2018). Assessing the Effects of Accounting Methods for Carbon Storage in Harvested Wood Products on the National Carbon Budget of Lithuania. Forests 2018, 9(12), 737; <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f9120737</u>
- Black, K., Hendrick, E., Gallagher., G., Farrington, P. (2012). Establishment of Irelands projected reference level for Forest Management for the period 2013-2020 under Article 3.4 of the Kyoto Protocol. Irish Forestry 69: 7-32
- Böttcher, H., Kurz, W.A. and Freibauer A. (2008). Accounting of forest carbon sinks and sources under a future climate protocol—factoring out past disturbance and management effects on age– class structure. Environmental Science and Policy 11: 669-686
- Broadmeadow M, Matthews R. (2003). Forests, Carbon and Climate Change: the UK Contribution. Forestry Commission, Information Note 48. Crown Copywright, Edinburgh, UK (2003).
- Brown S, Lim B, Schlamadinger B. (1999). Evaluating approaches for estimating net emissions of carbon dioxide for forest harvesting and wood products. In: IPCC expert workshop, Dakar, Senegal, Paris: IPCC/OECD/IEA.
- Christie, S. & Scholes, R. (1995). Carbon storage in eucalyptus and pine plantations in South Africa. Environmental monitoring and assessment, 38, 231-241.
- Dittmar, T. and Lara, R. J. (2001). Molecular evidence for lignin degradation in sulfate-reducing mangrove sediments (Amazonia, Brazil), Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 65 (9), pp. 1417-1428. DOI: 10.1016/S0016-7037(00)00619-0
- du Toit, B., Dovey, S., Seifert, T., Muyambo, P., & Malherbe, D. (2016). Carbon sequestration in South African plantation forests Progress report number 1: Techniques to estimate net carbon sequestration carbon at the Tier 2 level using available data from local studies and international literature. Johannesburg, South Africa.
- du Toit, B., Dovey, S.B., Seifert, T., Drew, D.M., Malherbe, G.F., Seifert, S., and Kunneke, A. (2019). The South African plantation forestry carbon calculator, Version 1.0. Department of Forest and Wood Science, Stellenbosch University, South Africa.

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

- Ellison D, Lundblad M, Petersson H. (2011). Carbon accounting and the climate politics of forestry. Environmental Science and Policy. 14, 1062-1078.
- Fey A. (2019). A short guide to the soils of South Africa, their distribution and correlation with World Reference Base soil groups. 19th World Congress of Soil Science, Soil Solutions for a Changing World 32, 1 – 6 August 2010, Brisbane, Australia.
- Forestry SA (2019). South African Forestry and Forest Product Industry Facts 1980 2019, Forestry South Africa, KwaZulu-Natal.
- Godsmark, R. S. L. M., & Oberholzer, F. (2019). The South African Forestry and Forest products Industry 2017. Forestry South Africa, Pietermaritzburg.
- Grassi, G., Pilli, R., House, J., Federici, S., Kutz, W.A. (2018). Science-based approach for credible accounting of mitigation in managed forests. Carbon Balance Management 13:8, 4-16
- Henschel C., Ward, M. Rueter, S., Ralph Ashton, R., Bird, N., Frieden, D., Lehtonen, A., Schlamadinger, B., Silvius, M., Tuerk, A. and Zanchi, G. (2008). Options for improving the treatment of LULUCF in a Copenhagen agreement: forest and wetland degradation, factoring out, harvested wood products, and approaches for fuller accounting. < http://www.climatestrategies.org/reportfiles/3_options_for_improving_the_treatment_of_I ulucf_in_a_copenhagen_agreement_august_18_2008.pdf>.
- IPCC. (2006). 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Volume 4. Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use. Eggleston S, Buendia L, Miwa K, Ngara T and Tanabe K (eds.). The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme Technical Support Unit, Japan, Available at: http://www.ipccnggip.iges.or.jp/public/2006gl/vol4.html
- IPCC. (2014). 2013 Revised Supplementary Methods and Good Practice Guidance Arising from the Kyoto Protocol, Hiraishi T, Krug T, Tanabe K, Srivastava N, Baasansuren J, Fukuda M and Troxler TG (eds) Published: IPCC, Switzerland. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/publication/2013revised-supplementary-methods-and-good-practice-guidance-arising-from-the-kyotoprotocol/
- Knowles, T and Christie, S. (2018). Technical guidance for the reporting of GHG emissions from plantation forests, biogenic fuels and harvested wood products within the South African plantation forest and forest products sector. Draft report, GIZ, Pretoria
- Krug JH. (2018). Accounting of GHG emissions and removals from forest management: a long road from Kyoto to Paris. Carbon balance and management 13(1):1-11
- Kurz WA, Hayne S, Fellows M, MacDonald JD, Metsaranta JM, Hafer M, Blain D. (2018). Quantifying the impacts of human activities on reported greenhouse gas emissions and removals in Canada's managed forest: conceptual framework and implementation. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 48(10):1227-40.
- Kurz, W.A., Apps, M.J., Webb, T.M. and McNamee, P.J. (1992). The carbon budget of the Canadian forest sector; Phase 1. Northwest Region Information Report NOR-X-326. Forestry Canada.Northwest Region, Northern Forestry Centre, Edmonton, AL.



- Lippke B, Oneil E, Harrison R, Skog K, Gustavsson L, Sathre R. (2011). Life cycle impacts of forest management and wood utilization on carbon mitigation: knowns and unknowns. Carbon Management. 2(3) 303–333.
- Marland ES, Stellar K, Marland GH. (2010). A distributed approach to accounting for carbon in wood products. Mitigation and Adaptation Stategies for Global Change. 15, 71-91.
- Miner R, Perez-Garcia J. (2007). The greenhouse gas and carbon profile of the global forest products industry. Forest Products Journal 57, 80-90.
- Miner, R. (2006). The 100-Year Method for Forecasting Carbon Sequestration In Forest Products In Use. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change. Springer. DOI: 10.1007/s11027-006-4496-3
- Ndalowa, D. (2014) Evaluation of carbon accounting models for plantation forestry in South Africa. MSc Thesis, Department of Forest and Wood Science, University of Stellenbosch.
- Pingoud K, Skog K, Martino DL, Tonosaki M, Xiaoquan Z, Ford-Robertson J. (2006). Chapter 12. Harvested wood products. IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, pp. 33 + HWP worksheet MS Excel. IGES, Japan.
- Pingoud, K., Wagner, F. (2006). Methane Emissions from Landfills and Carbon Dynamics of Harvested Wood Products: The First-Order Decay Revisited. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 11(5):961-978
- Profft I, Mund M, Weber GE, Weller E, Schulze ED. (2009). Forest management and carbon sequestration in wood products. European Journal of Forest Research. 128, 399-413
- Row, C. and Phelps, B. (1996). 'Wood carbon flows and storage after timber harvest', Forests and global change: Volume 2. Forest management opportunities for mitigating carbon emissions. Edited by Sampson and Hair. Published by American Forests, Washington DC.
- Sathre R, O'Connor J. (2010). A synthesis of research on wood products and greenhouse gas impacts, 2nd edition, Technical Report No. TR-19R, FP Innovations, Vancouver, BC.
- Skog K & Nicholson G.A. (1998). Carbon cycling through wood products: The role of wood and paper products. Forest Products Journal 48(7):75-83.
- Skog K E. (2008). Sequestration of carbon in harvested wood products for the United States. Forest Products Journal, 58, 56-72.
- Skog KE, Nicholson GA. (2000). Carbon sequestration in wood and paper products. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-59 (2000).
- Somogyi, Z. (2019). CASMOFOR version 6.1. NARIC Forest Research Institute, Budapest. Website: http://www.scientia.hu/casmofor
- UNECE. (2010). Forest product conversion factors for the UNECE region. Geneva timber and forest discussion paper 49. United Nations publication, Geneva.



Vácha. D. (2011). Harvested wood products: approaches methodology and application, Report to IPCCunderTSU,IPCCinternshipAvailableat:http://portal.chmi.cz/files/portal/docs/uoco/oez/nis/hwp/hwpstudyvacha.pdf

Winjum JK, Brown S, Schlamandinger B. (1998). Forest harvests and wood products-sources and sinks of atmospheric carbon dioxide. Forest Science 44, 272-284


Appendix A

Proposed amendments to the Carbon Tax Act

The problem statement	Place in the C Tax Act	Proposed change
Basic tax-free allowance for fossil fuel emissions – see schedule 2 related to treatment of net emissions from S	Line 25 on page 14 (expression E-S)	Add "If the sum of subcategories 3B1a, 3B1b, 3C1a, 3C4, and 3D1 is an accountable net emission then "(E-S)"=E."
Application of the threshold in schedule 2 for reporting and accounting of forestry activities	Schedule 2, 3C1a, under the threshold column	Delete N/A and replace with threshold to allow for reporting under "S".
Application of the threshold in schedule 2 for accounting of fertilisers	Schedule 2, 3C4, under the threshold column	Delete N/A and replace with threshold to allow for reporting under "S".
Application of the threshold in schedule 2 for accounting of HWP	Schedule 2, 3D1, under the threshold column	Delete N/A and replace with threshold to allow for reporting under "S".



Chapter B: Accounting Rulebook for Forest Plantations

B.1. Purpose of the Accounting Rulebook

The purpose of the Accounting Rulebook is to provide an instrument for inclusion of carbon sequestration ("S") as a component of the C Tax Act accounting framework under the relevant legislation applicable in South Africa. It provides a set of accounting rules to be adhered to by entities when accounting carbon tax liabilities.

B.2. Introduction

Although C sequestration and emissions from the South African Forestry Industry have been reported in the National Greenhouse Gas (GHG) inventory, values have been calculated at a national level using information available to Government and application of a combination of country specific and default values set out in the IPCC guidelines. With the implementation of the C Tax liability for emissions will be calculated at a company level. The IPCC has acknowledged that there are challenges associated with the application of the guidelines to areas other than national inventories, such as carbon accounting, and has held expert meetings to review these (e.g. Sofia, 1-3 July 2014). Some major challenges include difference in boundary-setting, availability, detail and quality of data, questions of appropriateness of emission factors and activity data, insufficient level of detail for specific applications and the non-prescriptive nature of guidance on some issues.

The accounting rules outlined in this document are based primarily on criteria set out in the C Tax Act and proposed modifications to the C Tax Act (see Appendix A), but also in line with international agreements, such as the Paris Agreement, agreements from other UNFCCC Conference of the Parties (particularly 16CMP/1¹¹, 2CMP/7 and 8), the voluntary market principles and climate change policy drivers behind the C Tax Act (2019). In addition, country specific factors based on consultation with Forestry South Africa and PAMSA were also considered.

B.2.1. Definition of "S" for carbon accounting

For the purposes of this Accounting Rulebook "S" in the C Tax Act is defined as stated in Equation A.4. of Chapter A.

B.2.2. Emission pools or sources included under the various forest activities

Forest plantations can accumulate carbon in three different pools, i.e. living biomass, dead organic matter (DOM, that includes dead wood and litter) and soil organic carbon (SOC). Conversely, if forest plantation is change to a non-forest used, this can result in GHG emissions. Management practices (e.g. application of fertiliser and controlled burning) and wildfires also results in GHG emissions. Table B.1 indicates which pools or emission sources included in the reporting and accounting of "S".

¹¹ https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2005/cmp1/eng/08a03.pdf

Component in Eq B.1	C Pools or non-CO ₂ emissions	Gases	Forest activity
S _{HWP}	Sawnwood, wood-based products, pulp and paper	CO ₂	All except deforestation
	Aboveground biomass (AGB)	CO ₂	All
	Belowground biomass (BGB)	CO ₂	All
ΔC	Deadwood and litter (DOM)	CO2	If Tier 1 and 2 are applied, changes only included for afforestation (1st rotation forests up to 20-years old) and deforestation. If Tier 3 is applied, changes included for managed forests as well.
	Mineral soils (SOC)	CO ₂	If Tier 1 and 2 are applied, changes only included for afforestation (1st rotation forests up to 20-years old). If Tier 3 is applied, changes included for managed forests as well.
Sa	Wildfires	CO ₂ [#] , CH ₄ , N ₂ O	Reported but not accounted
Ofire	Controlled burning	CO ₂ [#] , CH ₄ , N ₂ O	Reported but not accounted
S _{fert}	Emissions associated with application of fertilisers	N ₂ O	Reported but not accounted

Table B.1: Sources included in the reporting and accounting of "S" for the C Tax Act.

[#]CO₂ emissions from grassland are excluded

B.3. Accounting Rules

B.3.1. Eligibility

The current eligibility criteria under the C Tax Act is an area threshold of 100ha. The eligibility criteria is redefined (see Section A.6.1) to facilitate accounting HWP removals from 3rd party timber harvests, where owned forest areas are less than 100 ha. The rationale is that eligibility to register and account should be based on the criteria to report "E" and not on the area threshold.

B.3.1.1. Ownership and liability



- a) Only taxpayers that are eligible to report and account for "E", as stipulated under the C Tax Act, can account for forest and HWP emissions and removals ("S").
- b) Once an area of forest owned by an eligible taxpayer (B.3.1.1.a) is included and registered for accounting, then it shall continue to be reported and accounted for subsequent tax periods.
- c) To avoid double accounting, ownership of the removals by HWP resides with the processing company and not the plantation from which it is sourced.
- d) Inflows of harvest from other registered taxpaying companies into HWP may be accounted by the eligible taxpayer, provided that the source and amount HWP inflows are transparently identified.
- e) Eligible taxpayers may <u>voluntarily</u> elect to account for forest emissions/removals and inflows into HWP from 3rd party forest plantations areas subjected to, lease, harvest rights or supply contract agreements with the eligible manufacturing company. In this case:
 - i. It is the eligible taxpayer's responsibility to report and account for 3rd party forestry emissions/removals associated with harvests included in HWP inflows.
 - ii. All 3rd party forest emissions and removals <u>shall</u> be reported and accounted only in the year that harvests from the 3rd party forest area is used as inflows to HWPs.
 - iii. 3rd party HWP inflows may only be accounted if proof of chain of custody certification is provided in the year relevant HWP inflows are accounted.
 - iv. The 3rd party area of forest associated with harvest must be the unit (e.g. subcompartment) that was harvested (not the total forest area owned by the 3rd Party) and this area must be identifiable and traceable (using GIS or maps).
 - v. If the harvested timber from a unit of 3rd party land is sold to more than one registered taxpaying company, then the individual taxpayer shall transparently account for the equivalent proportion of emissions from harvest and inflow into the HWP pool.
- f) If there is a change in ownership, lease or harvest rights, all emissions and removals are the liability of the new landowner.
- g) Only domestically sourced wood from forest land registered by the taxpayer, other registered taxpayers under the act, or accounted 3rd party area are eligible to be accounted as HWP inflows (see Section B.3.1.1.a and e).

B.3.2. Accounting categories and activities

B.3.2.1. Afforestation and deforestation activities

- a) Afforestation (A), deforestation (D) and associated harvested wood products (HWPs) shall be identified and reported as separate activities and accounted for annually on a gross-net basis¹².
- b) Afforestation areas shall include all established 1st rotation forests for the first 20 years of the rotation. After 20-years, these areas shall be transition to the managed forest land category.

¹² Justification for gross-net accounting is provided in section 10.1 of final report.

B.3.2.2. Forest management activities

- a) Managed forest areas include all managed forest activities which do not fall under the A and D activities.
- b) Forest management and associated HWPs should be reported as a separate activity.
- c) Accounting of managed forest areas shall be accounted for on a gross-net basis¹³.

B.3.2.3. 3rd Party forest activities

- a) Election of accounting emissions and removals in forest and HWP for 3rd party areas (see B.3.1.1.e) is voluntary.
- b) To avoid double accounting, emissions and removals associated with the areas (i.e. see B.3.1.1.d and e) of forests owned by 3rd parties shall be reported as a separate category and transparently accounted in the year associated harvests are accounted as HWP inflows.

B.3.2.4. Controlled burning

a) Controlled burning must be reported in the accounting tool but is given a 100% discount so is not included in the accounting output.

B.3.2.5. Harvested wood products

- a) Harvested wood product emissions and removals from afforested activities may be reported and accounted under forest management activities if taxpayers cannot distinguish the amount of harvest coming from afforestation or forest management activities. However, deforestation, other registered taxpayers and 3rd party HWP removals should be reported as separate categories.
- b) Harvested wood products shall be estimated based on the mass balance approach (see Section 0 of Chapter A).
- c) Estimation of mass flow components shall be based on mass flow fractions specific for each HWP category and industrial process (i.e. default factors and methods outlined in the methodological guidelines (see Chapter C, Section C.3.3) or higher tier methods developed by the taxpayer, providing that the methods used are demonstrated to be transparent, verifiable, applicable and accurate.
- d) Annual inflows into the HWP mass balance equation (mC_{RM}) shall only include:
 - Domestic timber harvested from company owned or leased land or timber purchased from registered taxpaying companies or 3rd parties which is used for production of HWP produced by the company owned manufacture facility.

¹³ It is recommended that net-net accounting be introduced when the industry has capacity to use models and projected emissions/removals as a base line (Section 12.1 of final report).



- ii. To avoid double accounting, recycled pulp or mill residues produced by the taxpayer and used for production of the HWP shall not be considered as inflows because these are already included in the mass balance calculations.
- iii. All inflows shall not have previously been accounted as HWP sequestration by a registered 3rd party or the registered company.
- Inflows should exclude purchased processed wood products from registered and 3rd parties or cascaded wood products.
- v. Purchased sawmill or pulp <u>waste</u> residues from other registered taxpayer can be included as inflows. For example, sawmill residues from sawn wood production can be included as inflows if purchased by a wood-based panel manufacturing facility. Similarly, if a registered taxpayer has different processing facilities, the wood-based waste from other production lines can be used of inflows only if it can be demonstrated that removals are not double accounted (i.e. verifiable information must be provided to show that waste inflows are not already included in the mass flow balance of the seller).
- vi. Timber originating from deforested land must be excluded from HWP inflows in the year deforestation is detected.
- e) Accountable outflows shall include:
 - i. Biogenic gaseous CO_2 emissions. These shall be reported but are discounted by 100% in the C Tax Act. N₂O and CH₄ emissions are reported and accounted as "E" in the C Tax Act.
 - ii. Solid or liquid waste emissions shall also be reported if the defined thresholds set out in the C Tax Act are exceeded. Accounting of all waste emissions are 100% discounted in the C Tax Act.
 - iii. CO₂eq from CH₄ and N₂O emissions from waste should be reported under HWP IPCC category 3D1 as set out in the C Tax Act.
 - f) The accounting of HWP removals shall acknowledge that long term storage of C is greater in sawn wood and wood-based panels than paper. It is also acknowledged that the half-life decay approach as set out under the IPCC may conservatively overestimate HWP emissions and underestimate long term storage. Therefore, to facilitate accounting of reported mC_{HWP} for each HWP category and/or subcategories will be weighted and discounted based on long-term C retention potentials (96 years, see landfill (or LCA) approach in Chapter C, Section C.3.3)¹⁴.
 - g) Should mass flow factors for a particular processing facility (i.e. tier 2 or 3) not be available, a taxpayer may use default recovery fractions (see Chapter C Section C.3.3 and Appendix C) to estimate HWP removals.
 - h) If tier 2 mass flow and recovery factors are confidential, then this information can be provided during the verification under a non-disclosure agreement between DFFE and the taxpayer.

¹⁴ See section A.6.2.2.1 of Chapter A for justification and arguments for application of the LCA approach and recommendation for implementation of the 100 year accounting approach when required national data is available.



- i) HWP removals for use as fuels, such as firewood, charcoal and matches, are not considered as long term HWP pools and are excluded from "S" in the tax equation.
- j) Additional information on annual (tax period) harvested timber owned and sold by the taxpayer and timber purchased from other companies within the tax scheme for production of HWP should be provided when accounting, including:
 - i. The total harvest from eligible forest areas owned by the taxpayer.
 - ii. Timber harvested by the taxpayer and used for production of company owned HWP production facilities.
 - iii. Timber purchased from other registered taxpayers for production of company owned HWP production facilities.
 - iv. Timber purchased for HWP from accounted forest areas owned by a 3rd party.
 - v. All HWPs produced by the company in the tax period, by type of HWP.

B.3.3. Permanence

- a) Once emissions and removals are reported and accounted by a taxpayer, these forest areas should continue to be reported for subsequent accounting periods.
 - i. The permanence condition B.3.3. a will not apply if a registered taxpayers production facility is sold and/or the threshold to account to "E" under the C Tax Act is not met¹⁵.
 - ii. If deforestation occurs in registered forest areas, biomass, litter, and deadwood C pools will be assumed to be immediately / instantaneously oxidised. Tier 1 emission factors can be used for deadwood pools if no company specific data exists.
 - iii. SOC emissions or removals on deforested land shall not be reported or accounted because other land uses are not included in the 2019 C Tax Act.
 - iv. If there is a change in ownership after deforestation occurs, all emissions and removals are the liability of the new landowner.
 - v. All eligible deforestation emissions and removals will be accounted as a debit in the year the deforestation event takes place.
 - vi. If the registered forest area is clear felled and not replanted before sale or lease to a new owner, whom is not eligible for registration or reporting under the scheme, the entity that reported HWP will be debited all emissions from biomass, litter, deadwood and HWP pools in the year before the clear fell event took place (i.e. from all C pools except for SOC) on land and from HWP, using the immediate oxidation assumption applied in clause B.3.3.3.(a) ii.
 - vii. The registered area may be withdrawn from the scheme without any penalties (and not accounted) in the event of rescinding or withdrawal of a water use licence under the National Water Act (Act No. 36 of 1998), removal of plantations from river courses (includes wetlands) as defined in the National Water Act 1998, (Act No. 36 of 1998), or as

¹⁵ Note: liability for accounting of E and S is based on ownership as defined in the act, therefore companies cannot be liable for sold land and strict adherence to the permanence principle cannot be satisfied. However, this may lead to leakage of emissions or emission avoidance. (also applies to B.5.3 iv)



a result of successful land claims, mandatory clearing of invasive species (Conservation of Agricultural Resource Act, 1983 (Act No. 43 of 1983); National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act: Alien and Invasive Species Regulations). However, proof of a withdrawal notice should be submitted in the year areas are withdrawn.

- b) Each registered company shall account for all changes in the following carbon pools: aboveground biomass, below-ground biomass, litter, dead wood, soil organic and harvested wood products (see Table B.1). A company may choose not to account for litter, deadwood and soil pools if transparent and verifiable information is provided showing that the pool is not a source. However, once a pool is reported under an activity, then it must continue to be reported for subsequent tax periods.
- c) When accounting, a taxpayer should distinguish temporary unplanted (TUP) land from deforested land. TUP areas that have not been replanted within a period of 5 years after a clear-fell, or where there is clear evidence of land use change, shall be deemed to be deforested. Emissions from these disturbed areas shall be accounted when land use change occurs or when the 5-year period between clear-fell and replanting has expired (whichever occurs first).
- d) If previously accounted mandatory forest areas are sold or where the lease has expired, the following information shall be provided [in the relevant year of submission]:
 - i. The name and registration identification of owner reporting to the SAGERS or the name of unregistered owner.
 - ii. The carbon stock for biomass at the time the registered areas were sold.
- e) To minimise liability due to force majeure disturbances such as wildfires, a natural disturbance provision may be applied in the future (see Chapter A, Section A.10.1.2). The current legislature does not, however, require the accounting of emissions from forest fires, but does require reporting (i.e. wildfire emissions are reported in the accounting tool but a 100% discount is applied).

B.3.4. Accounting periods and intervals

- Reporting Period: The period for all reporting will be from the beginning (1 January) to the end of the tax year (31st December) preceding the reporting cycle.
- b) Reporting cycle: Data for the preceding year must be reported to SAGERS by 31 March each year.

B.3.5. Robustness

- a) The treatment of any accounted activities will be based on sound science.
- b) All activities shall be reported using the prescribed tier 1 methods if company specific activity data does not exist. Company or manufacturing process specific methods (tier 2) or models (tier 3) methods can be used if the approach is transparently documented and justified by references.
- c) The reversal of any removal due to land-use change and forestry activities will be accounted for in the year when the activities occur.
- d) Taxpayers may choose not to include in their accounts changes in carbon stocks if it can be demonstrated that the carbon pool is not a source. The option shall, however, not apply to the



carbon pools of biomass and harvested wood products in the land accounting category of managed forest land and afforestation.

- e) Reported emissions and removals must be verified by DFFE in accordance with the Verification Guidelines before debit or credits can be accounted (see Chapter D).
- f) The pools and emission sources considered for reporting and accounting of emissions and removals are outlined in Table B.1.

B.3.6. Additionality

- a) The mere presence of carbon stocks is excluded from reporting and accounting¹⁶ (i.e. only C stock change is reported for the accounting year and activity, and not the C stocks cumulated from the past).
- b) Accounting should exclude removals resulting from indirect human activities:
 - i. Elevated carbon dioxide concentrations above their pre-industrial level.
 - ii. Indirect nitrogen deposition.
 - iii. The dynamic effects of age structure resulting from activities and practices before the accounting year, assuming robust scientific information becomes available.

Note: the gross-net accounting rule does factor out indirect human induced activities, particularly for forest management. The SA forestry industry does not currently have capacity to implement a net-net accounting system (see Chapter A, Section A.10.1.1).

c) Only managed forest land is eligible to comply. Therefore, natural forests or woodlands are excluded from accounting, but only if they are not managed.

B.3.7. Incentives and policy alignment

- a) The information required to report and account for forestry related activities under the C Tax Act (2019) is consistent with the information required under the NGER with some additional elements:
 - i. Different eligibility criteria to facilitate inclusion of 3rd party harvest in HWP accounting.
 - ii. Additional reporting requirements for deforestation and HWP to ensure the principles of carbon accounting are adhered to (see Chapter A, Section A.5).
 - iii. Reporting but not accounting for emissions from fires and fertiliser application.
 - iv. Discounting of waste carbon emissions associated with wood processing under HWP.
 - v. Additional verification and validation data requirement to ensure adherence to accounting rules.
- b) In order to incentivise afforestation and to disincentivise deforestation, activities should be accounted on a gross-net basis.

¹⁶ For example, produced HWP stock cannot be considered as an accountable removal amount without considering emissions due to product life cycle or harvest emissions.



- c) Forest management activities should be accounted for on a gross-net basis. However, future rules should consider a net-net accounting in cases such as:
 - i. Where forests with declining stock due to legacy management practice, age class structure changes or natural phenomena can be fairly accounted without penalising as an owner or entity for indirect human induced effects (see additionality principle in Chapter A, Section A.5). This may be best done using a net -net accounting approach but gross-net approach is currently recommended until such time modelling capacity is developed.
 - ii. Incentivised management actions in cases where forest stocks are increasing or where improvement to stock changes are brought about by management or genetic improvement for successive rotations, managed forest land removals and emissions should be accounted for based on a net-net approach relative to a reference period. A gross-net approach is, however, recommended until such time modelling capacity is developed.

B.3.8. Leakage

- a) Increased emissions of GHGs or decreased carbon removals should not result outside the accounting framework boundary. For example: use of timber sourced from outside South Africa for production of HWPs could result in increased emission or deforestation in other regions.
- b) HWP inflows are only permitted from domestically produced timber harvested or purchased from registered and reporting forest owners under the C tax scheme, or from 3rd parties which implement the current rules.

B.3.9. Double accounting

- a) Where carbon credits have been claimed by a manufacturer for HWPs these products cannot be included as a carbon inflow into the HWP pool for a taxpayer.
- b) Emissions and removals cannot be accounted for under more than one accounting category.

B.3.10. Significance

- a) To reduce the administrative burden of reporting very small emissions that do not have a significant impact on overall emission or removals, a threshold test for significance pools can be applied:
 - Emissions may be excluded from reporting and accounting if it is smaller than a significance threshold which is a percentage of the total emissions for all, energy, processing, forest and HWP activities (i.e. sum of absolute emissions from "E" and "S").
 - ii. The threshold for exclusion is <0.05% of the total emissions for both "E" and "S".

B.3.11. Global Warming Potentials

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

In line with the updated reporting requirements of the NGER, entities will report GHGs separately (CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O). Thereafter, based on their relative Global Warming Potentials (GWPs), a CO₂eq amount is calculated and used to estimate "S" using Equation A.4. The C Tax Act specifies the use of GWP values set out in the IPCC third assessment (IPCC, 2001) report be used for calculation of CO₂ equivalent values, which is 296 CO₂eq for N₂O and 23 CO₂eq for CH₄.

B.4. References

- IPCC (2001). Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Houghton, J.T., Y. Ding, D.J. Griggs, M. Noguer, P.J. van der Linden, X. Dai, K. Maskell, and C.A. Johnson (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 881pp.
- Knowles, T and Christie, S. (2018). Technical guidance for the reporting of GHG emissions from plantation forests, biogenic fuels and harvested wood products within the South African plantation forest and forest products sector. Draft report, GIZ, Pretoria
- Skog K & Nicholson G.A. (1998). Carbon cycling through wood products: The role of wood and paper products. Forest Products Journal 48(7):75-83.



Chapter C: Methodological Guidelines for Land Activities in Forest Plantations

C.1. Introduction

The Methodological Guidelines serve as a background document to facilitate the understanding and completion by companies of the Carbon Tax Sequestration MRV Tool for Forest Plantations and Timber Processing Industry (hereafter referred to as 'MRV tool') for reporting, and the verification of the information reported. The guidelines are underpinned by the Accounting Rulebook for Forest Plantations (hereafter referred to as the 'Accounting Rulebook') for the accounting of forest plantations and timber processing industry greenhouse gas emissions and removals under the C Tax Act.

C.1.1. Carbon sequestration Methodology

The net sequestration by forest and forest products ("S") is defined in Section A.4 and in the Accounting Rulebook as:

 $S = - S_{HWP} - \Delta C - S_{fire} - S_{fert}$

Where:

- S_{HWP} = The amount of carbon located in harvested wood products (expressed in t CO₂eq). Note that it is an IPCC convention that a flux into the atmosphere (emissions) is denoted as a positive flux and sequestration (removals) as a negative flux;
- ΔC = Annual change in plantation carbon stocks, expressed in t CO₂eq. Note that it is an IPCC convention that a flux into the atmosphere (emissions) is denoted as a positive flux and sequestration (removals) as a negative flux;
- S_{fire} = Emissions from fire (N₂O and CH₄ expressed in t CO₂eq);
- S_{fert} = The fraction of emissions from applied fertiliser (N₂O expressed in t CO₂eq) growth of wood.

Note: Emissions from fires and fertilisation are to be reported, but not accounted. The reporting conversion for net sequestration is that it should be denoted as a negative value i.e. removal of CO_2eq , however, when entering S into the C Tax formulae [equation 1 main project report] it should have a positive sign.

In accordance with the Accounting Rulebook, the four activities to be reported are:

1) Forest Management;



- 2) Afforestation;
- 3) Deforestation; and
- 4) HWP production.

The emission pools or sources included under the various activities are outlined in the Accounting Rulebook (Table B.1). Deforestation has been split into "elective deforestation" and "mandatory deforestation" within the MRV tool so that reporters are not penalised for any mandatory deforestation activities. All emissions and removals from any mandatory deforestation activity will be 100 % discounted for accounting purposes. Where descriptions within these guidelines refer to "deforestation", it can be assumed that the text refers to both elective and mandatory deforestation.

C.1.2. Purpose of the Methodological Guidelines

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions represented by the variable "E" in the C Tax formula are calculated in accordance with the methodology set out in the Technical Guidelines for Monitoring, Reporting and Verification of Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Industry (DEA, 2017). The purpose of these guidelines is to provide guidance on the methodology for determining the sequestration or "S" factor in the C Tax formula. The guidelines aim to facilitate the understanding and completion by companies of the MRV tool for reporting, and the verification of the information reported. The guidelines are in line with the Accounting Rulebook that contain the accounting rules for the C Tax Act (Accounting Rulebook, Chapter B of this document).

C.2. Structure of the Methodological Guidelines

The following sections describe the methods for the estimate of emissions/removals from the different sources and sinks contained within the MRV tool and Accounting Rulebook. Firstly, the source is described, then the calculation method is presented followed by a list of the data required for the estimates in the MRV tool. Examples of calculations are shown within the orange boxes. Finally, there are three sections which state the data that is to be reported by the companies, the data that is to be verified and the reference to the Accounting Rulebook for the corresponding source.

C.2.1. Relation to Accounting Rulebook and MRV Tool

These methodological guidelines are complementary to the Accounting Rulebook and the MRV tool.

The corresponding section of the Accounting Rulebook is referred to throughout these methodological guidelines as:

Section [name of section] in the Accounting Rulebook

The MRV tool is a Microsoft Excel file which aims to collect information on emissions and removals from companies that are subject to reporting and/or accounting obligations. The emission/removal estimate methods implemented in the MRV tool are explained in these methodological guidelines. The corresponding sheet in the MRV tool is referred to throughout these methodological guidelines as:



Sheet [name of sheet] in the MRV tool

The MRV tool contains various sheets (Table C.1) with different purposes: introduction and instruction, textual data collection, variable/parameters used, emissions/removal estimates, accounting, and verification. Therefore, the MRV tool allows simultaneously for the Reporting, Accounting and Verification of the emission/removal estimates.

Table C.1: Content o	ft	he MRV tool	: s	heets	and	purpose.
----------------------	----	-------------	-----	-------	-----	----------

Sheet name and	Description
Content and Instructions	This sheet contains information on the MRV tool content and general instructions for its use. It contains the list of sheets in the MRV tool, the colour coding used, an acronym list and a reference list.
Company Details	This sheet contains general organisation details to be filled by the user.
Facility Register	This sheet contains the main plantation details to be filled by the user.
3 rd Party Register	This sheet contains the details of the 3rd parties from which the reporting facility has purchased wood. The 3rd Party ID should match the 3rd Party entered in the "Ownership" column in the 'Land Stock-Difference Method'/'Land Gain-Loss Method' tabs.
Parameters	This sheet contains default IPCC 2006 Guidance and country-specific parameters to support the estimates.
BCEF Lookups	This sheet contains factors for expansion of merchantable growing stock volume to standing above-ground biomass (BCEF _s), for conversion of net annual volume increment to biomass growth (BCEF _I) and for conversion of wood and fuelwood removal volume to above-ground biomass removal (BCEF _R).
Supporting Calculations	This sheet provides suggested calculations for generating activity data/emissions/removals estimates to be used in the yellow compilation sheets. Defaults are provided where available, but if alternative data which is more representative for the company circumstances and is justifiable and verifiable is available, this should be used.
Land Stock- Difference method*	This sheet provides emissions/removals estimates due to the change in Carbon Stock in living biomass using the gain-loss method.
Land Gain-Loss method*	This sheet provides emissions/removals estimates due to the change in Carbon Stock in living biomass using the stock-difference method.
нwр	This sheet provides emissions/removals estimates due to HWP.
Wildfires	This sheet provides emission estimates due to wildfires
Controlled burning	This sheet provides emission estimates due to controlled burning.
Fertilisation	This sheet provides emission estimates due to fertilisation
Reporting & Accounting	This sheet provides the summary of estimates for reporting and accounting purposes.
Verification	This sheet provides a list of checks that can be completed for verification purposes.
List	This sheet contains the values for the dropdown lists used in the MRV tool.



* Either the Gain-Loss or Stock-Difference method should be used, not both. The other should be left empty.

The MRV tool includes instructions to allow its use as a standalone file. However, further explanation on the methods implemented is presented in these Methodological Guidelines. In addition, the MRV tool utilises colour coding for the fields to facilitate its use (Table C.2).

Table C.2: Colour coding used in the MRV tool.

Input data: data required to be included by the user
Emissions/removals: calculated emissions/removals
Calculation/linked cells: cells with formulae, automatically updated. Do not change
Conversion factors & constants
Assumptions/assumed values
Checks

<u>Note on input data</u>: these methodological guidelines include tables to show the data that is required to complete the estimates in the MRV tool. The user has the option to use the Sheet Supporting calculations in the MRV tool to estimate some of the variables needed in other sheets in the MRV tool, these cases are highlighted throughout these guidelines.

<u>Note on the use of different tiers</u>: the estimation methods included in the MRV tool allows for reporting of emissions and removals using different tiers:

- Tier 1: using the equations for the estimates as implemented in the MRV tool and default IPCC 2006¹⁷ or country specific values for the required parameters. These factors are included in the Sheet Parameters in the MRV tool and can found in Appendix C.3 and C.4. Tier 1 methods and country-specific parameters have been specially selected for the South African forestry sector.
- Tier 2: using the equations for the estimates as implemented in the MRV tool and facilityspecific values for several parameters.
- **Tier 3**: when other methods, different from those implemented in the MRV tool are used. The MRV tool allows for the reporting of emissions/removals and the parameters required for verification.

¹⁷ The only exception is the stock change factors for SOC which are taken from IPCC 2019 Refinement.

The MRV tool has formulae implemented for Tier 1 and Tier 2 estimates. When applying Tier 2 with facility-specific parameters, justification of the appropriateness of those parameters must be provided. In the case of Tier 3, less input data is needed in the MRV tool since Tier 3 estimates are only reported, not calculated, using the MRV tool. When applying Tier 3, a description of the methods used, and justification of their appropriateness must be provided as part of the annual reporting. In addition, inputs required for verification must also be provided.

Each of the columns in the MRV tool tables where data must be reported have the structure shown in Table C.3, showing the variable, instructions and tier.

Table C.3: Structure of the columns in reporting tables in the MRV tool.

e.g.: Forest ID	1^{st} row (title row): Name of the variable
e.g.: INFORMATION ROW (do not delete)	2^{nd} row: instructions to fill in the column
e.g.: INFORMATION ROW - TIERS (do not delete)	3 rd row: Tier for which the column is to be filled

Implementation of Tiers in the MRV Tool

The MRV tool implements Tier 1 and provides default values, sourced from both IPCC 2006 and country specific values, sourced from various publications.

Companies can use their own parameters where information is available and is justified with supporting documentation.

Complete the Methodology Information Boxes included at the top of each of the yellow compilation sheets to provide a description of which tier, or combination of tiers has been applied.

Tier used for carbon stock change:	Methodology Information Box
T1	
Т2	



C.3. Methodological Guidelines for Reporting and Accounting Carbon Sequestration in Forest Plantations

It should be noted that increases in carbon stocks, i.e. positive (+) stock changes, represent a removal (or 'negative' emission) from the atmosphere, while decreases in carbon stocks, i.e. negative (-) stock changes, represent a positive emission to the atmosphere.

Forest plantations represent three different carbon pools, i.e. living biomass, dead organic matter (DOM, that includes dead wood and litter) and soil organic carbon (SOC). Management practices (e.g. thinning and harvesting, application of fertiliser and controlled burning) and natural disturbances (e.g. wildfires) results in CO₂ removals enhancement and GHG emissions. Table B.1 in Chapter B of this document indicates which pools or emission sources are mandatory for reporting or accounting.

C.3.1. Area tracking for the reporting of Annual Change in Plantation Carbon Stocks, ΔC

As determined in the Accounting Rulebook, and in line with IPCC 2006, the afforestation areas shall include all forest for the first 20 years. After 20-years, these areas shall transition to the managed forest land category. The variable/column "age category" in the tables in the MRV tool allows for the tracking of areas:

- Afforestation: "age category" indicates the number of years since the afforestation occurred. This cannot be 0, it should be 1 in the year of the afforestation and up to 20 years (≤ 20 years), because starting the year 21st the land will be subject to forest management (see Box C.1 for example). The age information is considered in the estimates of carbon stock change in DOM and SOC. The first year the land is afforested (age category = 1), previous land use can be Grassland, Annual Cropland, Perennial cropland or Other. The following years, the previous land use should be Afforestation.
- Forest management: "age category" indicates the number of years of the rotation. This should be ≥ 21 years for the first rotation and can be any value for the following rotations.
- Deforestation: "age category" indicates the age of the managed forest land deforested or the age of the afforested land deforested. The age information in the deforested lands is considered in the estimates of carbon stock change in DOM. Taxpayers should have a system for distinguishing between deforestation and temporary unplanted (TUP) land.



Box C. 1: Reporting of Afforested areas

In the forest AX32, 2 ha of grassland are afforested with *Pinus patula* in 2020, 4 ha in 2021 and 3 ha in 2022. The reported data in the reporting year 2022 should be:

Forest ID	Activity	Previous land use category	Species/Genus	Age Category	Area (ha)
AX32	Afforestation	Grassland	Pinus patula	1	3
AX32	Afforestation	Afforestation	Pinus patula	2	4
AX32	Afforestation	Afforestation	Pinus patula	3	2

C.3.2. Annual Change in Plantation Carbon Stocks, ΔC

There are two main methods for GHG estimates in the LULUCF sector as presented in 2006 IPCC Guidelines (IPCC, 2006):

- The Gain-Loss Method estimates the net balance based on the estimation of gains and losses separately for each individual reported year.
- The Stock-Difference Method is based on carbon stocks in relevant pools measured at two points in time to assess carbon stock changes.

In the MRV tool, both methods have been implemented for the estimates of carbon stock change in living biomass. However, the gain-loss method for DOM and SOC pools requires models that simulate DOM and SOC dynamics and these are not implemented in the MRV tool. Therefore, the estimates of DOM and SOC carbon stock change in the Sheet Land Gain-loss method in the MRV tool applies stock-difference method so that all carbon stock changes in all pools can be estimated in one single sheet of the MRV tool, regardless the method used for living biomass.

For transparency, the estimation method for DOM and SOC are explained in different sections of these methodological guidelines (see Sections C.3.2.3 and C.3.2.4 below).

C.3.2.1. Living biomass pool: Gain-loss method

Sheet Land Gain-Loss Method in the MRV tool

The gain loss method, as presented in the 2006 IPCC guidelines, requires the biomass carbon loss to be subtracted from the biomass carbon gain¹⁸.

¹⁸ For further explanation of the gain-loss method, refer to Volume 4, Chapter 2 of 2006 IPCC Guidelines.



No. 45816 91

SCHEDULE

Calculation method in the MRV tool

The calculations for emissions/removals from the change in carbon stock in living biomass are based on the IPCC 2006 Tier 1 Biomass Gain-Loss Method (Equation 2.7 in IPCC 2006 volume 4, chapters 2 and 4). Emissions/removals are calculated based on the following equations:

$$\Delta C_B = \Delta C_G - \Delta C_L$$

Equation C.1

Equation C.2

Where:

- ΔC_B = annual change in carbon stocks in biomass (the sum of above-ground and below-ground biomass) for each land sub-category, considering the total area, t C yr⁻¹
- ΔC_G = annual increase in carbon stocks due to biomass growth for each land sub-category, considering the total area, t C yr⁻¹
- ΔC_L = annual decrease in carbon stocks due to biomass loss for each land sub-category, considering the total area, t C yr⁻¹

<u>Annual increase in biomass carbon stocks</u> due to biomass increment in land remaining in the same land-use category are calculated based on the following equation (Equation 2.9 in IPCC 2006 volume 4, chapter 2) with examples provided in Box C.2 and C.3:

$$\Delta C_G = \sum_{i,j} (A_{i,j} \times G_{TOTAL_{i,j}} \times CF_{i,j})$$

Where:

- ΔC_G = annual increase in biomass carbon stocks due to biomass growth in land remaining in the same land-use category by vegetation type and climatic zone, t C yr⁻¹
- A = area of land remaining in the same land-use category or in conversion, ha
- G_{TOTAL}= mean annual biomass growth, t d.m. ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹
- *i* = ecological zone (*i* = 1 to *n*)
- *j* = climate domain (*j* = 1 to *m*)
- CF = carbon fraction of dry matter, t C (t d.m.)⁻¹

Average annual increment in biomass is calculated based on the following equation (Equation 2.10 in IPCC 2006 Volume 4, Chapter 2):

Tier 1: $G_{TOTAL} = \Sigma \{G_W \times (1+R)\}$

Biomass increment data (dry matter) are used directly.

Tiers 2 and 3:

 $G_{TOTAL} = \Sigma \{I_V \times BCEF_I \times (1+R)\}$

Equation C.3

Page 52



·

Net annual increment data are used to estimate G_w by applying a biomass conversion and expansion factor.

Where:

- G_{TOTAL} = average annual biomass growth above and below-ground, t d.m. ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹
- G_w = average annual above-ground biomass growth for a specific woody vegetation type, t d.m. ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹
- R = ratio of below-ground biomass to above-ground biomass for a specific vegetation type, in t d.m. below-ground biomass (t dm above-ground biomass)⁻¹. R must be set to zero if assuming no changes of below-ground biomass allocation patterns (Tier 1)
- I_v = average net annual increment for specific vegetation type, m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. This is the current annual increment of standing volume, i.e. the actual increment in volume, referred as CAI

Note: Mean Annual Increment (MAI), i.e. the mean increment over the entire lifetime of the plantation, is not an adequate substitute of Current Annual Increment (CAI), as MAI only represents the net cumulated volume or biomass at the end of the rotation. The use of MAI generally leads to underestimation of the annual increment in the early ages of the plantations. However, if MAI is the only data available, it can be used, while transparent information is provided on it.

Note that if standing tons are stated as wet white tonnes (wwt), i.e. at field wet basis moisture level, then the values need to be converted from wwt to m³. For this conversion, Standard Industry Conversion Factors (ICFs) for round wood can be used (Table C.4).

Product	Species	ICF	Unit
Sawlogs	Softwood	0.94	m³/t (wet)
Sawlogs	Eucalyptus Grandis	0.94	m³/t (wet)
Sawlogs	Other Eucalyptus Species	0.78	m³/t (wet)
Matchwood	Poplar	1.03	m³/t (wet)

Table C.4: Standard Industry Conversion Factors (ICF) for Round wood.

- BCEF_i = biomass conversion and expansion factor for conversion of net annual increment in volume (including bark) to above-ground biomass growth for specific vegetation type, tonnes above-ground biomass growth (m³ net annual increment)⁻¹.
- If BCEF_i values are not available and if the biomass expansion factor (BEF) and basic wood density (D) values are separately estimated, then the following conversion can be used:

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

$BCEF_i = BEF_i \times D$

Where, Biomass Expansion Factors (BEF_i) expand merchantable volume to total above-ground biomass volume to account for non-merchantable components of increment. BEF_i is dimensionless.

To convert wood harvest data without bark, i.e. under bark, into merchantable wood removals including bark, i.e. over bark, multiply by the bark factor. Default and country-specific bark factors are included in the Sheet Parameters in the MRV tool and can be found in Appendix C.4. If the wood harvest data is already over bark, the bark fraction should be 0.

Box C.2: Information for the example for C stock change in biomass using Gain-Loss method in Box C.3.

For a forest area of 10 ha in temperate zone, it is assumed the forest species have a rotation age of 32 years and is thinned twice at 12 and 22 years (Table C.4). To calculate gains and losses, current annual increment (CAI) and losses (harvest) data are needed.

All volumes are expressed as over bark.

 Table C.5: Hypothetical stand characteristics of Pinus patula showing volume data (merchantable over bark volume).

Stand age	Volume m	ı³/ha		Increi m³/h	ment a/year
(years)	Thinning	Standing vol	Cumulative Vol	MAI	CAI
0.001			0.0001		0.001
7		82.0	82.0	11.7	11.7
12	123.0	95.0	218.0	18.2	27.2
17		265.0	388.0	22.8	34.0
22	120	428.0	548.0	24.9	32.0
27		580.0	703.0	26.0	31.0
32		714.0	837.0	26.2	26.8





<u>Annual biomass loss</u> is the sum of losses from wood removal (harvest), fuelwood removal (not counting fuelwood gathered from woody debris), and other losses resulting from disturbances, such as fire, storms, and insect and diseases.

$$\Delta C_L = L_{wood-removed}$$

Equation C.4

Where:

- ΔC_L = annual decrease in carbon stocks due to biomass loss in land remaining in the same landuse category, t C yr⁻¹
- L_{wood-removed} = annual carbon loss due to wood removals, t C yr⁻¹, includes harvest, regardless
 its use as fuelwood, and tree parts removals for fuelwood.

And annual biomass carbon loss due to wood-removals is:

$$L_{wood-removed} = H \times BCEF_R \times (1+R) \times CF + FG_{part} \times D$$
 Equation C.5

Where:

- L_{wood-removed} = annual carbon loss due to biomass removals, t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹
- H = annual wood removals, roundwood, m³ yr⁻¹
- R = ratio of below-ground biomass to above-ground biomass, in t d.m. below-ground biomass (t d.m. above-ground biomass)⁻¹. R must be set to zero if assuming no changes of belowground biomass allocation patterns (Tier 1)
- BCEF_R = biomass conversion and expansion factor for conversion of removals in merchantable volume to total biomass removals (including bark), t biomass removal (m³ of removals)⁻¹. However, if BCEF_R values are not available and if the biomass expansion factor for wood removals (BEF_R) and basic wood density (D) values are separately estimated, then the following conversion can be used:

$$BCEF_R = BEF_R \times D$$

To convert wood harvest data without bark into merchantable wood removals including bark, multiply by bark factor. Default IPCC 2006 bark factors and country-specific bark factors are provided. These factors are included in the Sheet Parameters in the MRV tool and can found in the Appendix. If volume is already over bark, then bark fraction should be 0.

- CF = carbon fraction of dry matter, t C (t d.m.)⁻¹
- FG_{part} = annual volume of fuelwood removal as tree parts (where trees are not felled), m³ yr⁻¹.
 Assumed 0 in Tier 1.

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

• D = basic wood density, t d.m. m⁻³

Data required for the estimates in the MRV tool

Box C.4: Annual decrease in Carbon stocks due to Wood removals in land remaining in the same land-use category.

Sheet Land Gain-Loss method in the MRV tool; column ΔC Living Biomass.

Sheet Supporting Calculations

This example uses BEF and Wood density (D), instead of BCEF used in Box C.3.

Harvest volume – whole tree (m³ yr⁻¹) = 500 m³ yr⁻¹ harvest. There is not fuelwood exploitation of tree parts, i.e. $FG_{part} = 0$.

 $BEF_R = 3.1 \text{ m}^3 \text{ t}^{-1}$

Bark fraction = 0.13 (default)

Wood density = 0.354 t m⁻³ (*Pinus patula* Du Toit B. et al. (2016))

R = 0.28 (Du Toit B. et al. 2016)

CF = 0.47 (IPCC 2006)

Then, $L_{wood-removed} = 500 \text{ m}^3 \text{ x} 3.1 \text{ x} (1 + 0.13) \text{ x} 0.354 \text{ t} \text{ m}^{-3} \text{ x} (1 + 0.28) \text{ x} 0.47 = 373.01 \text{ t} \text{ C}$

In the MRV tool, the Factor for conversion to C biomass loss $3.1 \times (1 + 0.13) \times 0.354 \text{ tm}^{-3} \times (1 + 0.28) \times 0.47 = 0.75$ (can be calculated in **Sheet Supporting Calculations**); and the total Living Biomass LOSS (ABG+BGB, t C) is calculated in **Sheet Land Gain-Loss Method** as:

Living Biomass LOSS (ABG+BGB, t C) = 500 m³ yr⁻¹x 0.75 = 373.01 t C

Continuing with the example forest from previous boxes: Therefore, the annual change in carbon stocks in biomass in the 10 ha is:

 $\Delta C_B = \Delta G_G - \Delta G_L = 141.14 - 373.01 = -231.9 t C$

This method requires activity data (e.g. area) and forest parameters (e.g. increment, harvest) at either the aggregated (e.g. plantation management units) or disaggregated (e.g. compartment) scale of the land (Table C.6).

Data needs to be disaggregated by the activity, i.e. Forest management.

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Forest ID	Enter the unique forest ID
Activity	Forest Management, Afforestation Elective Deforestation or Mandatory Deforestation
Previous land use category	Forest Management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation, Mandatory Deforestation, Grassland, Annual Cropland, Perennial Cropland or Other
Ownership	Company owned or 3 rd party (please specify)
Species/Genus	Predominant species name
Age Category	Enter value, for afforested areas this should be the years since afforestation occurred
Area	Enter value in ha
Growing stock volume annual net increment	CAI or MAI* (optional for T3)
Factor for conversion to C biomass growth	Enter value or refer to Sheet Supporting Calculations (optional for T3)
Harvest volume, whole tree	Enter value in m ³ /yr
Factor for conversion to C biomass loss	Enter value or refer to Sheet Supporting Calculations (optional for T3)
Living Biomass LOSS - Fuelwood Tree parts	Enter value in t C, assumed 0 in Tier 1 approach

Table C.6: Data required for estimating ΔC living biomass (gain-loss method).

* CAI = current annual increment, MAI = mean annual increment

C.3.2.2. Living biomass pool: Stock-difference method

Sheet Land Stock-Difference Method in the MRV tool

The Stock-Difference method, as presented in the 2006 IPCC guidelines, requires biomass carbon stock inventories for a given land area, at two points in time¹⁹. Per unit of area at time t_2 , the annual stock change is the difference between the carbon stock at time t_2 and time t_1 , divided by the number of years between the two inventories²⁰.

²⁰ For further guidance on the stock-difference method, refer to Chapter 2 of 2013 IPCC KP Supplement. <u>https://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/kpsg/index.html</u>



¹⁹ For further guidance on the stock-difference method, refer to Volume 4, Chapter 2 of 2006 IPCC Guidelines. <u>https://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/2006gl/vol4.html</u>

Calculation in the MRV tool

The calculations for emissions/removals from the change in carbon stock in living biomass are based on the IPCC 2006 Tier 1 Biomass Stock-Difference Method (IPCC 2006 volume 4, chapters 2 and 4). Emissions/removals are calculated based on the following equations (Equation 2.8 in IPCC 2006 volume 4, chapters 2):

$$\Delta C_B = \frac{(C_{t_2} - C_{t_1})}{(t_2 - t_1)}$$

 $C = \sum_{i,j} \{A_{i,j} \times V_{i,j} \times BCEF_{S_{i,j}} \times (1 + R_{i,j}) \times CF_{i,j}\}$

Where:

- ΔC_B = annual change in carbon stocks in biomass (the sum of above-ground and belowground biomass terms) in land remaining in the same category (e.g. *forest land remaining* forest land), tonnes C yr⁻¹
- Ct₂ = total carbon in biomass for each land sub-category at time t₂, t C
- Ct₁ = total carbon in biomass for each land sub-category at time t₁, t C
- C = total carbon in biomass for t₁ to t₂, t C
- A = area of land remaining in the same land-use category, ha
- V = merchantable growing stock volume (over bark), m³ ha⁻¹
- i = ecological zone i (*i*=1 to n)
- j = climate domain j (j=1 to m)
- R = ratio of below-ground biomass to above-ground biomass, t dm below-ground biomass (t d.m. above ground biomass)⁻¹
- CF = carbon fraction of dry matter, tonne C (t d.m.)⁻¹
- BCEF_s = biomass conversion and expansion factor for expansion factor for expansion of merchantable growing stock volume to above-ground biomass, t above-ground biomass (m³ growing stock volume)⁻¹

As indicated in 2013 Kyoto Protocol (KP) Supplement, when using this method for a specific activity, it is important to ensure that the area of land in that activity at times t_1 and t_2 is identical, to avoid confounding changes in stock caused by area changes. Box C.6 shows the correct and incorrect way to implement the stock-change method.



Page 59

Equation C.6

At a company level the forest area may change due to the sale or purchasing of land, i.e. the reported area in time t_1 will not match the area reported in the previous year. The issue is of particular concern when areas outside the scheme enter the reporting system. In these situations, the current year area must be applied (see Box C.7).

It is good practice to implement the calculations of annual carbon stock changes in the following sequence: (1) for any carbon pool of each activity and for each area, the annual carbon stock change



should be calculated for the year of interest on the area at time t_2 , (2) these stock changes should be summed for all areas subject to the activity. Annual carbon stock changes and non-CO₂ GHG emissions with the area of the activity at the end of the inventory year should be calculated. The same approach should be used consistently over time. When land-use change events occur, the associated fluxes are reported in the new land-use category (e.g. afforestation or deforestation/conversion from forest plantation to non-forest lands).



Box C.6: Example of Stock-difference calculation. Source KP Supplement

During a year of the CP the area of land reported under FM varies because new forest land (natural forest expansion or previously unmanaged forest land that becomes subject to management) is added to the FM area and because of deforestation activities:

	At the start of year	At the end of year
Area of forest lands that was subject to FM in the previous year	1,000,000 ha	990,000 ha
Area of lands subject to FM converted to non-forest land	0 ha	10,000 ha
Area of new forest lands subject to FM	0 ha	10,000 ha
Total area subject to FM	1,000,000 ha	1,000,000 ha
The carbon stocks measured at times t_1 and t	t ₂ in those lands are:	
	At the start of year	At the end of year
Average per hectare biomass carbon stock of forest lands subject to FM	100 tC ha ⁻¹	105 tC ha ⁻¹
Average per hectare biomass carbon stock of new forest lands subject to FM	80 tC ha ⁻¹	84 tC ha ⁻¹
Average per hectare biomass carbon stock in deforested lands	100 tC ha ⁻¹	20 tC ha ⁻¹
 managed forest lands that were subject to forest lands where the FM activity starts managed forest lands subject to FM thyear. Then, the sum of stock changes calculated for under the FM activity, while the change in under D (Article 3.3). 	or the two types of lands st stock calculated for defo	or the year, converted to cropland in the abject to FM will be reported prested land will be reported
A. Total stock-change in area subject to FM that was subject to FM in the previous year	990,000 ha * (105 – 1	100) tC ha ⁻¹ = 4,950,000 tC
B. Total stock-change in area subject to FM for the first time in this year	10,000 ha * (84 –	80) tC ha ⁻¹ = 40,000 tC
C. Total stock-change in deforested areas	s 10,000 ha * (20 – 1	00) tC ha ⁻¹ = -800,000 tC
Total stock-change in FM areas (A+B)	4,950,000 + 40),000 = 4,990,000 tC
Stock change reported in Forest Land converted to Cropland under UNFCCC an in D under Article 3.3 (C)	-80 d	0,000 t C
It would be incorrect, for instance, to calcul total land subject to FM at times t_1 and t_2 and	ate the total aboveground d then subtract C ₁ from C ₂	biomass carbon stock on the e.g.:
C1 Total stock in land subject to FM at the start of year	1,000,000 ha * 100 t	C ha ⁻¹ = 100,000,000 tC

 C2 Total stock in land subject to FM at the end of year
 990,000 ha * 105 tC ha⁻¹ + 10,000 ha * 84 tC ha⁻¹

 990,000 ha * 105 tC ha⁻¹ + 10,000 ha * 84 tC ha⁻¹
 = 103,950,000 + 840,000 = 104,790,000 tC

 C2 - C1 - yields the incorrect result
 104,790,000 - 100,000,000 = 4,790,000 tC



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA





Data required for the estimates in the MRV tool

This method requires activity data (i.e. area) and forest parameters (i.e. standing volume) at very disaggregated level, e.g. for each forest compartment of the land under administration by the entity for previous and current year subject to reporting.

Data is needed for the two calendar years, i.e. end of two years, subject to reporting.

Forest compartment would be identified in MRV tool as of records from forest management planning.

As indicated in Table C.6 above and Table C.7 below, the user has the option to use the calculations in the **Sheet Supporting Calculations in the MRV Tool** to estimate some of the data required for the estimates. At least Species and Growing stock volume level data are required.

Parameters needed for the estimate of carbon stock change in living biomass are outlined in Table C.7. Defaults are provided where available, but if alternative data which is considered more representative and is justifiable and verifiable is available, this should be used. The default parameters are included in the **Sheet Parameters in the MRV tool** and can found in Appendix C.3.

Forest ID	Enter the unique forest ID
Activity	Forest Management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation or Mandatory Deforestation
Previous land use category	Forest Management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation, Mandatory Deforestation, Grassland, Annual Cropland, Perennial Cropland or Other
Ownership	Company owned or 3 rd party (please specify)
Species/Genus	Predominant species name
Age Category	Enter value, for afforested areas this should be the years since afforestation occurred
Harvest volume, whole tree	Enter value in m ³ /yr
Area in the previous year t_{i-1}	Enter value in ha
Area in the current year t _i	Enter value in ha
Average standing volume in previous year, year ti ¹ (vol merch. m³/ha)	Enter value in merchantable volume m ³ /ha, 0 = default for afforested land in age category 1 (optional for T3)
Average standing volume in current year, (year t; (vol merch. m³/ha)	Enter value in merchantable volumem ³ /ha, 0 = default for deforestation (optional for T3)
Factor for conversion to standing C stock in the previous year t_i^{-1}	Use Sheet Supporting Calculations if value is not known (species and growing stock volume must be entered) (optional for T3)

Table C.7: Data required for estimating $\Delta C ABG + BGB$ (stock-difference method).



Factor for conversion to standing C stock in the current year \mathbf{t}_i

Use **Sheet Supporting Calculations** if value is not known (species and growing stock volume must be entered) (optional for T3)

C.3.2.3. Dead organic Matter, ΔDOM

In line with the Accounting Rulebook, for the estimates of carbon stock change in Dead Organic matter pool (Dead wood and litter) the following has been assumed:

- a) There is no change in DOM pool on forest plantations where there is a continuous forest management as forest plantation (> 20 years as forest), therefore carbon stock change in DOM is only estimated in the case of Afforestation and Deforestation activities.
- b) If deforestation occurs litter and deadwood C pools are assumed to be immediately / instantaneously oxidised, therefore carbon stock change in DOM is estimated and reported in the year when the Deforestation occurs (Box C.8). If afforested land is deforested before 20-years then only the amount of DOM accumulated over the afforestation period is oxidised (Box C.9).
- c) If afforestation occurs, afforested areas accumulate DOM for the first 20 years of the established 1st rotation. After 20-years or the rotation, DOM reaches an equilibrium value specific to continuous forest plantations.
- d) Because plantations are under very intensive management and there is no Dead Wood present only carbon stock in Litter is considered.

Calculation method in the MRV tool

Since it is assumed that the carbon stock in DOM pool only changes in the case of Afforestation or Deforestation activities, the IPCC 2006 method for Land conversions is used.

Two methods can be used: either track inputs and outputs (the Gain-Loss Method) or estimate the difference in DOM pools at two points in time (Stock-Difference Method). These estimates require either detailed inventories that include repeated measurements of dead wood and litter pools, or models that simulate dead wood and litter dynamics (IPCC, 2006, volume 4 chapter 2).

The MRV tool allows for the estimates using the stock-difference. The Tier 1 assumption is that DOM pools in non-forest land categories after the conversion are zero, i.e., they contain no litter or dead wood. The Tier 1 assumption for land converted from forest to another land-use category is that all DOM carbon losses occur in the year of land-use conversion. Conversely, conversion to Forest Land results in build-up of litter and dead wood carbon pools starting from zero carbon in those pools. DOM carbon gains on land converted to forest occur linearly, starting from zero, over a transition period (IPCC, 2006, volume 4 chapter 2).

Equation C.7 is the stock-difference method applied in the MRV tool and examples are provided in Boxes 8 - 10:

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

$$\frac{\Delta C_{DOM} = (C_n - C_o) \times A_{on}}{T_{on}}$$

Where:

- ΔC_{DOM} = annual change in carbon stocks in dead wood or litter, t C yr⁻¹
- C_o = dead wood/litter stock, under the old land-use category, t C ha⁻¹
- C_n = dead wood/litter stock, under the new land-use category, t C ha⁻¹, for forest land the default stock is 20 t C ha⁻¹ at 20 years
- Aon = area undergoing conversion from old to new land-use category, ha
- T_{on} = time period of the transition from old to new land-use category, yr. The Tier 1 default is 20 years for carbon stock increases and 1 year for carbon losses.

Data required for the estimates in the MRV tool

Forest ID	Enter the unique forest ID
Activity	Forest Management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation or Mandatory Deforestation
Previous land use category	Forest Management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation, Mandatory Deforestation, Grassland, Annual Cropland, Perennial Cropland or Other
Ownership	Company owned or 3 rd party (please specify)
Age Category	Enter value, for afforested areas this should be the years since afforestation occurred
Area in the current year \mathbf{t}_i	Enter value in ha
DOM	DOM in t C/ha, use of Sheet Supporting Calculations is possible if value is not known. Note that the calculated ΔC DOM should be positive (+) in the case of Forest Management and Afforestation; and negative (-) in the case of Deforestation
DOM in previous land use	DOM in non-forest use t C/ha, the default value is 0. This field is optional.

Table C.8: Data required for estimating ΔC Dead Organic Matter (DOM).



Page 65

Equation C.7

As a minimum, forest type needs to be known for the use of **Sheet Supporting Calculations in the MRV Tool**. Default values of DOM by forest types are sourced from IPCC 2006 Guidelines, these factors are included in the **Sheet Parameters in the MRV tool** and can found in Appendix C.4.

Box C.8. Annual change in Carbon stocks in DOM due to land use conversion: Afforestation

Sheet Land Gain-Loss method in the MRV tool; column ΔC DOM

Sheet Supporting Calculations

The default method applied in the MRV tool uses a steady state stock of C in DOM at 20 years.

The stock change for 10 ha of afforested areas of *Pinus patula* in climatic zone warm temperate for the first 20 years is:

C in DOM (equilibrium value for specific continuous forest plantation): 20.3 t C ha⁻¹ (for Needleleaf evergreen, IPCC 2006, volume 4, chapter 2, Table 2.2, Climate: Warm temperate)

C in DOM in non-forest land: 0 t C ha⁻¹ (IPCC 2006 Tier 1 assumption)

Then, ΔC_{DOM} = (20.3 t C ha⁻¹ - 0 t C ha⁻¹) x 10 ha/20 vears = **10.15 t C vr**⁻¹



Box C.9. Annual change in Carbon stocks in DOM due to land use conversion: Elective Deforestation of previous Forest management

Sheet Land Gain-Loss method in the MRV tool; column ΔC DOM

Sheet Supporting Calculations

For deforestation, all DOM is assumed to be immediately oxidised. The stock change for 10 ha of elective deforested area of *Pinus patula* in climatic zone warm temperate is:

C in DOM (equilibrium value for specific continuous forest plantation): 20.3 t C ha⁻¹ (for Needle leaf evergreen, IPCC 2006, volume 4, chapter 2, Table 2.2, Climate: Warm temperate)

C in DOM in non-forest land: 0 t C ha⁻¹ (IPCC 2006 Tier 1 assumption)

Then, ΔC_{DOM} = (0 t C ha⁻¹ - 20.3 t C ha⁻¹) x 10 = - **203 t C yr⁻¹** to be reported only in the event year

Box C.10. Annual change in Carbon stocks in DOM due to land use conversion: from Afforestation to Elective Deforestation

Sheet Land Stock-Difference method in the MRV tool; column ΔC DOM

Sheet Supporting Calculations

If 10 ha of *Pinus patula* in climatic zone warm temperate in afforested lands are electively deforested before reaching 10 years after establishment of the 1st rotation (e.g. at 3 years) then the DOM stock change is:

C in DOM (equilibrium value for specific continuous forest plantation): 20.3 t C ha⁻¹ (for Needle leaf evergreen, IPCC 2006, volume 4, chapter 2, Table 2.2, Climate: Warm temperate)

C in DOM in non-forest land: 0 t C ha⁻¹ (IPCC 2006 Tier 1 assumption)

 ΔC_{DOM} = ((0 t C ha⁻¹ - 20.03 t C ha⁻¹)/20 years) x 3 years x 10 ha = - 30.45 t C yr⁻¹



C.3.2.4. Soil Organic Carbon, ΔSOC

In line with the Accounting Rulebook, for the estimates of carbon stock change in DOM pool (dead wood and litter) the following has been assumed:

- a) There is no change in SOC pool in Forest management, therefore carbon stock change in SOC is only estimated in the case of Afforestation and Deforestation.
- b) SOC stock changes associated with Deforestation generally occurs for a period after deforested. However, SOC emissions or removals shall not be reported or accounted because other land uses are not included in the 2019 Carbon Tax Act.
- c) Therefore, carbon stock change in SOC is only reported when Afforestation occurs and for Forest Management, if Tier 2 or Tier 3 methodologies are applied.
- *d)* If afforestation occurs, the default Tier 1 assumption is that afforested areas accumulate SOC for the first 20 years. After 20-years of the rotation, SOC reaches an equilibrium value.

Calculation method in the MRV tool

Since it is assumed that the carbon stock in the SOC pool only changes in the case of Afforestation or Deforestation activities, the IPCC 2006 method for Land conversions is used.

$$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{(SOC_0 - SOC_{(0-t)})}{D}$$

$$SOC = \sum_{c.i.j} (SOC_{REF_{c,s,j}} \times F_{LU_{c,s,j}} \times F_{MG_{c,s,j}} \times F_{I_{c,s,j}})$$

Note: T is used in place of D in this equation if T is \ge 20 years

Where:

- ΔC_{Mineral} = annual change in carbon stocks in mineral soils, t C yr⁻¹
- SOC₀ = soil organic carbon stock in the last year of an inventory time period, t C
- $SOC_{(0-t)}$ = soil organic carbon stock at the beginning of the inventory time period, t C
- SOC₀ and SOC_(0-T) are calculated using the SOC equation in the box where the reference carbon stocks and stock change factors are assigned according to the land-use and management activities and corresponding areas at each of the points in time (time = 0 and time = 0-T)
- T = number of years over a single inventory time period, yr
- D = Time dependence of stock change factors which is the default time period for transition between equilibrium SOC values, yr. Commonly 20 years, but depends on assumptions made in computing the factors F_{LU}, F_{MG} and F_I. If T exceeds D, use the value for T to obtain an annual rate of change over the inventory time period (0-T years)



Page 68

Equation C.8

- c = represents the climate zones, s the soil types, and i the set of management systems that are present in a country
- SOC_{REF} = the reference carbon stock, t C ha⁻¹
- F_{LU} = stock change factor for land-use systems or sub-system for a particular land-use, dimensionless
- F_{MG} = stock change factor for management regime, dimensionless
- F₁ = stock change factor for input of organic matter, dimensionless
- A = land area of the stratum being estimated, ha. All land in the stratum should have common biophysical conditions (i.e. climate and soil type) and management history over the inventory time period to be treated together for analytical purposes

Refer to Box C.11 and Box C.12 for examples.

Data required for estimates in the MRV tool

Forest ID	Enter the unique forest ID
Activity	Forest management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation or Mandatory Deforestation
Previous land use category	Forest Management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation, Mandatory Deforestation, Grassland, Annual Cropland, Perennial Cropland or Other
Ownership	Company owned or 3 rd party (please specify)
Area in the current year ti	Enter value in ha
soc	SOC in t C/ha, use of Sheet Supporting Calculations is possible if value is not known. Note that the calculated Δ C SOC should be positive (+) in the case of Forest Management and Afforestation; and negative (-) in the case of Deforestation
SOC in previous land use	Change in SOC in non-forest use in t C/ha. Use of Sheet Supporting Calculations is possible if value is not known.

Table C.9: Data required for the estimates, Soil Organic Carbon (SOC).


As a minimum, climate zone and soil type needs to be known for the use of **Sheet Supporting Calculations in the MRV Tool**. Default values of SOC for forest, cropland and grassland are sourced from South Africa NIR 2017. These values are included in the **Sheet Parameters in the MRV tool** and can found in Appendix C.4.

Box C.11. Annual change in Carbon stocks in SOC due to land use conversion: Afforestation

Sheet Land Gain-Loss Method in the MRV tool; column ΔC SOC

Sheet Supporting Calculations

The default method applied in the MRV tool uses a steady state stock of C in SOC by ha at 20 years. Carbon stock in SOC in non-forest land uses is assumed to be in equilibrium before the first afforestation.

The stock change for 10 ha of afforested areas of *Pinus patula* converted from annual crop in climatic zone warm temperate – moist and sandy soils, for the first 20 years is:

C in SOC in forest after 20 years: 34 t C ha⁻¹ (SA NIR 2017)

C in SOC in annual cropland: 22.59 t C ha⁻¹ (SA NIR 2017)

Then, ΔC_{SOC} = (34 t C ha⁻¹ – 22.59 t C ha⁻¹)/ 20 years x 10 ha = 5.7 t C yr⁻¹

Box C.12. Annual change in Carbon stocks in SOC due to accumulation of SOC: Forest management

Sheet Land Stock-Difference Method in the MRV tool; column ΔC SOC

The default Tier 1 method applied in the MRV tool uses a steady state stock of C in SOC by ha in Forest Management areas. However, if facility-specific data is available i.e. a Tier 2 or 3 method is applied, then SOC from Forest Management areas can be estimated.

To estimate the stock change for 10 ha area *Eucalyptus grandis* which has been under forest management for 5 years, it is assumed that:

C in SOC in forest reached equilibrium at 48 t C ha⁻¹ after 15 years

C in SOC in non-forest use: NA (not applicable)

Then, ΔC_{SOC} = (48 t C ha⁻¹ / 15 years) x 10 ha =32 t C yr⁻¹

Note: the values used in this example do not represent real data.

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Accounting of Annual Change in Plantation Carbon Stocks, ΔC

All emissions and removals from annual changes in plantation carbon stocks that are reported are accounted within the MRV Tool. **Refer to the Accounting Rulebook** (see Chapter B, Section B.2) for further information.

C.3.3. Harvested Wood Products, SHWP

C.3.3.1. The mass balance approach

Calculation method in the MRV tool

A mass balance approach (Ado_Paku, 2015) can be used to determine the mass of carbon in the HWP emanating from a mill as follows:

$$mC_{HWP} = mC_{RM} - mC_E - mC_{SW} - mC_{LW}$$

Where:

- mC_{HWP} = mass of biogenic carbon in HWP leaving the mill. This should include pulp, paper, solid wood products, saw milling waste sold for pulping if applicable, fines or lignin by products, t C
- mC_{RM} = mass of biogenic carbon entering the mill in the timber raw materials, t C
 - Biogenic carbon mC_{RM} can be calculated based on the mass of timber processed and default conversion. It also includes the mass of recycled wood/pulp

$$mC_{RM} = V_{(OB)} \times D \times CF + mC_{recycled}$$
 Equation C.10

- Country specific values for bark fraction²¹, wood density and carbon fraction are included in the MRV tool. Same factors should be used for species in calculating C stock change in forest land and HWP
- V_(OB) = overbark volume, m³. If under bark values are used, then V x (1+Bark fraction) should be used. This parameter is needed in order to apply consistently the default factors (e.g. fractions, mass flow factors) provided in this guideline
- mC_{recycled} is the mass (tC) of inflow from other timber processing facilities. To avoid double counting, recycled inflows are reported but not accounted for

²¹ Bark fraction is the factor for converting under bark to total merchantable wood i.e. the inclusion of the mixture of bark, wood, branches etc, which is separated from the pulp wood during the process of barking. A bark fraction of 0 is applied where the wood entering the mill is underbark.



Page 71

Equation C.9

 mC_{E} = mass of biogenic carbon leaving the mill as gaseous emissions, determined as a fraction of mC_{RM} entering the mill based on the mass flow into biogenic energy, expressed as a fraction of mC_{RM} (FmC_E), t C

$$mC_E = mC_{RM} \times FmC_E$$
 Equation C.11

mCsw = mass of biogenic carbon exiting the mill as solid waste determined as a fraction of mC_{RM} entering the mill based on the mass flow into biogenic energy, expressed as a fraction of mC_{RM} (FmC_{sw}), t C

$$mC_{SW} = mC_{RM} \times FmC_{SW}$$
 Equation C.12

mC_{LW} = mass of biogenic carbon exiting the mill as liquid waste (effluent) determined as a fraction of mC_{RM} entering the mill based on the mass flow into biogenic energy, expressed as a fraction of mC_{RM} (FmC_{LW}), t C

$$mC_{LW} = mC_{RM} \times FmC_{LW}$$
 Equation C.13

Note that waste discharge threshold applies to mC_{sw} and mC_{Lw} and emissions are only reported if these thresholds are exceeded (see IPCC code 4 schedule 2 of the 2019 Carbon Tax Act).

Since biogenic and waste emissions are discounted (D) when accounting under the 2019 Carbon Tax Act Equation C.9 can be rewritten as Equation C.14. Recycled inflows are deducted from accounting to avoid double counting but are included in reporting.

$$mC_{HWP} = mC_{RM} - mC_{recycled} - (mC_E \times \frac{D}{100}) - (mC_{SW} \times \frac{D}{100}) - \left(mC_{LW} \times \frac{D}{100}\right)$$
 Equation C.14

The discount is currently set at 100% in the 2019 Carbon Tax Act, but these emissions will still be reported. The derived mC_{HWP} value from equation 10 can be used as the S_{HWP} variable in the S of the C tax equation outlined in the 2019 Carbon Tax Act.

The mass flow approach can be used for all production facilities including the pulp/paper, lignin-based compounds, sawn products or primary wood-based products, or other products well defined as entering or exiting the mill gate. However, certain accounting rules regarding the eligibility of mCRM need to be considered to avoid double accounting, leakage and conserved mass balance with harvest coming from forest areas included in the scheme (see Chapter B, Section B.3.2.5.d).

The final removal or emissions from HWP pool (SHWP) for different HWP categories (i) is derived as a fraction of HWP remaining based on the landfill approach whereby the fraction of C decayed over 96 years (fLC₉₆) by different HWPs (i) is applied to the reported mC_{HWP} value submitted by companies:

This gazette is also available free online at www.gpwonline.co.za

$$S_{HWP(i)} = mC_{HWP(i)} \times fLC_{96(i)}$$

Page 72

Equation C.15



The retention potential is expressed as default fLC_{96} value for different products and is based on the estimated maximum proportions of wood and paper converted to CO_2 or CH_4 in landfills over 96 years (Skog & Nicholson, 1998). The value for pulp is based on the average for all paper products (see **Sheet Parameters in the MRV tool** and Appendix C.1.).

The industry can use their own Tier 2 values, but this should be demonstrated to be applicable, verifiable, and based on sound science, with references included in the annual report.

C.3.3.2. Paper mills

System boundaries, in line with the over-riding concepts outlined above:

- a) Any pulp bought in or recovered pulp from other companies as wood products (mC_{HWP}) cannot be included in mC_{RM}, since this would represent double accounting as the credits would have already been claimed as mC_{HWP} by the company selling the pulp or recovered pulp.
- b) Sawmill residues or recovered pulp used in production of product cannot be included in mC_RM, as these are already included in the mass flow balance as waste of the reporting company.
- c) Therefore, there is no need to distinguish between integrated and non-integrated mills.
- d) However, bought in recovered pulp or wood waste residues provided by other parties (i.e. waste bought in by a registered non-integrated mill) is considered as mC_{RM} and reported because they are not included in the mass flow approach. However, the contribution of recycled waste from other facilities to HWP removals should not be accounted for since these are already discounted under the C Tax Act (Figure C.2).
- e) Gaseous (mC_E), liquid (mC_{LW}) and solid waste (mC_{SW}) are fully discounted under the C tax rules so this falls outside the system boundary (Figure C.2). These emissions could include lime kiln emissions which are considered as a biogenic source of C as part of the recovery in the Kraft process (Adu Poku, 2015).





Figure C.2: A mass flow accounting for paper mills.

Mass flow factors for paper mills are derived from the thesis of Adu Poku (2015), where factors can be categorised based on different milling processes. These factors are included in the **Sheet Parameters in the MRV tool** and can found in Appendix C.4. Individual companies can calculate their own mass flow fractions for carbon leaving the mill based on the latest data available where information is available and can be verified with supporting documentation.

C.3.3.3. Sawmills

Tier 1 option: Mass flow factors for all sawn wood. Appropriate mass flow factors have not been identified, so tier 1 estimates are based on the fraction recovery of product based on raw timber inputs by HWP category (F_{HWPrec}).





Figure C.3: Mass flow accounting tier 1 (default) option for the sawmill, panels, mining, and pole production.

In the absence of any country specific data for F_{HWPrec} , it is recommended to use the UNECE/FAO conversion factors for the timber industry as a default. Hence Equation C.9 can be restructured for this sector if no specific mC_E, mC_{SW}, mC_{LW} data is available:

$$mC_{HWP} = mC_{RM(i)} \times F_{HWP \ rec(i)}$$

Equation C.16

Where:

F_{HWPrec} is the recovery of product based on raw timber inputs and i is the HWP category.

In the default approach mC_{RM} only includes timber inflow from forest areas within the C tax scheme and recovered waste wood or pulp purchased form 3rd parties within the C tax scheme. Although the presented recovery ratios do not consider use of by products such as wood chips, saw dust used in other processes such as wood-based panels from particles (WBP) and pulp, processing residues are considered as eligible inflows (Figure C.3).

The approach also means that biogenic and waste emissions are reported but these are fully discounted for this sector (Figure C.3).

Default values for F_{HWPrec} by HWP category are included in the **Sheet Parameters in the MRV tool** and can found in Appendix C.4.

Higher tier methodologies can use complete C mass flow or models if they are available and verifiable. Hence, individual companies may use their own recovery factors or data relating to biogenic emissions, other wood by-products and C lost in waste from the plant as outlined in Figure C.3, based on the latest available information. Use of such an approach must be verified by supporting production



data for each product. It is recommended that the South African milling sector develops specific mass flow factors for each type of mill process. This may be particularly useful if the discount on waste and energy emissions are changed in future amendments to the C Tax Act.

Individual processing facilities should use their own mass flow factors based on the latest available information, which should be verified with supporting documentation.

Tier 2 option. The mass flow principle can also be applied to the milling and solid wood processing sector (Figure C.4). Carbon mass balance studies are at present only available for production of sawn wood (unpublished data, Kerr 2019). But there are no known publications on mass flow balances for mining poles, wood based panels, plywood or pole production in South Africa. If companies have specific information to calculate sawmill HWP mass balance then the same approach can be used as outlined for the paper and pulp sector using equation C.10, with the relevant discounts and waste thresholds (Figure C.4).

Note that if standing tons are stated as wet white tons (wwt), i.e. at field wet basis moisture level, then the values need to be converted from wwt to m³. For this conversion, Standard Industry Conversion Factors (ICFs) for round wood can be used (see Table C.4).



Figure C.4: Mass flow tier 2 accounting option for the sawmill, panels, mining and pole production

Data required for estimates in the MRV tool

In line with the Accounting Rulebook (see Chapter B, Section B.3.2), the MRV tool allows for the estimation of the HWP contribution differentiated by Activity (forest management, afforestation, or deforestation). However, the HWP estimates in afforested areas can be reported under forest management. HWP estimates in deforested areas are to be reported separately (see column Fraction of harvest from registered forests that is from deforested land), because these are not to be accounted.

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

The method used requires the following data for Paper mills and Sawmills. Data on the total mass of carbon entering the mills is also required (see Table C.10). The Tier 2 methodology for Sawmills matches the Paper mill methodology with the exception that HWP type rather than the process must be reported (see Table C.13 below). The Tier 1 methodology for Sawmills is presented in Table C.12.

Ownership	Company owned, 3 rd party (please specify) or other registered company
Species/ Genus	Predominant species name
Volume entering the mill	Enter a value in m ³ , or leave blank is 'Biomass entering the mill (t d.m.)' is provided
Biomass entering the mill (t d.m.)	Enter a value in t d.m, or leave blank is 'Volume entering the mill (m ³)' is provided.
Is the volume entering the mill under or over bark?	Leave blank if entering the biomass entering the mill.

Table C.10: Data required for estimating HWP, mass carbon entering the mill.

Mass C Entering the mill (t m³) can be estimated using the MRV tool within Table C.10 based on:

- a) Volume Entering the Mill (m³) by species.
- b) Mean wood density (t m⁻³) (default by species provided).
- c) Carbon fraction, CF (default by species provided).
- d) Bark fraction (default provided).

Note that when using the MRV tool the volume entering the mill should express under bark, since the bark fraction is then applied. If the volume entering the mill is over bark, then the bark fraction should be 0. Examples for estimating the HWP contribution from a pulp mill (Box C.13) and a sawmill (Box C.14) is provided below.

Mill name Enter mill name Activity Forest management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation or Mandatory Deforestation If it is not possible to split the data by activity, then select Forest management.





Process	Kraft, Sulphite, Soda (Bagasse), Thermomechanical, NSSC, Mechanical & Kraft, NSSC & Kraft or User defined
Solid waste per year	Enter value, t d.m.
Liquid waste per day	Enter value, m ³ /day
mC recycled inflow	Enter value, t C, the default value is 0
Mass C Entering the Mill	Enter value, t C. Reported separately for 3 rd party and other register company inflows
Fraction of harvest from registered and/or 3 rd party forest under the C tax act 2019	Enter fraction







Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Table C.12: Data required for the estimating HWP, sawmill Tier 1

Mill name	Enter mill name
Activity	Forest management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation or Mandatory Deforestation If it is not possible to split the data by activity, then select Forest management.
HWP type	User defined, e.g. Sawn wood, Sawn wood (Pine), Sawn wood (Eucs), Veneer and plywood, Particle board, OSB and wafer board, Fibreboard (all), Mining timber, Poles or User defined
mC recycled wood/pulp inflow	Enter value, t C, the default is 0
Mass C Entering the mill	Enter value, t C. Report separately for 3 rd party and other register company inflows
Fraction of harvest from registered and/or 3 rd party forests under the C tax act 2019	Enter fraction



Table C.13: Data required for estimating HWP, sawmill Tier 2

Mill name	Enter mill name
Activity	Forest Management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation or Mandatory Deforestation
	If it is not possible to split the data by activity, then select Forest management.
Solid waste per year	Enter value, t
Liquid waste per day	Enter value, m3 day ⁻¹
HWP type	User defined, e.g. Sawn wood, Sawn wood (Pine), Sawn wood (Eucs), Veneer and plywood, Particle board, OSB and wafer board, Fibreboard (all), Mining timber, Poles or User defined
mC recycled wood/pulp inflow	Enter value, t C, the default is 0
Mass C Entering the mill	Enter value, t C. Report separately for 3 rd party and other register company inflows
Fraction of harvest from registered and/or 3 rd party forests under the C tax act 2019	Enter fraction
FmC _E	Enter value, no defaults available
FmC _{sw}	Enter value, no defaults available
FmC _{LW}	Enter value, no defaults available







C.3.4. Emissions from Fire, S_{fire}

Biomass burning entails the emissions of CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O gases. Two types of fires are described in this section: wildfires and controlled burning. The MRV tool includes separate sheets for each of them:

- a) Controlled burning covers the burning of the remaining residue and litter following the removal of wood to mills and the burning of vegetation in firebreaks. This vegetation is considered to be savanna grassland.
- b) Wildfires are limited to the affected forest area within the plantation, i.e. wildfires occurring in grassland areas within the plantation are not estimated nor reported.

It should be noted that if the land stock-difference method has been used, then it is assumed that CO_2 emissions have already been accounted for and CO_2 emissions should therefore be reported as IE (included elsewhere) under fires. When calculating emissions from grassland, CO_2 emissions should be reported as NA (not applicable) as carbon stocks are assumed to be in equivalence.

Calculation method in the MRV tool

The calculations for emissions from fires (S_{fires}) are based on the IPCC 2006 methodology (volume 4, chapter 2, equation 2.27). Emissions from fires are calculated based on the following equations:

$$L_{fire} = A_{disturbed} \times M_B \times Cf \times G_{ef} \times 10^{-3}$$

Equation C.17

Where:

- L_{fire} = amount of greenhouse gas emissions from fire, t's of each GHG e.g., t CH₄, t N₂O, etc.
- A = area burnt, hectares
- M_B= mass of fuel available for combustion, t d.m. ha⁻¹. This includes all biomass, ground litter and dead wood. When Tier 1 methods are used then litter and dead wood pools are assumed to be zero, except where there is a land-use change, therefore:
 - If the activity is Forest management, the total emissions from DOM burnt is assumed to be 0 for tier 1²². For higher tier total DOM C stock needs to be provided
 - o If Activity is Afforestation, then total C in DOM depends on the age of the afforestation
 - If the activity is Deforestation, total C in DOM depends on the age of the afforestation or forest.

²² Because the C stock change in DOM in Forest management is 0, i.e. loss should not be reported because gains are not reported.

- C_f = combustion factor, dimensionless. Tier 1 assumption uses the fraction biomass lost based on the type of disturbance and assume the same fraction for AGB and DOM
- G_{ef} = emission factor, grams per kilogram of dry matter burnt (default values in Appendix C.4).

Wildfires - Data required for estimates in the MRV tool

The method requires data on the biomass burnt (Table C.14).

Forest ID	Enter the unique forest ID
Activity	Forest Management, Afforestation, Elective Deforestation or Mandatory Deforestation
Total area	Enter value in ha
Mass of fuel available for combustion,	It can be estimated based on total biomass and fraction damaged.
Area disturbed	Enter value in ha
Type of damage	Slight loss, Serious damage or Total loss. This is used to provide default values for the fraction of biomass lost, facility- specific values can be used instead of defaults.

Table C.14: Data required for estimating emissions from wildfires.

In the case of Wildfires, the amount of biomass burnt can be estimated based on:

- a) Total biomass: input by the user
- b) fraction damaged: input by the user or default provided based on type of damage (slight loss
 1% lost; serious damage 60% lost, and total loss 100% lost according to SA NIR 2017).
- c) Biomass burnt (t C) = M_B (t d.m.) x Fraction biomass lost.

Emissions of CH_4 and N_2O are converted to CO_2eq applying GWP of IPCC third assessment report (TAR). An example calculation for emissions due to wildfires is presented in Box C.15.





 CO_2 , CH_4 and N_2O are first estimated and reported separately. The emissions are then converted to CO_2 eq and reported as a summed total. CO_2 emissions must be reported in case of deforestation, while it is assuming short term recovery of C in all C pool in the case of forest Management and Afforestation, and therefore CO_2 emissions are not reported.

The estimates must be reported by wildfire.

Wildfires – Accounting of emissions from Fire, Sfire

This source is reported but a 100% discount is applied in the accounting. See Chapter B, Section 3 (Accounting Rulebook).

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Controlled burning - Data required for estimates in the MRV tool

The method requires data on the biomass burnt (Table C.15).

Forestt ID	Enter the unique forest ID
Activity	Forest management, Afforestation Elective Deforestation or Mandatory Deforestation
Species/Genus	Predominant species name
Area burnt	Enter value in ha
Controlled burning category	Select from the dropdown (11 options available)

 Table C.15: Data required for estimating emissions from controlled burning.

In the case of controlled burning, the amount of biomass burnt could can be estimated (see Box C.16 for example) using **Sheet Controlled burning in the MRV Tool**:

- For the controlled burning category post-harvest burning, the amount of biomass burnt is the product of biomass in litter and harvest residues, that is input by the user or default provided, and the combustion fraction, that is input by user or default provided.
- For the controlled burning category Firebreaks, the amount of biomass burnt is input by the user or the default provided sourced from IPCC 2006, vol 4, ch. 2, table 2.4 and the combustion factor sourced from IPCC 2006, vol 4, ch. 2, table 2.6, type of vegetation savanna grasslands (mid/late dry season burns), surface layer combustion only.

Emissions of CH_4 and N_2O are converted to CO_2eq applying GWP of IPCC third assessment report (TAR).





reported as "IE" here as it is assumed that the loss has already been included within the calculations.

 CO_2 , CH_4 and N_2O are first estimated and reported separately. The emissions are then converted to CO_2eq and reported as a summed total.

The estimates must be reported by controlled burning (harvest residues and litter or firebreaks).

Controlled burning – Accounting of emissions from fire, Sfire

This source is reported but a 100% discount is applied in the accounting. See Chapter B, Section 3 (Accounting Rulebook).

C.3.5. Applied Fertiliser, S_{fert}

The application of fertilisers results in human-induced net N additions to soils (e.g. organic fertilisers such as deposited manure, crop residues, sewage sludge and synthetic fertilisers) and consequentially N_2O emissions. Commercial fertilizers may contain a fraction of nitrogen which represents the activity data for estimation (N inputs). Formally termed "direct emissions from the application of fertiliser", it



does not include the emissions generated through the production and supply of the fertiliser, only the N_2O emissions generated where they are applied. Only synthetic N fertilisers are assumed to be used, i.e. methodology to estimate emissions due to the use of organic fertilisers is not included in the MRV tool or this document.

Calculation method in the MRV tool

The calculations for emissions from applied fertiliser (S_{fert}) are based on the IPCC 2006 Tier 1 methodology (volume 4, chapter 11). Emissions from fertiliser are calculated based on the following equations for example:

$N_2 O_{Direct} - N = N_2 O - N_{N inputs}$	Equation C.18
$N_2 O - N_{N inputs} = F_{SN} \times EF_N$	Equation C.19

Where:

 N_2O Direct -N = annual direct N_2O-N emissions produced from managed soils, kg N_2O-N yr⁻¹ (N which is available for conversion to N_2O)

- N₂O–N inputs = annual direct N₂O–N emissions from N inputs to managed soils, kg N₂O–N yr⁻¹
- F_{SN} = annual amount of synthetic fertiliser N applied to soils, kg N yr⁻¹
 - $\circ \quad F_{SN} = F_{TOTAL} \times Fraction_{N},$
 - where F_{TOTAL} = Total fertiliser applied (kg), Fraction N = the fraction of N in fertiliser
- EF_N = emission factor for N₂O emissions from N inputs (default 0.01 t N₂O-N tN⁻¹)

Conversion of N_2O-N emissions to N_2O emissions for reporting purposes is performed by using the following equation:

$$N_2 O = N_2 O - N \times \frac{44}{28}$$

Emissions of CH₄ and N₂O are converted to CO₂eq applying GWP of IPCC third assessment report (TAR).





Data required for estimates in the MRV tool

Registered companies must provide their annual total fertiliser application in kg of N. Default values are provided for other parameters required to calculate the total N applied and N₂O.

<i>Table 6.10. Data readica foi estimatina emissions n'oni abbilea rertinser</i>	Table C.16: Data rea	auired for	[.] estimatina	emissions f	rom applied	fertiliser.
--	----------------------	------------	-------------------------	-------------	-------------	-------------

Fertiliser type	Enter fertiliser type	
Activity	Forest Management, Afforestation Elective Deforestation or Mandatory Deforestation	
N in fertiliser applied (kg)	The total N In nitrogen applied	

Companies should report the total emissions both in t N₂O and t CO₂eq from fertiliser application.

Accounting of applied Fertiliser, Sfert

This source is reported but a 100% discount is applied in the accounting. **Refer to Annex B, Section 5** (Accounting Rulebook).

C.3.6. Land Tracking

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

CONTINUES ON PAGE 130 OF BOOK 2

Printed by and obtainable from the Government Printer, Bosman Street, Private Bag X85, Pretoria, 0001 Contact Centre Tel: 012-748 6200. eMail: info.egazette@gpw.gov.za Publications: Tel: (012) 748 6053, 748 6061, 748 6065

This gazette is also available free online at www.gpwonline.co.za



Government Gazette Staatskoerant REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA REPUBLIEK VAN SUID AFRIKA

	Vol. 679	28 January Januarie 2022	No. 45816	
		Part 2 of 2		
Sector Aid	N.B. The Govern not be held resp "Hard Copies submitted for S HELPLIN	ment Printing Works will onsible for the quality of " or "Electronic Files" publication purposes 9 E: 0800-0123-22 Pre	SSN 1682-5845 4 5 8 1 6 4 5 8 1	

There is a need for land tracking under the C tax that is covered in the **sheet Facility Register in the MRV tool.** This is required to ensure accounted emissions/removals are permanent and that once an area is accounted it will continue to be accounted for subsequent years. General information is requested by Facility unit.

Forest ID	Enter unique forest ID
Province	Select from dropdown/ provide text
Region	Select from dropdown/ provide text
Geospatial verification	Provide file reference e.g. paper maps, or geospatial reference
Species/genus	Predominate species name, this should be consistent with the calculation sheets
Area	Enter the area in ha, this should be consistent with the areas entered in either the Land Gain- Loss Method or Land Stock-Difference Method sheets
TUP area	Enter temporary unplanted area in ha.

Table C.17: General information by Facility unit.

C.3.7. 3rd Party register

There is a need to track the 3rd parities from which the taxpayer is purchasing wood. This is done within the **sheet 3rd Party Register in the MRV tool.** This is required to ensure accounted emissions/removals are eligible, "3rd party forests" is defined a forest land area or ownership that is not eligible under the C Tax Act. Its participation in the scheme is only possible through eligible entities which report emissions from fossil fuels "E" under the C tax. In accordance with the conservative principle, emissions from 3rd party growers must be reported. It is optional to report removals. Refer to the Accounting Guidelines for more information. General information is requested by 3rd Party Name.



Table C.18: General information by Forest unit.

3 rd Party Name	Enter 3 rd party name
Forest ID	Enter unique forest ID
Area harvested	Enter the area of the Forest that is harvested
Proportion of harvest bought	Enter value
Harvest amount	Enter value
Units of harvest	Provide the units of the harvest amount
Geospatial verification	Provide file reference e.g. paper maps, or geospatial reference
Is there an agreement with the 3 rd Party?	Yes or no
Has a certificate been provided?	Yes or no
Are forest emissions/reported?	Yes or no

C.3.8. Verification

A separate document has been prepared to provide detailed information for the verification process (see Chapter D of this report). In the **sheet Verification in the MRV tool** some information relating to verification is provided. It is not mandatory to complete this sheet, but taxpayers are encouraged to do so as it would assist the verification process and could shorten the time for the approval process.

C.3.9. Guidance for the Use of Models

Companies can develop their own tier 3 methods for estimating carbon sources and sinks. Tier 3 methods make use of measurements and/or modelling, with the goal of improving the estimation of GHG emissions and removals. The IPCC Refinement Volume 4, chapter 2, section 2.5. provides guidance on the development of such models.

If tier 3 models are applied in C tax accounting, it is essential to have detailed and transparent documentation to accompany the model. The following details are required in the documentation:

- a) Model selection or development:
 - i. A description of the model.
 - ii. Reasons for choosing the model (e.g. suitability to C tax reporting and accounting).
 - iii. Discussion on any likely consequences if the model is used outside of the domain that the model is parameterised to simulate.



- b) Model calibration:
 - i. Description of the process undertaken to calibrate the model.
 - ii. Documentation of the data sources informing the manual or automatic calibration.
- c) Model behaviour evaluation:
 - i. Results of the analysis verifying model behaviour using independent measurements to confirm that the model is capable of estimating carbon stocks, stock changes and/or emissions and removals in the source/sink categories of interest.
 - ii. Source of independent data.
- d) Model implementation:
 - i. Overview of procedures that are used to apply the model.
- e) Quantifying uncertainties:
 - i. Description of the approach taken to estimate uncertainty in the model outputs.
- f) Verification of estimates:
 - i. Summary of the verification results for the model.
- g) Reporting and documentation:
 - i. Information on the quality assurance and quality control step taken throughout the process.

This documentation would need to be submitted along with the C Tax sequestration submission to DFFE.

C.4. References

- Adu Poku, S. (2015). Plant-based carbon flow analysis of South African pulp mills. MSc Thesis School of Chemical Engineering at the College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban South Africa.
- Christie, S. & Scholes, R. (1995). Carbon storage in eucalyptus and pine plantations in South Africa. *Environmental monitoring and assessment,* 38, 231-241.
- IPCC (2001). Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Houghton, J.T., Y. Ding, D.J. Griggs, M. Noguer, P.J. van der Linden, X. Dai, K. Maskell, and C.A. Johnson (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 881pp.
- IPCC (2006). 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, Eggleston H.S., Buendia L., Miwa K., Ngara T. and Tanabe K. (eds). Published: IGES, Japan. Available at: <u>https://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/2006gl/index.html</u>
- IPCC (2014). 2013 Revised Supplementary Methods and Good Practice Guidance Arising from the Kyoto Protocol, Hiraishi, T., Krug, T., Tanabe, K., Srivastava, N., Baasansuren, J., Fukuda, M.



and Troxler, T.G. (eds) Published: IPCC, Switzerland. Available at: <u>https://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/kpsg/index.html</u>

- IPCC (2019). 2019 Refinement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Calvo Buendia, E., Tanabe, K., Kranjc, A., Baasansuren, J., Fukuda, M., Ngarize S., Osako, A., Pyrozhenko, Y., Shermanau, P. and Federici, S. (eds). Published: IPCC, Switzerland. Available at: <u>https://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/2019rf/index.html</u>
- Skog K & Nicholson G.A (1998). Carbon cycling through wood products: The role of wood and paper products. Forest Products Journal 48(7):75-83.
- UNECE/FAO (2010). Forest Product Conversion Factors for the UNECE Region. GENEVA TIMBER AND FOREST DISCUSSION PAPER 49. UN, Geneva.



Appendix C

Appendix C.1: Functionalities in the MRV Tool & User Tips

It is recommended that users familiarise themselves with the Methodology Guidelines before using the MRV Tool. The key functionalities or the MRV Tool and user tips are provided below. This information is also provided within the **Sheet Content and Instructions in the MRV tool.**

- a) Detailed information is provided within each sheet as well as within the Methodological Guidance. Read this information carefully before entering any data into the tool.
- b) Complete all green cells (input data cells) which are relevant for the tier being applied, note that users should:
 - i) Use either the gain-loss or the stock-difference method for calculating the carbon stock change in living biomass.
 - ii) Use either the tier 1 or tier 2 tables provided for Sawmills in the 'HWP' sheet.
- c) Complete the methodology boxes at the top of each sheet.
- d) Add new rows under the tables as needed, the formula will be copied automatically.
- e) Some tables are pre-filled with data for demonstration purposes, references are provided to the Methodological Guidelines. This data should be overridden/ removed before submitting this file.
- f) The formulae within the compilation tables are provided to help with the calculations but can be overridden, it is recommended that users first review the examples provided within the MRV Tool.
- g) Default parameters are provided for some categories, users may use their own parameters as long as justification is provided. Detailed information is provided within the methodology.
- h) Some activity data/emissions/removals estimates required for the yellow compilation sheets can be generated in the **Sheet Supporting Calculations in the MRV Tool**.
- i) The **Sheet Reporting & Accounting in the MRV Tool** is filled automatically, ensure that the appropriate methods are selected in the dropdowns.

Where no emissions/removals are generated from a source/pool the appropriate notation keys should be applied (see below).



Appendix C.2: Country specific Mass flow factors for sawn wood

Mass flow factors for all sawn wood production systems based on inflows of round wood. The only available mass flow factors for the sawn wood products are provided by Kerr (unpublished thesis, 2019) as shown in Table C.19. These are based on mass flow for all sawn wood products in South Africa, so these estimates are not suitable for use by individual mills because recovery rates could vary from 28 to 100 % (Christie and Scholes, 1995). These are not considered to be suitable for reporting of HWP flow for individual companies.

Table C.19:	Mass flow	factors j	for sawn	wood. Not	to be used	for i	Tier 1
-------------	-----------	-----------	----------	-----------	------------	-------	--------

Mass flow factor	Value (t C/t C of roundwood inflows)
fmC _E	0.061
fmC _{LW} *	NA
fmC _{sw}	0.092

* There are no liquid waste emission C flows in the sawn wood processing sector (NA= not applicable)



Lookup	Climatic Zone	Species	Growing stock level (m ³)	BCEF ₁ (t/m ³)	BCEF _R (t/m ³)	BCEF _s (t/m³)
Hardwoods/Eucalyptus< 20	Temperate	Hardwoods/Eucalyptus	< 20	1.5	3.33	£
Hardwoods/Eucalyptus21 - 40	Temperate	Hardwoods/Eucalyptus	21 - 40	1.3	1.89	1.7
Hardwoods/Eucalyptus41 - 100	Temperate	Hardwoods/Eucalyptus	41 - 100	0.9	1.55	1.4
Hardwoods/Eucalyptus101 - 200	Temperate	Hardwoods/Eucalyptus	101 - 200	0.6	1.17	1.05
Hardwoods/Eucalyptus> 200	Temperate	Hardwoods/Eucalyptus	> 200	0.48	0.89	0.8
Pines< 20	Temperate	Pines	< 20	1.5	2	1.8
Pines21 - 40	Temperate	Pines	21 - 40	0.75	1.11	1
Pines41 - 100	Temperate	Pines	41 - 100	0.6	0.83	0.75
Pines101 - 200	Temperate	Pines	101 - 200	0.67	0.77	0.7
Pines> 200	Temperate	Pines	> 200	0.69	0.77	0.7
Acacia< 20	Temperate	Acacia	< 20	1	3.33	£
Acacia21 - 40	Temperate	Acacia	21 - 40	0.83	1.55	1.4
Acacia41 - 100	Temperate	Acacia	41 - 100	0.57	1.11	H
Acacia101 - 200	Temperate	Acacia	101 - 200	0.53	0.83	0.75

Appendix C.3: BCEF default values (see "BCEF lookups" In MRV tool)

щ	
Ž	
U U U	
S	

Acacia> 200	Temperate	Acacia	> 200	0.6	0.77	0.7
	Ator A Toblo A F					

Source: IPCC (2006) Volume 4, Chapter 4, Table 4.5





Appendix C.4: Default and country-specific parameters included in the MRV tool

										st logging
Data Source	IPCC 2006	IPCC 2006	IPCC third assessment report (TAR)	IPCC third assessment report (TAR)	1		IPCC 2006, V4, Chp4, Table 4.3 Default value		Nadel (2005) (Knowles & Christie, 2018, p.55, table 6.2)	IPCC, 2019b Table 2.6 (Updated) "Other temperate forests – Po slash burn"
							Ë		Б	u
Units		,	,				t C/ d.		fractio	fractic
Value	-3.67	1.57	23	296	0.001		0.47		0.92	0.62
Parameter	C to CO2	N to N2O	GWP CH4	GWP N2O	kg to t / g to kg		CF: Default		Eucalyptus grandis - Both treatments, spread- and piled- slash	Other temperate forests - post logging slash burn (Eucalyptus)
Type	General factors	named ranges set				Carbon Fraction		Combustion factors		



щ	
=	
ร	
ш	
Т	
S	
S	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Eucalyptus grandis - 36.4 t.ha-1 pre- fire, 4.2 t.ha-1 post-fire	6.0	fraction	Dovey (2012) (Knowles & Christie, 2018, p.55, table 6.2)
	Firebreaks: grassland	1	fraction	IPCC (2006)
R: above-grou	ind to below-ground ratio			
	R: Eucalyptus grandis	0.24	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: Eucalyptus dunnii	0.24	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: Eucalyptus macarthurii	0.24	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: Eucalyptus nitens	0.24	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: Eucalyptus smithii	0.24	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: E.grandis x E.urophylla	0.24	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: E.grandis x E.nitens	0.24	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016



Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	R: E.grandis x E.camaldulensis	0.24	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: Pinus patula	0.28	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: Pinus elliottii (13 yrs)	0.28	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: Pinus radiata	0.28	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: Pinus taeda (12 yrs)	0.28	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: Pinus pinaster	0.28	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	R: Acacia mearnsii	0.28	ratio	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
D: Mean woo	d density			
	D: Eucalyptus grandis	0.42	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: Eucalyptus dunnii	0.534	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016



This gazette is also available free online at www.gpwonline.co.za

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	D: Eucalyptus macarthurii	0.541	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: Eucalyptus nitens	0.483	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: Eucalyptus smithii	0.569	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: E.grandis x E.urophylla	0.487	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: E.grandis x E.nitens	0.512	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: E.grandis x E.camaldulensis	0.588	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: Pinus patula	0.354	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: Pinus elliottii (13 yrs)	0.42	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: Pinus radiata	0.382	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: Pinus taeda (12 yrs)	0.416	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016





ш
_
=
2
ш
Ŧ
六
Q
ഗ

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	D: Pinus pinaster	0.44	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
	D: Acacia mearnsii	0.655	t/m³	Du Toit B. et al. (2016) Carbon sequestration in South Africa plantation forests, Progress report number 1. Prepared for PAMSA, February 2016
Bark fraction				
	Bark fraction: default	0.13	fraction	IPCC 2006, V4, Ch12, Table 12.5, default value from notes
Default living	biomass in other land uses			
	Total biomass: Grassland	6.1	t C/ d.m.	IPCC 2006, V4, Ch6, Table 6.4, Climate: Warm temperate, dry
	Total biomass: Annual Cropland	S	t C/ d.m.	IPCC 2006, V4, Ch5, Table 5.9
	Total biomass: Perennial Cropland	2.1	t C/ d.m.	IPCC 2006, V4, Ch5, Table 5.9, Climate: Temperate
	Total biomass: Other	0		
Default DOM	carbon stocks			
	DOM: Broadleaf deciduous	28.2	t C/ha	IPCC 2006, V4, Ch2, Table 2.2, Climate: Warm temperate, dry
	DOM: Needleleaf evergreen	20.3	t C/ha	IPCC 2006, V4, Ch2, Table 2.2, Climate: Warm temperate, dry
Default mass	flow fraction for C leaving the mill as a prop	portion of timbe	er entering the mill	under different milling processes. Paper/pulp mill



3	
2	
Ш	
Ľ	
ပ္တ	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	FmCE: Kraft	0.49	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 40-50
	FmCE: Sulphite	0.42	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 29
	FmCE: Soda (Bagasse)	0.62	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 28-42
	FmCE: Thermomechanical	0.11	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 72-95
	FmCE: NSSC	0.13	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 63-76
	FmCE: Mechanical & Kraft	0.36	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 46
	FmCE: NSSC & Kraft	0.28	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 57
	FmCSW: Kraft	0.03	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 40-50
	FmCSW: Sulphite	0.01	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 29
	FmCSW: Soda (Bagasse)	0.05	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 28-42
	FmCSW: Thermomechanical	0.04	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 72-95
	FmCSW: NSSC	0.15	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 63-76
	FmCSW: Mechanical & Kraft	60.0	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 46
	FmCSW: NSSC & Kraft	60.0	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 57
	FmCLW: Kraft	0	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 40-50

This gazette is also available free online at www.gpwonline.co.za



GOVERNMENT GAZETTE, 28 JANUARY 2022
Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	FmCLW: Sulphite	0.27	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 29
	FmCLW: Soda (Bagasse)	0.015	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 28-42
	FmCLW: Thermomechanical	0.1	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 72-95
	FmCLW: NSSC	0	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 63-76
	FmCLW: Mechanical & Kraft	0	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 46
	FmCLW: NSSC & Kraft	0.04	fraction	Adu Poku, 2015; Published yield range %: 57
FHWPrecvalu mill default a _ƙ	les for different categories and sources of da pproach.	ata for the saw		
	FHWPrec: Sawn wood	0.43	fraction	Mean value. South African Forestry and Forest Industry Facts 1980-2017
	FHWPrec: Sawn wood (Pine)	0.5	fraction	CHRISTIE, S. & SCHOLES, R. 1995
	FHWPrec: Sawn wood (Eucs)	0.28	fraction	CHRISTIE, S. & SCHOLES, R. 1995
	FHWPrec: Veneer and plywood	0.46	fraction	UNECE/FAO, 2010
	FHWPrec: Particle board	0.82	fraction	UNECE/FAO, 2010
	FHWPrec: OSB and waferboard	0.9	fraction	UNECE/FAO, 2010
	FHWPrec: Fibreboard (all)	0.85	fraction	UNECE/FAO, 2010



SCHEDULE

ш	
$\overline{\mathbf{Z}}$	
Ξ	
ΰ	
Ō	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	FHWPrec: Mining timber	0.74	fraction	Median value (data not normally distributed). South African Forestry and Forest Industry Facts 1980-2017
	FHWPrec: Poles	0.83	fraction	Median value (data not normally distributed). South African Forestry and Forest Industry Facts 1980-2017
fLC96 values f	for different mill inputs			
	fLC96: Solid wood	0.97	fraction	Skog & Nicholson, 1998
	fLC96: Newsprint	0.84	fraction	Skog & Nicholson, 1998
	fLC96: Coated paper	0.82	fraction	Skog & Nicholson, 1998
	fLC97: Boxboard	0.68	fraction	Skog & Nicholson, 1998
	fLC97: Office paper	0.62	fraction	Skog & Nicholson, 1998
	fLC97: Mean paper used for pulp	0.74	fraction	Skog & Nicholson, 1998
Fires				
	Extra tropical forest CO2 EF	1569	g/kg d.m. burnt	Andreae and Merlet (2001). IPCC 2006, V4, Ch2, Table 2.5
	Extra tropical forest CH4 EF	4.7	g/kg d.m. burnt	Andreae and Merlet (2001). IPCC 2006, V4, Ch2, Table 2.5
	Extra tropical forest N2O EF	0.26	g/kg d.m. burnt	Andreae and Merlet (2001). IPCC 2006, V4, Ch2, Table 2.5
	Savanna and grassland CO2 EF	1613	g/kg d.m. burnt	Andreae and Merlet (2001). IPCC 2006, V4, Ch2, Table 2.6



щ	
ЪС	
单	
ŝ	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Savanna and grassland CH4 EF	2.3	g/kg d.m. burnt	Andreae and Merlet (2001). IPCC 2006, V4, Ch2, Table 2.7
	Savanna and grassland N2O EF	0.21	g/kg d.m. burnt	Andreae and Merlet (2001). IPCC 2006, V4, Ch2, Table 2.8
	Slight loss	0.01	fraction	South Africa 2017 GHI inventory
	Serious damage	0.6	fraction	South Africa 2017 GHI inventory
	Total loss	1	fraction	South Africa 2017 GHI inventory
Controlled bu	urning			
	Biomass burning Post-harvest: Eucalyptus grandis	31.4	t d.m/ha	du Toit et al. (2004) (Knowles & Christie, 2018)
	Biomass burning Post-harvest-spread slash: Eucalyptus grandis	15	t d.m/ha	Nadel (2005) (Knowles & Christie, 2018)
	Biomass burning Post-harvest-piled slash: Eucalyptus grandis	6/	t d.m/ha	Nadel (2005) (Knowles & Christie, 2018)
	Biomass burning Post-harvest-mean: Eucalyptus grandis	15.4	t d.m/ha	Nadel (2005) (Knowles & Christie, 2018)
	Biomass burning Post-harvest-harvest residue: Eucalyptus grandis	26	t d.m/ha	Dovey (2012) (Knowles & Christie, 2018)
	Biomass burning Post-harvest-litter: Eucalyptus grandis	24.6	t d.m/ha	



щ
╧
2
₩.
ō.
ŏ

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Biomass burning Post-harvest-litter- sawn timber regime: Pinus patula	15 - 138	t d.m/ha	Ross 2004 (Knowles & Christie, 2018)
	Biomass burning Post-harvest-litter- pulp wood regime: Pinus patula	23 - 53	t d.m/ha	Ross 2004 (Knowles & Christie, 2018)
	Biomass burning Post-harvest-harvest residue-sawn timber regime: Pinus patula	54.6	t d.m/ha	Ross 2004 (Knowles & Christie, 2018)
	Biomass burning Post-harvest-harvest residue - pulpwood regime: Pinus patula	55.6	t d.m/ha	Ross 2004 (Knowles & Christie, 2018)
	Biomass burning grassland: firebreaks	10	t d.m/ha	IPCC 2006, V4, Ch2, Table 2.4, All savanna grasslands (mid/late dry season burns)*
	Biomass burning savanna: firebreaks	7	t d.m/ha	IPCC 2006, V4, Ch2, Table 2.4, All savanna grasslands (mid/late dry season burns)*
Fertilisers				
	EF for N additions from mineral fertilisers, organic amendments and crop residues, and N mineralised from mineral soil as a result of loss of soil carbon	0.01	kg N2O-N (kg N)-1	IPCC 2006 V4, Ch11, Table 11.1. Uncertainty range 0.003 - 0.03
Discount for e	missions			



Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Fires	100		Accounting Rulebook and C tax Bill 2019
schedule 2 of the act	Fertilisation	100		Accounting Rulebook and C tax Bill 2019
SOC values				
	Managed forest - Cold, temperate, dry - High activity clay	50	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Cold, temperate, dry - Low activity clay	33	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Cold, temperate, dry - Sandy soils	34	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Cold, temperate, dry - Volcanic soils	20	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Cold, temperate, dry - Wetland soils	87	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Cold temperate, moist - High activity clay	95	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Cold temperate, moist - Low activity clay	85	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)

Page **108**



This gazette is also available free online at www.gpwonline.co.za

ш	
$\overline{\mathbf{Z}}$	
Ξ	
ΰ	
Ō	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Managed forest - Cold temperate, moist - Sandy soils	71	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Cold temperate, moist - Spodic soils	115	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Cold temperate, moist-Volcanic soils	130	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Cold temperate, moist - Wetland soils	87	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, dry - High activity clay	38	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, dry - Low activity clay	24	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, dry - Sandy soils	19	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, dry - Volcanic soils	70	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, dry - Wetland soils	88	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, moist - High activity clay	88	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)



ш	
Δ	
ш	
Т	
C	
Ō	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, moist - Low activity clay	63	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, moist - Sandy soils	34	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, moist - Spodic soils	NA	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, moist - Volcanic soils	80	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Managed forest - Warm temperate, moist - Wetland soils	88	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Cold, temperate, dry - High activity clay	33.56	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Cold, temperate, dry - Low activity clay	22.15	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Cold, temperate, dry - Sandy soils	22.83	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Cold, temperate, dry - Volcanic soils	ĸ	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Cold, temperate, dry - Wetland soils	58.41	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)



ш	
2	
ш	
Τ	
Ö	
S	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Perennial crop - Cold temperate, moist - High activity clay	63.77	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Cold temperate, moist - Low activity clay	57.06	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Cold temperate, moist - Sandy soils	47.66	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Cold temperate, moist - Spodic soils	77.2	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Cold temperate, moist - Volcanic soils	87.27	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Cold temperate, moist - Wetland soils	58.41	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, dry - High activity clay	25.51	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, dry - Low activity clay	16.11	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, dry - Sandy soils	12.76	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, dry - Volcanic soils	46.99	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)





GOVERNMENT GAZETTE, 28 JANUARY 2022

ш	
Δ	
ш	
Т	
C	
Ō	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, dry - Wetland soils	59.08	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, moist - High activity clay	59.084	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, moist - Low activity clay	42.29	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, moist - Sandy soils	22.83	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, moist - Spodic soils	NA	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, moist - Volcanic soils	53.71	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Perennial crop - Warm temperate, moist - Wetland soils	59.07	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Cold, temperate, dry - High activity clay	36.73	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Cold, temperate, dry - Low activity clay	24.24	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Cold, temperate, dry - Sandy soils	24.98	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)



ш	
2	
ш	
Τ	
Ö	
S	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Annual crop - Cold, temperate, dry - Volcanic soils	14.69	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Cold, temperate, dry - Wetland soils	63.91	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Cold temperate, moist - High activity clay	63.97	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Cold temperate, moist - Low activity clay	57.24	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Cold temperate, moist - Sandy soils	47.81	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Cold temperate, moist - Spodic soils	77.44	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Cold temperate, moist - Volcanic soils	87.54	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Cold temperate, moist - Wetland soils	58.58	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, dry - High activity clay	27.58	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, dry - Low activity clay	17.42	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)



ш	
Δ	
ш	
Т	
C	
Ō	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, dry - Sandy soils	13.79	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, dry - Volcanic soils	50.81	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, dry - Wetland soils	63.87	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, moist - High activity clay	58.47	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, moist - Low activity clay	41.86	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, moist - Sandy soils	22.59	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, moist - Spodic soils	NA	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, moist - Volcanic soils	53.15	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Annual crop - Warm temperate, moist - Wetland soils	58.47	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Cold, temperate, dry - High activity clay	50	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)



ш	
$\overline{\mathbf{Z}}$	
Ξ	
ΰ	
Ō	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Natural grassland - Cold, temperate, dry - Low activity clay	33	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Cold, temperate, dry - Sandy soils	34	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Cold, temperate, dry - Volcanic soils	20	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Cold, temperate, dry - Wetland soils	87	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Cold temperate, moist - High activity clay	95	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Cold temperate, moist - Low activity clay	85	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Cold temperate, moist - Sandy soils	71	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Cold temperate, moist - Spodic soils	115	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Cold temperate, moist - Volcanic soils	130	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Cold temperate, moist - Wetland soils	87	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)



ш	
Δ	
ш	
Т	
C	
Ō	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, dry - High activity clay	38	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, dry - Low activity clay	24	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, dry - Sandy soils	19	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, dry-Volcanic soils	70	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, dry - Wetland soils	88	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, moist - High activity clay	88	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, moist - Low activity clay	63	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, moist - Sandy soils	34	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, moist - Spodic soils	NA	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, moist - Volcanic soils	80	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)



ш	
_	
5	
7	
ш	
т	
$\overline{\mathbf{O}}$	
ž	
0,	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Natural grassland - Warm temperate, moist - Wetland soils	88	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold, temperate, dry - High activity clay	46.4	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold, temperate, dry - Low activity clay	30.64	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold, temperate, dry - Sandy soils	31.55	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold, temperate, dry - Volcanic soils	18.56	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold, temperate, dry - Wetland soils	80.74	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold temperate, moist - High activity clay	88.16	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold temperate, moist - Low activity clay	78.89	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold temperate, moist - Sandy soils	65.89	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold temperate, moist - Spodic soils	106.72	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)



ш	
Δ	
ш	
Т	
C	
Ō	

Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold temperate, moist - Volcanic soils	120.64	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Cold temperate, moist - Wetland soils	80.74	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, dry - High activity clay	35.492	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, dry - Low activity clay	22.42	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, dry - Sandy soils	17.75	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, dry - Volcanic soils	65.38	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, dry - Wetland soils	82.192	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, moist - High activity clay	82.72	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, moist - Low activity clay	59.22	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, moist - Sandy soils	31.96	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)



Type	Parameter	Value	Units	Data Source
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, moist - Spodic soils	NA	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, moist - Volcanic soils	75.2	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)
	Moderately degraded grassland - Warm temperate, moist - Wetland soils	82.72	t C/ha	SA NIR 2017 (IPCC 2006 SOC Ref and IPCC 2019 stock change factors)



Chapter D: Verification Guidelines for Carbon Sequestration in Forest Plantations

D.1. Overview

An overview of the verification process is shown in Table D.1. The Carbon Tax Sequestration MRV Tool (referred to as "MRV Tool" throughout this document) is the tool which should be submitted via the SAGERS system. The collection of data and calculation of emissions/removals should follow the rules provided in the Accounting Rulebook (Chapter B) and the methods provided in the Methodological Guidelines for Land Activities in Forest Plantations (Chapter C). The competent authority to undertake the review in this case is the Department of Forestry, Fisheries and Environment (DFFE).

Process stage	Details of the validation and verification guideline section	Applicable guideline section
1 Data collection	The taxpayer is required to collect and store relevant data and supporting evidence related to its sequestration. It is regarded as good practice that the facility establishes a Monitoring Plan.	Section D.2
2 Submission of data	The taxpayer is required to complete the self-declaration and MRV Tool and submit the requested documentation on the SAGERS. Taxpayers who have voluntarily submitted an acceptable verification statement on the SAGERS from an accredited or approved Independent Verifier (in accordance with process stages 4 and 5) alongside their MRV Tool, may have their data immediately approved by the DFFE for that facility, provided the requirements of Section D.2 have been met.	Section D.3
3 DFFE review	Once the taxpayer has submitted the required data to the SAGERS, the DFFE will conduct a series of post submittal data and risk assessment checks (see Section D.4.1). The results of the post-submittal checks will be used by the DFFE to determine which taxpayers should undergo inspection or independent verification and which taxpayers should have their MRV Tools approved.	Section D.4
4 Independent verification	If a taxpayer is selected for independent verification, they will be required to select an Independent Verifier approved by the DFFE prior to undertaking the verification assessment based on their competence being aligned to the SANAS accreditation requirements as outlined in Section D.5. This is a transitionary arrangement and Independent Verifiers will need to be SANAS accredited from 2023 to undertake independent verification. Additional detail on this is provided in Section D.5. The verification process must be completed within 90 days of notification. Once a	Section D.5

Table D.1: Overview of verification process.

	signed Verification Opinion and final Verification Report has been	
	issued by the Independent Verifier and the DFFE has conducted	
	final checks on the MRV Tool and Verification Report and is	
	satisfied with the outcome, the MRV Tool outputs will be	
	approved.	
5 Data approved	The taxpayers' MRV Tool is deemed accepted if the DFFE does not respond to the taxpayer with questions for clarification or corrections within 60 days of having received the Verification Report. If a taxpayer is required to undergo independent verification as outlined in Step 4, the DFFE will notify the taxpayer once the MRV Tool has been checked.	Section D.6

D.2. Data collection

Taxpayers must ensure transparency of the MRV Tool by archiving all data, calculations, algorithms, procedures and technical references used to estimate GHG emissions/removals. This information relates to the calculations performed for the listed activities in line with the requirements of the Accounting Rulebook (Chapter B) and the Methodological Guidelines for Land Activities in Forest Plantations (Chapter C). This is done to ensure that verification of submissions made in terms of the C Tax Act can take place. Data Providers must keep a record of the information submitted to the DFFE for at least five years, and at least between two successive independent verifications, and such records must, on request, be made available for inspection by the DFFE.

Documents to be kept are:

- a) Archiving all reports submitted for at least 5 years or since last independent verification.
- b) Documents to support the extent of the plantations area and wood/biomass productivity.
- c) Documentation of assessments made over excluded emission sources (e.g. annual amount of liquid and solid waste).
- d) Data management system documentation, including descriptions of the processes for data collection, input, calculation, and management.
- e) Results of any relevant internal audit or third-party verification activities.
- f) Facility level breakdowns of data used to generate the sequestration estimated in the MRV Tool for forest land and HWP.
- g) Records of incidents or events on site that may impact on production or other emission/sequestration drivers (e.g. disease or fires).
- h) Justification of the quantification methodology and emission factors used, including documented references and citations, and root data upon which any site-specific factors were derived.
- Documentation of any key assumptions and uncertainties associated with the sequestration data.



- j) Description of GHG reduction projects.
- k) Description of operational incidents that impact GHG performance.
- I) Explanation of trends in sequestration emissions from historical data and forecasts.
- m) Supporting MRV Tool detailing source data.
- n) Green Mamba spreadsheets.
- o) Submission files and documentation of reporting under the NGER.
- p) GIS or paper maps identifying the plantation areas.
- q) Documentation on system for distinguishing TUP from deforested areas, including remote sensing data to track TUP and deforestation.
- r) Certification records.
- s) Correspondence with suppliers of harvested wood and 3rd party suppliers (e.g., invoices).
- t) Manufacturing data, weigh bridge data, forest production data.
- u) Correspondence with suppliers of fertilisers (e.g., invoices).
- v) Self-implemented monitoring plan (optional).

D.3. Submission of data

In accordance with C Tax Act, all taxpayers are required to submit their Sequestration Report on the SAGERS for the preceding calendar year, to the DFFE by 31 March of each year. Taxpayers who have submitted a Verification Report, in accordance with Section D.5 of this guideline, with the submission of their MRV Tool report via the SAGERS, may have their data immediately approved by the DFFE provided that:

- a) The independent verifier has issued a positive Verification Opinion (see Section D.5 for further detail) and any material misstatements detected in the independent verification process have been rectified.
- b) The DFFE is satisfied that the Verification Report and opinion produced by the independent verifier is in line with the requirements of the Validation and Verification Guideline.
- c) A final check of the MRV Tool by the DFFE is completed.

Taxpayers who have been selected for independent verification, as an outcome of the process outlined in Section D.4.2, should submit the Verification Report to the DFFE within 90 days of being notified of the requirement to undertake independent verification by the DFFE.

D.3.1. Submission reports

Data Providers are required to submit the following information on the SAGERS by 31 March:

- a) MRV Tool: Taxpayers are required to complete the MRV Tool for each of its facilities.
- b) Self-declaration: As a part of the submission, taxpayers will be required to self-declare on the SAGERS that they have reviewed their MRV Tool for accuracy before submitting onto the

forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

SAGERS, and that all information submitted on the SAGERS is truthful, accurate, complete and in compliance with the C Tax Act, to the best of their knowledge.

- c) Verification Reports (Optional): Taxpayers who have voluntarily completed an independent verification exercise in accordance with the Validation and Verification Guideline, may submit their facility level Verification Report and Verification Opinion at this stage of submission. Taxpayers may have their data immediately approved by the Competent Authority for that facility, if they have opted to have their emissions verified, provided the requirements of Section D.3.1 have been met.
- d) Monitoring Plan (Optional): While it is not mandatory for taxpayers to submit monitoring plans to the competent authority in Phase 1 of the Verification Programme, taxpayers who have monitoring plans in place may do so.

D.4. Review by DFFE

D.4.1. Post submittal checks

Once the MRV Tool has been formally submitted on the SAGERS, the DFFE will run a number of postsubmittal checks to evaluate the validity of submitted data and identify areas where risk of inconsistencies or inaccuracies exist. The post-submittal checks will entail a combination of automated system and manual checks. The outcome of the post-submittal checks will determine whether independent verification required. Examples of the types of checks that will be conducted are outlined in Table D.2 below. Examples of other suggested checks which DFFE can undertake to ensure the value ranges are in the correct range are provided in Appendix D.

Type of check	Description	MRV tool reference
Rulebook checks	Check that all rules in the Rulebook have been adhered to.	
Range checks	Determine if Sequestration report data is within the expected range. Make comparisons with IPCC default values.	All sheets
Statistical checks	Evaluate data from similar taxpayers to identify outliers.	
Check that columns have been added correctly. All sheets		All sheets
Calculation checks	Check balance between various input and output parameters	
	Check all appropriate data columns are completed	All sheets

Table D.2: Examples of checks that will be completed as part of the review by competent authority.



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

	3rd party checks	
	Check that the discount factors are correctly applied.	Accounting sheet
Mass balance checks	Check the mass of carbon entering the mill is balanced with what is leaving the mills. Sum of inputs (tC) - sum of outputs (tC) = 0	HWP sheet
Afforestation checks	Check that afforested areas are not older than 20 years.	Land gain-loss method
Deforestation and TUP checks	Check the consistency in reporting of TUP and Deforestation areas	
HWP checks	Check the production data supplied in SA forestry statistics is not less than the sum of all inflows reported.	
Biomass burning checks	Check ratio of estimated gas emissions are equal to the GWP of that gas	Wildfires; Controlled burning
Methodological	Check changes in tier levels, and ensure methods are following IPCC methodology.	
checks	Ensure correct columns are completed for the selected Tier method	
Unit checks	Ensure consistency in units and check unit conversions.	
Change in ownership and registration checks	Determine if there have been any changes in ownership and whether this has affected outputs.	Verification sheet
Outside data checks	Data checks against an outside source, specifically Green Mamba forms (see Table D.3) and NGER submissions.	Verification sheet
Missing data checks	Identify gaps in emission/sequestration sources compared to the taxpayer activities.	
Cross checks	Cross-check with new data or common parameters used across sectors against that of other entities in the same sector or sector averages.	
	Cross-check with NGER submissions.	Verification sheet
Boundary checks	Assess whether data captured is in the correct reporting period, and that the data should be included as a part of the facilities data or not.	



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

	Ensure that roundwood stocks from previous years are not reported twice as input into HWP.	
Trend analysis	Identify unusual or unexpected trends or outliers which may be indicative of errors between years.	
	Complete a land change matrix and check all land area is accounted for.	
Land area checks	Check land change matrix for previous submission to check correspondence between previous and current stratification.	
Verification checks	Checks of the results of a previous verification completed in line with the validation and verification guideline.	

In the MRV Tool a Verification sheet has been included (Table D.3). The completion of this sheet is optional but would assist in the verification process and may reduce the change of being selected for an independent review.

Where areas of unexplained risk are detected, the DFFE may contact the taxpayer to resolve failed checks or explain why the failed checks do not indicate an error. This may entail a process of documentation requests by the DFFE for additional evidence to explain sources of error in the Sequestration Report. Where necessary, the DFFE may request an on-site visit to the taxpayer's facility if the documentation provided still does not satisfy the DFFE that the error has been resolved. Taxpayers are given a period of 60 days to address errors otherwise a compliance issue is raised.



Element	Method	Reported Value	Units	Green Mamba Reference	Notes
Any land acquired or leased?		Yes	ı	B.2 Page 3	
Area of land acquired/ leased from a 3rd party	G-L	0	ha	B.2.1 Page 3	Only area associated with purchases HWPs should be reported here
Total area at the beginning or the reporting period	S-D	30	ha	B.6 Page 5	
Area of plantation		0	t	Section C and D, Page 6 - 11	Consider total area by genus/species if possible
Total area by species: Softwood	S-D	[calculate manually]	ha	Section E Page 12	Aggregate softwood areas for comparison with Green Mamba
Total area by species: Eucalyptus grandis	S-D	0	ha	Section E Page 12	Aggregate Eucalyptus grandis areas for comparison with Green Mamba
Total area by species: Other eucalyptus	S-D	[calculate manually]	ha	Section E Page 12	Aggregate other eucalyptus areas for comparison with Green Mamba
Total area by species: Wattle	S-D	[calculate manually]	ha	Section E Page 12	Aggregate wattle areas for comparison with Green Mamba
Total area by species: Poplars	S-D	[calculate manually]	ha	Section E Page 12	Aggregate poplar areas for comparison with Green Mamba
Total area by species: Other hardwood	S-D	[calculate manually]	ha	Section E Page 12	Aggregate other hardwood areas for comparison with Green Mamba

Table D.3: Verification table included in the Sequestration tool.

In Only consider Total inflow: Mass C Entering the Mill (t) from company owned plantations	Assumed that only wild/accidental fires are reported under Green Mamba
Table F2.2 F.2.2 - Ow Consumption and / o Processing	Section H.1 Page 15
m3	ha
[calculate manually]	IJ
Total volume Consumed and / or Processed from own forest management units	Total area affected by wildfires



D.5. Independent verification

D.5.1. Selection of facilities for independent verification

D.5.1.1. Criteria for selection of independent verification

There are several factors that the DFFE will consider that may trigger the need for a taxpayer to undergo independent verification of their facility. The main criteria that will be used in this determination includes the following:

- a) The results of the post-submittal checks completed in Table D.2.
- b) The completion of the Verification tab in the MRV Tool (Table D.3).
- c) The total sequestration taxpayers with high total sequestration are more likely to be required to undergo independent verification.

D.5.1.2. Notification of independent verification

Should the taxpayer MRV Tool be selected to undergo independent verification, the DFFE will notify the taxpayer. The notification for independent verification will at a minimum contain the following details:

- a) Indication of the reason for being selected for independent verification.
- b) Detail on the timelines for the finalisation of the independent verification process
- c) The scope of the independent verification. Independent verification may in certain circumstance focus on specific elements of the Sequestration Reports submitted.
- d) Additional administrative guidance on the independent verification process.

D.5.2. Independent verification principles and requirements

D.5.2.1. Principles of verification

The principles of verification described below are taken from section 3.1.2 of the Guidelines for Validation and Verification of Emissions (DFFE, 2020). The Independent Verifier shall adhere to the following principles of verification throughout any independent verification engagement:

- a) Independence and objectivity –The Independent Verifier and its verification team shall remain independent of the facility and activity being verified, and free from bias and conflict of interest. The verification teams shall maintain objectivity throughout the verification to ensure that the findings and conclusions will be based on objective evidence generated during the verification.
- b) Ethical conduct Demonstrate ethical conduct through trust, integrity, confidentiality, and discretion throughout the verification process.
- c) Fair presentation Reflect truthfully and accurately verification activities, findings, conclusions, and reports. Report significant obstacles encountered during the verification process, as well as unresolved, diverging opinions among verification team members, the Independent Verifier, and the Data Provider.

d) Due professional care - Exercise due professional care and judgment in accordance with the importance of the task performed and the confidence placed by the Data Provider and Independent Verifier. Have the necessary skills and competencies to undertake the verification.

D.5.2.2. Scope of verification

The verification team shall plan and perform the verification to state with a reasonable level of assurance that the aggregated error in the total GHG emissions for the reporting period does not exceed the materiality limit.

These verification guidelines outline the type of verification procedures that shall be conducted (i.e. substantive testing, controls testing, site visit) to achieve a reasonable level of assurance. However, they are not intended to be prescriptive about the exact verification activities to be performed during verification. The exact verification activities shall be conducted based on the lead verifier's professional judgment.

D.5.2.3. Reasonable level of assurance

The level of assurance refers to the degree of assurance the intended user requires in a verification and this is defined in Section D.3.1.3 of the Guidelines for Validation and Verification of Emissions (DFFE, 2020).

D.5.2.4. Materiality

The prescribed materiality limit for independent verification engagements under these guidelines is 5% based on international standards and norms (DFFE, 2020). The total emissions and removals, i.e. the total "S" value, determined by the independent verifier should not deviate by more than 5% of the taxpayers reported value in order for the verification team to issue a positive Verification Opinion statement).

D.5.3. Independent verification process

The independent verification process will follow that described in Section D.3.2 of the Guidelines for Validation and Verification of Emissions (DFFE, 2020).

D.6. Data approval

A taxpayer's MRV Tool is deemed accepted if the DFFE does not respond to the taxpayer with questions for clarification, corrections or instruction for verification within 90 days of the submission. In the instance that a taxpayer is required to undergo independent verification, the DFFE will communicate with the taxpayer on the verification requirements and any necessary instructions and will provide confirmation once the verification process has concluded and the data has been approved by the DFFE.



Once the Sequestration Report is approved it will be submitted to SARS where it will be combined with the company's total fuel combustion related greenhouse gas emissions ("E" in the Carbon Tax Act). SARS will be responsible for checking that if the sequestration ("S") is actually a net emission (i.e. S<0) then "E-S=E".

D.7. References

DFFE, 2020. Technical Guidelines for Validation and Verification of Greenhouse Gas Emissions: A companion to the South African National Greenhouse Gas Emission Reporting Regulations, Department of Forestry, Fisheries and Environment, Pretoria, South Africa.



Appendix D

Type of check	Description	MRV tool sheet reference
Area checks	Total area checked against reported area for FM, AR, D (i.e. Total = FM+AR-D).	Facility register; 3 rd party register; Land gain-loss method; Land stock-difference method
Afforestation checks	Check that Afforestation area is not older than 20yrs	Land gain-loss method; Land stock-difference method
TUP check	Check that TUP is not more than 5 years	Land gain-loss method; Land stock-difference method, check MRV tool if emission is deducted
Deforestation check	TUP area that was 5 years in previous submission and was not replanted should be now deforestation.	Land gain-loss method; Land stock-difference method
Stratification checks	Check previous submission to check correspondence between previous and current stratification (for C stock change method).	Facility register
	Living Biomass GAIN (ABG+BGB, tC) / Living Biomass LOSS (ABG+BGB, tC) ±1 (or very close to 1, ideally smaller in sustainable forestry)	Land gain-loss method
Gain-loss method checks	Total of [Total net removal (t CO_2eq/yr)] / Total of [Total area (of AR, FM)] < approx. 5 (so in practice it should be equivalent to net biomass growth per 1 ha per year, as long as $1tCO_2 = 1 \text{ mc of wood}$, if annual roundwood increment is 10 m ³ that is $10tCO_2$, or slightly higher is entire ABG is included (foliage, roots) 12 tCO_2	Land gain-loss method
	Total of [Harvest volume (m ³ /yr)] = Total of [Harvest volume (m ³ /yr)] from Afforestation and Forest Management	Land gain-loss method, Green Mamba



Stock difference method	Total of [Total net removal (t CO2eq/yr)] / Total of [Total area (of AR, FM)] < MAI	Land stock-difference method
checks	Total of [Harvest volume (m ³ /yr)] = Total of [Harvest volume (m ³ /yr)] from Afforestation and Forest Management	Land stock-difference method, Green Mamba
Reporting and accounting checks	Total accounted amount / Total of [Total area (of AR, FM)] < approx. 5	Reporting & accounting
DOM checks	20 * DOM Δ C (tC) = DOM (tC/ha) in afforestation	Land gain-loss method; Land stock-difference method
Removals from forest	to be consistent with harvest from CSC biomass (expected approx. Rem >0.9 Harvest). Inflow cannot be bigger than removals	Land gain-loss method; Land stock-difference method
Volume entering the mill	to be consistent with Removal (expected approx. Entering >0.9 Removal)	Land gain-loss method; Land stock-difference method; HWP
National level checks	At national level, the sum of harvested from eligible must be the sum of inflow reported by all companies	
HWP checks	Total of [Volume Entering the Mill (m ³)] (HWP sheet) = Total of [Harvest volume Whole tree (m ³ /yr)] from Afforestation and Forest management	HWP
HWP mass balance checks	Sum of inputs (tC) - sum of outputs (tC) = 0	HWP
	Ratio of estimated N ₂ O emissions/ CO ₂ emissions = GWP N ₂ O	Wildfires; Controlled burning
Biomass burning verification	Ratio of estimated CH_4 emissions/ CO_2 emissions = GWP CH_4	Wildfires; Controlled burning
	Ratio of estimated N ₂ O emissions/ CH ₄ emissions = GWP N ₂ O/ GWP CH ₄	Wildfires; Controlled burning



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Fartilisar chacks	Verify	quantity	purchased	Fertilisers
	correspon	d to usage		



DEPARTMENT OF HIGHER EDUCATION AND TRAINING

NO. 1701

28 January 2022

THE STRATEGIC POLICY FRAMEWORK ON DISABILITY FOR THE POST-SCHOOL EDUCATION AND TRAINING (PSET) SYSTEM

INVITATION FOR COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT FRAMEWORK AND GUIDELINES TO ACCOMMODATE STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES IN TECHNICAL AND VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING (TVET) COLLEGES

I, Bonginkosi Emmanuel Nzimande, Minister of Higher Education, Science and Innovation, was mandated by the President in 2010 to develop a skilled and capable workforce to support an inclusive growth path (Outcome 5 of the Delivery Agreement). The Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) supports this direction and sees the establishment of an inclusive post-school education and training system as a cornerstone of an Integrated and caring society of the 21st century. It is critical that disability is appropriately addressed along with all other areas of transformation within the PSET system in South Africa.

The strategic policy framework on disability for the PSET system alludes to the fact that the DHET should create an enabling environment for inclusion and mainstreaming of people with disabilities in the PSET system and ensure that disability related policies and guidelines are implemented and monitored. In 2020 I approved the draft framework and guidelines to accommodate students with disabilities in TVET colleges. Its purpose is to develop norms and standards, and guidelines to assist colleges to implement and comply with legal frameworks governing the higher education sector in South Africa to create an inclusive and supportive PSET sector. In addition, this policy framework is intended to guide TVET Colleges to promote the rights of people with disabilities in the TVET sector, create an enabling academic environment without barriers and opportunities by removing unfair discrimination against students with disabilities in order for them to perform like their peers in accordance with their capabilities, aspirations, talents and abilities.

Therefore, I invite comments from members of the public; national organisations representing TVET college students and principals; the vocational education and training sector; the distance learning sector; educators; organised business; organised labour; provincial governments; municipal governments; business community; research and science councils; and relevant non-governmental organisations.

Comments, enquiries or clarity must be addressed to Ms Selina Kungwane; Email: <u>Makaopela.S@dhet.gov.za</u> or telephone: 012 312 6359. Comments may be submitted within the period specified in the notice from the date of publication.

Dr BE Nzimände, MP Minister of Higher Education, Science and Innovation Date: 13 10 2021



higher education & training

Department: Higher Education and Training REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

DRAFT FRAMEWORK AND GUIDELINES TO ACCOMMODATE STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES IN TECHNICAL AND VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING COLLEGES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of acronyms	2
Definitions	3
Context/Background	4
Purpose	7
Legal framework	8
Scope	9
Disclosure of disability	10
An inclusive TVET College	10
Standardised functions of disability support unit	11
Access and accessibility	12
Physical access	12
Access to information	13
Technology	13
Resources	13
Assistive devices	14
Pre-entry support	15
On-course support	16
Exit support	18
Disciplinary procedures	18
Capacity development of lecturers, student support services staff and auxiliary support staff	18
Funding	19
Monitoring and evaluation instruments	19
Annexures	21

~

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

CETAct	Continuity Education and Training Act (16 of 2006)	
DHET	Department of Higher Education and Training	
GIZ	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit	
HIGHER HEALTH	Formerly known as HEAIDS, Higher Education and Training Health	
	Wellness and Development Centre	
HOD	Head of Department	
I.T	Information and Technology	
LTSM	Learning and Teaching Support Material	
NC (V)	National Certificate (Vocational)	
NPO	Non-Profit Organisation	
NGO	Non-Government Organisation	
OT ,	Occupational Therapist	
PSET	Post-School and Education and Training	
PwDs	Persons with Disabilities	
SA	South Africa	
SNE	Special Needs Education	
SSS	Student Support Services	
SwDs	Student with Disabilities	
TVET	Technical and Vocational Education and Training	
UNCRPD	UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities	
WG	Washington Group	
WIL	Work Integrated Learning	

Term	Definition
Access	a right for persons with disabilities to participate equally in ways that are not
	constrained by physical or mental limitations
Accessibility	encompasses both infrastructural accessibility as well as information
	accessibility
Amanuensis/	is a person whose task is to write or type what another person dictates or to
scriber	copy what has been written by another person
Assistive device	any device, mechanism and ergonomic equipment that reduces the barrier
-	/limitations experienced by a student with a disability
Barriers	refers to policies, actions, behaviors, practices, procedures, and institutional
	strategies which affect students' access and success in colleges
Attitudinal	are caused by inconsistencies in the interpretation of policies and guidelines
barriers	in place. These are false perceptions, ignorance, lack of knowledge,
	prejudicial attitudes about disability and PwDs which influences acts of
L	discrimination
Institutional	are barriers caused by policies, procedures, guidelines and practices denying
barriers	SwDs equal access to opportunities and studies
Environmental	are barriers caused by physical aspects of the environment and buildings
barriers	making accessibility to facilities and amenities difficult
Disability	according to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with
	Disabilities (UNCRPD) refers to a social construct resulting from the
	interaction between a person's impairment, attitudinal and environmental
	barriers that hinders their full and effective participation in society on an equal
Dischillt	basis with others
Mainatraamina	a process of integrating issues of disability in pursuit of non-discrimination and
Dischility	equality of opportunities for PwDs in society
Support Unit	a unit established at a TVET College responsible for disability mainstreaming,
Support Unit	integration, promotion of inclusion of SwDs, and assist with their learning and
Disability	reasonable accommodation needs
Support Dook	an official assigned by the IVET College responsible for disability
Support Desk	their learning, integration, promotion of inclusion of SwDs, and assist with
ъ.	their rearning and reasonable accommodation needs

DEFINITION OF TERMS

4

Impairment	a condition which limits a person to function like others. The impairment might
	be visible or invisible. It is caused by injury, illness, trauma and /or congenital
	factors resulting in a physical, sensory, mental, emotional or cognitive
	condition that is permanent and, long term or recurring and which causes a
	loss or difference of physiological or psychological functioning
Information	information is accessible to all students/PwDs e.g. written communication for
accessibility	students who are deaf or hard of hearing, and braille for students who are blind
Infrastructure	universal design of buildings, classrooms, walkways, lifts and recreational
accessibility	areas
Persons with	the United Nations's (UN's) Convention on the Rights of Persons with
Disabilities	Disabilities (UNCRPD), 2006 recognises that persons with disabilities include
	those who have long-term physical, mental, intellectual or sensory
	impairments which in interaction with various barriers may hinder their full and
	effective participation in society on an equal basis with others
Psychometrist	a qualified practitioner has acquired a Bachelor of Psychology (BPsych)
	degree in Psychometry and with the Health Professions Council of South
	Africa (HPCSA) as a Psychometrist to render psychological assessment
	services in various settings within the scope of practice for Psychometrists.
	The focus of the profession is on prevention, promotion and community based
	care
Registered	a qualified practitioner has acquired a Bachelor of Psychology (BPsych) and
counsellor	registered with the Health Professions Council of South Africa (HPCSA) as a
	Registered Counsellor to render psychological services that are focused on
	primary prevention and intervention for psychological difficulties in diverse
	community contexts as well as promotion of psychosocial wellbeing
Reasonable	modification or adjustment to the environment that will enable a student with a
accommodation	disability to have access to or to participate or advance in their studies. The
	adjustment should create opportunities for the student with a disability to enjoy
	equal opportunities like her/his peers
Occupational	a health professional trained to assist people to overcome the limitations
therapist	caused by injury or illness, emotional or psychological difficulties,
	developmental delay or effects of ageing. May work in various environments

5
	including schools, nursing homes, hospitals and workplaces. In addition, they may offer assistive devices to help patients achieve independence
Students	refers to full-time and part-time students enrolled in all academic programmes (Ministerially funded and non-funded programmes)
Student/s with disability/ies	for the purpose of this policy it is a registered person/s with a TVET College and has declared her/his/their disability/ies. The person would have an impairment and experiencing restricted access to or progress in academic progress due to the impairment. A medical verification may be required

CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND

The mandate of the South African (SA) government is to increase access to all its citizens including persons with disabilities in all areas of society by, amongst others, promoting access to further education and creating employment opportunities.

The Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) sector consists of 50 public TVET colleges with 250 registered campuses for delivery of qualifications and part-qualifications. The strategic departmental objective for the public TVET colleges sector is to increase access, and to improve success rate in its programme offerings. In order to improve access and success, persons with disabilities (PwDs) need to be supported for them to succeed like their peers in the sector. Therefore, the Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) as governed by various legislative frameworks is committed to creating an enabling and conducive environment for learning for all. The DHET values diversity and it is committed to creating equal opportunities for all including Students with Disabilities (SwDs).

PURPOSE

This guideline document serves to:

- develop norms and standards, and guidelines to assist colleges to give specific focus on providing adequate access to SwDs.
- 2. guide TVET Colleges in promoting the rights of persons with disabilities in the TVET sector, create an enabling academic environment without barriers and create opportunities by eliminating unfair discrimination against SwDs in order to enable them to perform like their peers in line with their capabilities, aspirations, talents and abilities.
- 3. encourage and support the representation of SwDs in all academic and non-academic activities, student bodies and forums.
- provide guidance to TVET Colleges to develop effective disability support policies and guidelines which comply with legal frameworks governing the post-school education and training (PSET) system in SA.

5. encourage TVET Colleges to comply with policies and international prescripts on the promotion of skills development of persons with disabilities, inclusion in education and skills development.

LEGAL FRAMEWORK

- 6. SA is a signatory of the international agreements, conventions and declarations towards accessibility of education by all. The Universal Declarations of Human Rights, the United Nations International Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD) and the South African Bill of Rights enshrined in the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa (Act 108 of 199) form the basis of all strategies and guidelines developed towards granting PwDs their basic human right to education.
- 7. Section 29 of the Constitution of South Africa (Act 106 of 1996), states that "Everyone has the right to further education, which the state, through reasonable measures, must make progressively available and accessible" whilst Section 9(3) of the Constitution further states that "the state may not unfairly discriminate directly or indirectly against anyone on one or more grounds, including race, gender, sex, pregnancy, marital status, ethnic or social origin, colour, sexual orientation, age, **disability**, religion, conscience, belief, culture, language and birth".
- 8. The Education White Paper 6, 2001, defines full service schools and colleges as institutions which are equipped and supported to provide for the full range of learning needs among all learners. TVET colleges are administered in terms of the Continuing Education and Training Act, No 16 of 2006, as amended.
- 9. The White Paper on PSET System indicates that TVET Colleges must admit learners of all ages that are seeking education and training, provide quality vocational education and training and offer the necessary support to all students regardless of their disabilities.
- 10. The purpose of the White Paper on the Rights of People with Disabilities (WPRPD) is to create a free and just society inclusive of all PwDs as equal citizens. To achieve this, the WPRPD commits duty-bearers to realise the rights of PwDs.

- 11. The Strategic Policy Framework on Disability for the Post-School Education and Training System guides the improvement of access to and success in the TVET sector for PwDs. Through the implementation of this strategic policy framework, transformation and redress with regard to full inclusion, integration and equality for PwDs in the PSET system, will be improved in colleges.
- 12. The Framework for Student Support Services (SSS) provides a guide to TVET Colleges in integrating student support issues. It is a practical set of guiding principles, procedures and strategies for the provision of an integrated SSS that meet the requirements of the Department.
- The DHET in partnership with Higher Education Disability Services Association (HEDSA) developed a new model of classification of disabilities in the PSET sector (Annexure A).
- 14. The Higher Education and Training Health, Wellness and Development Centre (HIGHER HEALTH), South African-German Multisectoral HIV Prevention (MHIVP) Programme of Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) have developed a Disability Checklist which aims to enable TVET colleges to evaluate their current infrastructure, teaching systems and student support activities and, if necessary, make incremental changes in their educational institutions towards creating an enabling environment for SwDs.

SCOPE

- 15. TVET Colleges and their respective units are to comply with the guidelines of nondiscrimination, inclusivity and equal opportunities for SwDs.
- 16. SwDs will benefit from these guidelines to access support and reasonable accommodation for their integration and inclusion in the academic activities.
- 17. This guidelines document will inform the implementation of the TVET Colleges policies and practices when applied to SwDs.
- This guidelines document should be read and considered in conjunction with the other TVET Colleges' policies.

DISCLOSURE OF DISABILITY

- 19. TVET Colleges will encourage SwDs to disclose voluntarily in order to provide support and create reasonable accommodation.
- 20. TVET Colleges will not impose to SwDs to disclose their disability status and in the case of failure by the college to support the student as a result of non-disclosure, the college will not be held liable for failure to provide the necessary support and reasonable accommodation.
- 21. Students may disclose their disability at any time of their lifespan within the college, be it on entry, on-course or exit.
- 22. TVET Colleges must request medical proof to verify the disability (impairment or a condition disclosed).
- 23. SwDs may be required to disclose more information regarding their disability to assist the college to offer adequate support and to accommodate their needs.
- 24. TVET Colleges must protect the confidentiality of the information shared by students and keep it private.

AN INCLUSIVE TVET COLLEGE

- 25. An inclusive TVET College incorporates the needs of SwDs and students who experience barriers to learning in its operations with regards to its policies, practices, infrastructure, and pedagogy.
- 26. Creates an environment wherein lecturers and support staff are developed and capacitated in their work to support SwDs.
- 27. Infuses a sense of belonging and motivates students to participate in teaching and learning processes and programmes of the college community.
- 28. Ensures provision of assistive devices and accessibility to physical resources and infrastructure in the college.

 Promotes engagements with key stakeholders, including other PSET institutions, community organisations and government departments for mutual support and networking for best practices.

STANDARDISED FUNCTIONS FOR DISABILITY SUPPORT UNITS

- TVET Colleges must work towards a goal of creating an accessible and welcoming environment for all SwDs whilst striving to improve all aspects of accessibility – physically, technologically and socially.
- 31. The Disability Support Units (DSU) or Disability Support Services should:
 - 31.1 Be the first point of contact that facilitates access;
 - 31.2 Ensure participation in the college for SwDs which involves making 'reasonable adjustments' to ensure full participation and equal opportunities.
 - 31.3 Ensure that SwDs are supported to participate in academic and non-academic activities like their peers;
 - 31.4 Accessibility to adequate resources and facilities to offer training and assistance to SwDs to adapt and participate in every aspect of campus life.
 - 31.5 Create and maintain barrier free environment for SwDs;
 - 31.6 Offer support to various units in the college in implementing the guidelines and all staff must be held accountable for compliance with the guidelines;
 - 31.7 Ensure Disability Support Representation by advocating and lobbying for disability rights on different platforms and structures, e.g. academic council, infrastructure and maintenance committees etc. and establishes partnerships with relevant departments and municipalities, universities, researchers and NPO/NGOs, etc.;
 - 31.8 Offer student focussed services such as student orientation, emotional support, group support, financial aid/National Student Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS) application support, assistive devices, examinations and test concessions/extensions, exam reader and scribe, dedicated exam venue, calendar of events. In addition, provide Translation Language and Communication (TLC) services, forms of live assistance and intermediaries including guides, amanuensis and professional sign language interpreters, software programmes, etc.;
 - 31.9 Advertise and market services available to SwDs through various media platforms;

- 31.10 Communicate and liaise with various student bodies towards improving disability mainstreaming within the college's academic and non-academic support for inclusivity;
- 31.11 Affiliate with Higher Education Disability Services Association (HEDSA) to ensure institutional membership and participation in the association;
- 31.12 Ensure that there is access to student resource centres for PwDs to access new information and communication technology and systems, including the internet; and promote access to all facilities including computers lab;
- 31.13 Coordinate disability workshops and disability awareness campaigns in the college;
- 31.14 Promote participation in extra-curricular and co-curricular activities: accessibility and participation in sports, arts, and culture;
- 31.15 Procure/Purchase assistive devices; and
- 31.16 Enlist the services of peer volunteers such as Persons with Disabilities (PwDs)/Students with Disabilities (SwDs) and other students to assist in running of the units.

ACCESS AND ACCESSIBILITY

32. Access is a multifaceted concept which has an impact on the daily life of SwDs within a college. They have the right to participate equally in various ways not limited by physical or mental limitations.

PHYSICAL ACCESS

33. Physical access can apply to all buildings within the college inclusive of lecture halls, administration offices, libraries, resource centres, restrooms, auditoriums, sports facilities, workshops, etc. Physical access includes more than entering the physical space. It includes the ability of SwDs to move around, perform various activities and reach things within a particular space whilst participating in teaching and learning in a manner similar to their fellow students.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

34. Information accessibility for SwDs is vital. SwDs need to have access to documents in various format which will allow them to utilise the information without limitations. This includes how the information is categorised, organised, displayed, and represented.

Document formats may be in large print, braille, audio, closed caption, and assistive technology may be incorporated for interacting with electronic documents.

- 35. For the visually impaired individual information may be presented in large-print materials or on cassette whereas for hearing-impaired individuals closed captioning may be provided and it is critical that one of staff members to be fluent in sign language.
- 36. TVET Colleges should ensure that intellectual accessibility becomes a matter of priority by ensuring that SwDs are not prevented from accessing information that that any other person within the college is able to access.

TECHNOLOGY

37. Technology and technological resources in TVET Colleges should be flexible enough to be utilised by various SwDs, work with various assistive devices that a student with a disability might use and provide appropriate content in an accessible manner.

RESOURCES

- 38. A TVET College should invest in employing specialised, skilled and qualified staff in the fields of sign language interpretation, educational psychology, occupational therapy and orientation, and mobility training. Staff members should also be equipped to provide assistive technology support and conversion of learning materials to braille and other readable formats from varying reading and writing software. These specialised services can be provided in collaboration with other service providers.
- 39. A TVET College should take part in initiatives that are run by NGOs and other government departments in removing barriers to learning.
- 40. A TVET College should have a "Service Animal Policy." A service animal is an animal that is specifically trained to perform certain tasks to assist PwDs with their daily activities. The animal does work or performs tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability (including sight impairments, psychiatric, cognitive and mental disorder).

ASSISTIVE DEVICES

- 41. Universal items that benefit SwDs with any type of disability and non-disabled students are vital. There are numerous sources and resources colleges can research and purchase to assist students with disabilities. In this Fourth Industrial revolution colleges and SwDs are encouraged to research technological advanced devices and softwares that are easily obtainable and affordable, example, cell phone applications such as Be my Eyes which helps the blind to see, Word Magic, Google Text to Speech etc. This section should be read in conjunction with list of assistive devices (Annexure B) outlining the available assistive devices for various disabilities.
 - 41.1 Devices for use for blind students;
 - 41.2 Devices for use for students with low vision;
 - 41.3 Devices and equipment to overcome the barriers related to deafness and hard of hearing;
 - 41.4 Devices and equipment to overcome the barriers related to mobility impairments;
 - 41.5 Devices and equipment to overcome the barriers related to communication impairments;
 - 41.6 Devices and equipment to overcome the barriers related to intellectual impairments and learning difficulties;
 - 41.7 Devices and equipment to overcome the barriers related to cerebral palsy, autism, foetal alcohol syndrome, traumatic head injury, stroke, epilepsy, attention and hyperactivity disorder, dyslexia, etc.;
 - 41.8 Devices and equipment to address barriers related to chronic health conditions; and
 - 41.9 Devices and equipment to address barriers related to challenging and anti-social behaviour.
- 42. The sections on pre-entry, entry, on-course, and exit support should be read in conjunction with the colleges' admission policy, disability policy, National Policy on the Conduct, Administration and Management of the Assessment of the National Certificate Vocational (NC(V)), Student Support Services Framework and any other policy relevant in promoting the rights of persons with disabilities and their inclusion in skills development.

PRE-ENTRY SUPPORT

43. Admissions and Registration

- 43.1 TVET colleges must ensure that the disability policy is in place and should promote access and establishment of support structures for SwDS. The DSU must take the role and responsibility to assist SwDs to complete registration processes. The college's policy must provide reasonable accommodation for SwDs.
- 43.2 TVET colleges must ensure that during the registration process assistive devices which will facilitate the process are made available such as computers with jaws zoom text, brailling machine, merlin, etc.

44. Orientation

- 44.1 Students' orientation is a very important activity as it ensures that students feel part of the college and student community. In this regard, the college must assist students to adjust not only to the college environment and community but also to the demands of their studies. Through orientation students are well equipped to start their academic year with the necessary information and knowledge in respect of what is expected of them.
- 44.2 Progression requirements for SwDs should be revisited to accommodate students to complete their programmes and to minimise the dropout rate;
- 44.3 Orientation follows registration and it must be seen as an integral part of the academic calendar or timetable. The orientation committee in each campus must have an inclusive management plan for all students during the registration process.
- 44.4 A clear programme must be designed, with time slots, sessions and venues that will accommodate SwDs. The daily orientation programmes must, amongst others, focus on the vision of the college, curriculum expectations, SSS, student activities and external experts from relevant departments such as Department of Health, Department of Social development and NPO/NGOs that work with SwDs must be invited to participate in the programme. Colleges must ensure that orientation programmes are inclusive and incorporate disability support.
- 44.5 Materials supplied to students must accommodate all disabilities either in large print, videos or voice and braille.
- 44.6 Mobility instructors together with student leadership must be appointed to assist the SwDs to adapt to the college environment.

- 45. Sign language interpreters and other auxiliary support staff must be orientated on the students programme and subject outcomes by subject lecturers to assist the auxiliary staff member to understand the SwDs academic needs;
- 46. The DRU should/have to/need to co-ordinate human support services, assistive technology support, conversion of learning materials to braille and reading software accessibility. These exercise should be done at any level of study as and when a student discloses his disability.

ON-COURSE SUPPORT

- 47. Upon students' registration and submission of medical reports, concession applications must be completed and forwarded to the DHET for approval;
- 48. Students can seek help from the DSU, or a lecturer who may refer students to the DSU unit. The DSU official must investigate and gather more information on the barriers to learning experienced by a student. Depending on the outcome of the investigation the DSU official may either refer a student to external service providers or to the relevant professional staff at the DSU for a psychological or occupational therapy assessment;
- TVET Colleges should equip SwDs with necessary study skills in line with their disabilities in order to improve their academic progess;
- 50. TVET Colleges should monitor and evaluate the progress of SWDs; report to the Academic Board and DHET;
- 51. Relevant support can be recommended, e.g. extra classes, peer tutors, catch up classes, study groups, remedial academic software programmes etc.
- 52. The Department must provide the necessary disability mainstreaming training to examiners who are responsible for setting assessments, delivery of question papers to examination centres and marking; and
- 53. Remedial lecturers should be available to assist students with fundamental knowledge support in Mathematics, English, reading, and to further assist with study skills.

54. Examinations

- 54.1 DSUs should ensure that the examination unit on campus has a database of trained persons to act as readers and scribes. Training can be provided by the DSU or coordinated by the DSU with service providers offering training on disability support.
- 54.2 Examination concessions should be considered and accommodated as granted by DHET.

55. Concessions

- 55.1 This section must be read in conjunction with the National Policy on the Conduct, Administration and Management of the Assessment of the National Certificate Vocational (NC(V)).
- 55.2 "The following concessions may be applied for students who experience barriers to learning:
- 55.2.1 In cases of students with aural impairment, whose language of instruction is not their home language, the language subject may be offered at Second Additional Level.
- 55.2.2 Students suffering from a mathematical disorder such as dyscalculia may be exempted from the offering of Mathematical Literacy or Mathematics, provided that another subject is offered in lieu of Mathematical Literacy or Mathematics. This exemption must be supported by specialist reports, the costs of which must be carried by the student.
- 55.2.3 Students who are visually impaired, deaf, cerebral palsied, suffer from epilepsy or have any other disability may be granted additional time for the writing of the examination. The additional time may not exceed 15 minutes per hour per question paper. Human support or use of aid during examination may be utilised to meet the particular need/s of a student. The latter should be confirmed by Chief Directorate: Education Measurement, Assessment and Public examinations that it does not give an unfair advantage over other students.
- 55.2.4 Concessions should be approved by DHET 30 days prior to the examination date."

EXIT SUPPORT

- 56. Work Integrated Learning (WIL)/Job placement unit should give equal opportunities to SwDs. Furthermore, it must ensure that the employers and the employment environment are ready to support SwDs when placed with them.
- 57. DSU together with WIL/Job placement unit and employers must work together to conduct training/workshops in preparing the students for workplace environment.
- 58. WIL/Job placement unit should report to the DSU on the placement and progress of SwDs
- 59. Graduate tracking, monitoring and evaluation by the job placement officer must be conducted either telephonically, desktop or physical visits.
- 60. Articulation is also an important issue for SwDs. The DSU should ensure easy articulation between different parts of the PSET system which will allow movement of students both vertically and horizontally, between different streams and levels.

DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES

61. All students inclusive of SwDs are expected to abide by the Student Code of Conduct.

CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT OF LECTURERS, STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES STAFF AND AUXILIARY SUPPORT STAFF

- 62. The SSS Framework provides the guidelines to support students in three (3) support areas namely pre-entry support, on-course support and academic support, and exit support. The support provided to SwDs by the college must commence from pre-entry support until exit support.
- 63. TVET Colleges should support lecturers by providing long and short term Continuing Professional Development (CPD) programmes that will capacitate them to create a socially inclusive environment.
- 64. TVET Colleges should offer support outside the classroom through other auxiliary support staff and professionals. The auxiliary support can be provided by various professionals. In

instances where the professionals are not available within the TVET College, the service may be outsourced, or the student may be referred for services required.

FUNDING MODEL

- 65. This section must be read in conjunction with the *Norms and Standards for Funding TVET Colleges.*
- 66. Special Needs Education (SNE) budget will be allocated taking into account the number of students with disability reported to the Department by the TVET Colleges on their enrolment plans.
- 67. The additional funding for SwDs will be provided for and funded by factoring weights for SNE per category and the amount needed is calculated on basis of indicative category per student with disability in the funding grid.
- 68. It is proposed that the Capital Infrastructure and Efficiency Grant allocation dedicates at least a minimum of 10% for TVET Colleges infrastructure to ensure that the college infrastructure is compliant with the needs of students with disabilities.

MONITORING AND EVALUATION INSTRUMENTS

- 69. The TVET Branch must ensure that the Framework and Guidelines to accommodate SwDs in TVET Colleges is monitored and support is provided to colleges.
- 70. For implementation of this the *Draft Framework and Guidelines to accommodate SwDs in TVET Colleges* to be effective it will be supported by set of monitoring and evaluation instruments indicated below:
 - 70.1 Student questionnaires and satisfaction surveys;
 - 70.2 Strategic Plans
 - 70.3 Management and Implementation Plans
 - 70.4 Monthly/quarterly and annual reports;
 - 70.5 Infrastructure plans and checklist;
 - 70.6 Disability Check List;
 - 70.7 Annual Surveys; and
 - 70.8 Teaching and Learning monitoring tool; and SSS Plan monitoring tool.



higher education & training Department: Higher Education and Training REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Deputy Director-General: Planning, Policy and Strategy Room 823 X5935

MEMORANDUM

TO:	BRANCH HEADS	
CC:	MR GF QONDE: DIRECTOR-GENERAL	
SUBJECT:	APPROVED CLASSIFICATION OF DISABILITIES FOR IMPLEMENTATION	

Dear Colleagues

- The Strategic Policy Framework for Disabilities in the Post-School Education and Training system (2018) calls for the development of a classification model for disabilities. This model was developed and consulted between 2018 and 2019, and the Director-General of the Department of Higher Education and Training (the Department) approved it for implementation on 31 March 2020 (Annexures A and C).
- 2. The approved classification model is ready for implementation and will promote the inclusion of people with disabilities in the following manner, amongst others:
 - It will allow the use of correct data and identification of people with disabilities in the system;
 - It will enable proper planning and budgeting for the inclusion of and provision of services for people with disabilities in the system;
 - · It will allow projections and marketing for the inclusion of people with disabilities; and
 - It will make it easy to apply the Universal Design Principles and Guidelines in the development of new, and renovation of old infrastructure in the PSET system.
- It is therefore against this background that you are requested to share the attached classification of disabilities with the institutions and entities under your branch for implementation with immediate effect.
- For further information please contact Sesi Mahlobogoane at 012 312 5249 or Nthabiseng Tema 012 312 6191.

Kind regards

STEL Ms N Gasa

Deputy Director-General: Planning, Policy and Strategy

Date: 12/10/2020

Code	Washington Group	Category and Description of Disability	Kind	s of disabilities	1000
01	Sensory Disability	Blind. No functional vision.			
02	Sensory Disability	Partially sighted. Functional vision with	2.1.	Albinism;	-
The second		limitations that may be reduced with electronic	2.2.	Moderate Visual Impairment;	100
		or manual low-vision devices (Vision cannot be	2.3.	Blindness Right Eye; and	Part -
A CALLER AND	「日本のない」というというという	fully corrected though the use of prescription	2.4.	Blindness Left Eye.	1000
		lenses).			1000
03	Sensory Disability	Deaf (Capital D). No hearing: generally makes			1
		use of South African Sign Language and typically			11.12
		subscribes to Deaf Culture.			
04	Sensory Disability	Deaf (lower case d). Little or no hearing, does	4.1.	Moderate Hearing Loss;	12202
and the second se	Contraction of the second s	not make use of Sign Language as a medium of	4.2.	Deafness Right Ear; and	1000
		communication, makes use of various means of	4.3.	Deafness Left Ear.	-
Section of the		communication such as speech, speech	and	and the second se	
		reading/cochlear implants of a combination of			-
		these. Aligns with impairment/disability in the		and the second s	
- A CAR		hearing world.			
05	Sensory Disability	Hearing impaired/ Hard of hearing/Deafened.	5.1.	Moderate Hearing Loss;	-
Non Ser		None, little or some hearing, generally makes use	5.2.	Deafness Right Ear; and	
		of appropriate hearing technology e.g. cochlear	5.3.	Deafness Left Ear.	-
		implants, hearing aids, and other assistive			
5125		listening/living devices and typically uses verbal			
		communication/lip reading.			
90	Sensory Disability	Deaf-blind. No functional vision and no hearing.			
07	Specific Learning/	Neurodevelopmental Disabilities. Intellectual	7.1.	Head injuries;	
	Developmental	disabilities	7.2.	Epilepsy;	
	Disability		7.3.	Multiple sclerosis;	
			7.4.	Communication disabilities;	

Classification of Disabilities

			7.5.	Language and speech disability
			e)	g. stuttering);
			7.6.	Autism spectrum disorder;
			7.7.	Attention deficit/hyperactivity
			di	sorder (ADHD);
			7.8.	Attention deficient disorder (ADD);
			7.9.	Dyslexia;
			7.10.	Specific learning disabilities, etc.
08	Psychosocial/	Psychosocial Disability	8.1.	Depression;
	Psychiatric Disabilities		8.2.	Schizophrenia;
			8.3.	Bipolar disorder;
		の 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、	8.4.	Dementia;
and and		and the second sec	8.5.	Anxiety; etc.
60	Physical Disability	Physical Disability	9.1.	Loss of a limb;
			9.2.	Make use of crutches;
			9.3.	Wheelchair user;
			9.4.	Spinal Cord Injury;
			9.5.	Person with cerebral palsy; and
			9.6.	Short stature

ASSISTIVE DEVICES

- There are numerous sources and resources colleges can research and purchase to assist students with disability. In this Fourth Industrial revolution colleges and students with disabilities are encouraged to research technological advanced devices and software's that are easily obtainable and affordable example, cell phone Apps such as Be my Eyes – helping Blind see, Word Magic, Google Text to Speech etc.
 - Interactive whiteboard
 - Whiteboard pens
 - Radio/tape recorder/CD player
 - CDs and DVDs
 - Widescreen TV
 - MP3 player
 - Tablet
 - DVD player
 - Computer projectors/PowerPoint projector
 - Voice amplifier and microphone
 - Photocopiers (with size enlargement)
 - Desk top computers and screens
 - Laptop computers
 - Software user licences
 - Printer
 - Toner cartridges, paper
 - Extension cable
 - Trolley for moving equipment
 - Laminator
 - Ibico binder
 - Lamination sheets, ring binders

2. Devices for use for students Blind students:

- Braille writers
- Refreshable braille devices
- Computers with Text-to-Speech and Speech Recognition Software
- Daisy reader
- Braille slates
- Book reader
- Braille display
- Headphones
- Software for architectural audio-visual integration devices
- Braille translation software
- Text reader and voice synthesiser software
- Optical corrector recognition software
- Maxtrack
- PC accessories (Leadteck WinFast TV 2000 XP PCITV, capture card)

84.1 Devices for use for students with low vision

- Electronic Max Magnifier
- Hand held magnifying glasses
- Computers without screen reading software and magnification
- Computers with screen reading software and magnification software
- Daisy reader
- Lecture rooms equipped with CCTV and magnification camera
- Electronic desktop magnifiers

84.2 Devices for use in the DRU:

- Computers without Duxbury
- Computers with Duxbury
- Duxbury user licences
- Braille embossers
- Braille graphics embossers
- Computer scanners
- Scanning software
- MS Word Drawing and View Plus
- Software for design and translation of braille graphics
- Book reader
- Braille book binder
- 3. Devices and equipment to overcome the barriers related to deafness and hard of hearing:
 - Audio logical equipment
 - Diagnostic audiometer
 - Diagnostic tympanometry
 - Screening audiometer
 - Otoscope
 - Auditory brainstem response screening
 - Otoacoustic emissions machine
 - Loop systems
 - · Laptops with webcam and DVD player/recorder
 - Tripod
 - Tablets with appropriate applications
 - Telematic broadcasting solution network to lecture rooms
 - · Sound proof room for audiometric testing
 - Lecture rooms that have low ambient noise levels

- Lecture rooms that have low reverberation levels
- Lecture rooms fitted with FM systems
- Room for production of South African Sign Language DVDs and learning and teaching support material (LTSM)
- 4. Devices and equipment to overcome the barriers related to mobility impairments:
 - Seating equipment
 - Computer mouse alternatives
 - Roller-ball mouse
 - Head pointer
 - Large button keyboard
 - One handed key board
 - Switches
 - Switch interface
 - Joy cable and button click switch small amplifier and GEWA programme
 - E-tran
 - Dialscan
 - Voice recognition software

5. Devices and equipment to overcome the barriers related to communication impairments:

- Computers fitted with alternative and augmentative communication software
- Laminator
- Computer attachments (e.g. big keys, big key guard, switches, joy sticks, etc.)
- Simple message systems/communication boards
- Multi-message systems/multi-level message devices
- Complex voice output communication aids

- Software for a computer-based output device system
- 6. Devices and equipment to overcome the barriers related to intellectual impairments and learning difficulties :
 - Tablets loaded with applications that mediate learning of: Literacy, Mathematics, complex content in simplified format, story creation, sequencing, routines, adapted lesson materials, games, typing, social skills, basic concepts, surfing the internet, sending and receiving email messages; and
 - Computers equipped with learning support software and access to the internet.
- 7. Devices and equipment to overcome the barriers related to cerebral palsy, autism, foetal alcohol syndrome, traumatic head injury, stroke, epilepsy, attention and hyperactivity disorder, dyslexia, etc.:
 - Communication aids for text and symbol based communication: Portable communication device for text and symbol based communication for those who have control of their hands (including students with a disability with autism, Down's syndrome, cerebral palsy, stroke/aphasia, etc.). Device that has capacity to generate speech from both words and symbols through synthesised speech and text – with optional capacity to be linked to email, internet, send text messages and chat;
 - Peripheral eye tracker that enhances computer accessibility through gaze interaction with the speed, power and accuracy of gaze interaction. The device replaces the standard mouse, allowing navigation and control of a desktop or laptop computer using only eyes (for students with a disability with limited motor skills due to Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Lou Gehrig's disease), spinal cord injuries and other impairments;
 - Dyslexia: Software that offers an individualised learning mechanism to help students with a disability with reading difficulties to catch up with their peers
 - Software designed to help build vocabulary, literacy and reading comprehension;

- · Hand-held devices that read textbooks and study materials aloud;
- Speaking dictionary;
- Hand-held, mobile text-to-speech device that highlights the words while reading aloud that can take a picture of text to have read aloud;
- Low-tech devices such as notebooks and dividers to record and organise tasks;
- Low-tech devices for older students with disability with ADHD such as personal digital assistants, dictating machines and a variety of computer programmes that can perform the same task;
- Software programme that converts text and symbols into clear speech, gives computer access and allows user to control devices and appliances;
- Programmes that are able to create page sets and communication boards;
- Programmes that are suitable for all levels of cognitive and physical ability; featuring symbols and pictures for users who cannot write or the choice of keyboard layouts for text, telephone and computer access for users who can;
- Text-to-speech provider that is applicable to any website and can with a click of a button convert any text on a website to speech, summarise Word documents, PDF files and web pages;
- Software for students with a disability to create documents faster than normal typists by using voice dictation technology with compatibility;
- Software designed for students with a disability who have difficulty with writing that suggests words while the user writes, creating easy word-flow, giving spoken feedback, which makes it easier for students to detect their mistakes and correct them; and
- Software that enables the keyboard to type better and faster, keeping track of all of mistakes and words-per-minute (wpm), creating graphs of day-by-day performance.

8. Devices and equipment to address barriers related to chronic health conditions :

- Laptops fitted with modems and with access to internet and email and communication software to enable lecturer to communicate with students with a disability who are hospitalised or absent due to illness;
- A range of technology and software to support students with a disability with limited strength, vitality, or alertness, including a heightened alertness to environmental stimuli, that results in limited alertness with respect to the educational environment due to an acute or chronic health problems including mental health problems.
- 9. Devices and equipment to address barriers related to challenging and anti-social behaviour:
 - Pagers that can be used to send messages that remind students about behaviour expectations as well as positive reinforcement messages;
 - Educational board games that enhance social interaction skills;
 - Assistive technology that can be used to help with disorders characterised by behavioural
 problems such as ADHD, autism, oppositional defiance disorder and emotional
 disturbance. Assistive technology allows students with behavioural problems to function
 successfully in the lecture rooms/devices reminding students with disability about
 behaviours so that they can self-monitor their behaviour throughout the day.
 Watchminder is worn like a wrist watch, but it has many special functions that help
 students with behavioural disorders throughout the day;
 - Organisational aids;
 - Some options might include devices such as pagers that send messages about important events; and also handheld computers or palm pilots with calendars may be helpful as well.

GENERAL NOTICES • ALGEMENE KENNISGEWINGS

CIVILIAN SECRETARIAT FOR THE POLICE SERVICE

NOTICE 777 OF 2022

DEPARTMENT OF CIVILIAN SECRETARIAT FOR POLICE SERVICE

PUBLICATION OF MEMBERS OF THE CRITICAL INFRASTRUCTURE COUNCIL

I, Bhekokwakhe Hamilton Cele, Minister of Police, hereby publish names of members of the Critical Infrastructure Council appointed in terms section 4(8) of the Critical Infrastructure Protection Act, 2019 (Act No. 8 of 2019), set out in the Schedule hereto.

GENERAL BH CELE, MP MINISTER OF POLICE

SCHEDULE

Adv LT Khorommbi

Ms KL Lefothane

Mr WR Du Preez

Mr GR Son

Mr R Zitha

DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR

NOTICE 778 OF 2022

Notice published by the Essential Services Committee ('the Committee') in terms of section 71(1), read with section 70(B)(1)(d) of the Labour Relations Act, 1995 (Act No 66 of 1995 as amended)

- A. Notice is hereby given in terms of section 71, read with section 70(B)(1)(d) of the Labour Relations Act, 1995 (Act No 66 of 1995 as amended), that the Committee is in the process of conducting an investigation as to whether the following services are essential:
 - 1. The manufacturing, supply and distribution of certain vaccines and or biologicals; anaesthetics; antiretrovirals to treat HIV virus; Immunosuppressants, Covid 19 related products, chronic medicines; and antibiotics
- B. Notice is hereby given that the Committee will hear oral representations virtually and physically as follows:
 - (i) Date: 25 February 2022 in Johannesburg

Venue: CCMA Offices, 28 Harrison Street, 10th floor/ virtually

- Sector: The manufacturing, supply and distribution of certain vaccines and or biologicals; anaesthetics; antiretrovirals to treat HIV virus; Immunosuppressants, Covid 19 related products, chronic medicines; and antibiotics@ 10:00
- (ii) Date: 28 February 2022 in Cape Town

Venue: CCMA Offices, 78 Darling Street/ virtually

- Sector: The manufacturing, supply and distribution of certain vaccines and or biologicals; anaesthetics; antiretrovirals to treat HIV virus; Immunosuppressants, Covid 19 related products, chronic medicines; and antibiotics@ 10:00
- (iii) Date: 02 March 2022 in Port Elizabeth
 - Venue: CCMA Offices, 97 Govan Mbeki Avenue/ virtually
 - Sector: The manufacturing, supply and distribution of certain vaccines and or biologicals; anaesthetics; antiretrovirals to treat HIV virus; Immunosuppressants, Covid 19 related products, chronic medicines; and antibiotics@ 10:00
- (iv) Date: 04 March 2022 in Durban
 - Venue: CCMA Offices, 275 Anton Lembede Street, Embassy House/ virtually Sector: The manufacturing, supply and distribution of certain vaccines and or biologicals; anaesthetics; antiretrovirals to treat HIV virus; Immunosuppressants, Covid 19 related products, chronic medicines; and antibiotics@ 10:00
- C. Any interested party requiring an opportunity to participate in the hearings must submit written representations and indicate if they require an opportunity to make oral representations on or before the 21st of February 2022. In doing so the parties must:
 - 1. Submit the above to either SibusisoL@CCMA.org.za or to fax: 086 660 6132);
 - 2. Comply with ESC Regulation 2, i.e. state the nature of the interest in the investigation in their written representations; state whether it relies or intends to rely on any expert evidence, and if so, provide a brief summary of that expert evidence; etc and
 - 3. Specify its address, telephone and telefax numbers and e-mail contact address.
 - 4. In line with ESC Regulation 3(2) the ESC hereby (in this notice) also confirms the place and time for the different hearings to be held in this investigation.

NB: Kindly note that the ESC will convene an information sharing session regarding the above investigation on the 18th of February 2022 @ 10:00 at the CCMA National Office 28 Harrison Street and virtually. Kindly confirm your attendance to the session by no later than the 14th of February 2022 to <u>SibusisoL@ccma.org.za</u>.

For all Inquiries, please contact Sibusiso Lukhele on SibusisoL@CCMA.org.za



SOUTH AFRICAN RESERVE BANK

NOTICE 779 OF 2022

BANKS ACT, 1990 (ACT NO. 94 OF 1990)

Designation by the Prudential Authority of activities of an institution which shall not be deemed to constitute "the business of a bank" under paragraph (cc) in section 1(1) of the Banks Act, 1990 (Act 94 of 1990)

The Prudential Authority hereby designates with concurrence of the Minister of Finance, under the definition of "the business of a bank" in section 1(1), paragraph (cc) of the Banks Act, 1990 (Act 94 of 1990) that the business of the institution, specified in paragraph 2 of the schedule, shall not be deemed to constitute the business of a bank for the period commencing on 1 January 2022 and expiring on 30 June 2022, subject to the conditions set out in paragraph 3 of the schedule.

Tandap

Kuben Naidoo Deputy Governor and CEO: Prudential Authority Date: 17 January 2022

SCHEDULE

1. Definitions

In this Schedule the words listed in this paragraph 1 shall have the following meaning:

"**Banks Act**" means the Banks Act, 1990 (Act 94 of 1990), as amended and the Regulations relating to Banks;

"Exemption Notice" this exemption notice as more fully described in paragraph 5 below;

"Companies Act" means the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended;

"**Financial Sector Regulation Act**" means the Financial Sector Regulation Act, 2017 (Act 9 of 2017);

"**Ithala**" means Ithala SOC Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ithala Corporation and being a state-owned company registered as such in terms of the Companies Act;

"Ithala Act" means the KwaZulu–Natal Ithala Development Corporation Act, 2013 (Act 5 of 2013);

"Ithala Corporation" means the development corporation known as Ithala Development Finance Corporation Limited, referred to in section 2 of the Ithala Act and being a state-owned company registered as such in terms of the Companies Act; and **"Prudential Authority"** means the entity established in terms of section 32 of the Financial Sector Regulation Act.

2. Institution

Ithala SOC Limited

3. Conditions

- 3.1. The activities of Ithala shall, in so far as they correspond to the activities contemplated in sub-paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d) and I of the definition of "the business of a bank" in section 1(1) of the Banks Act, be performed by virtue of the powers conferred in terms of the provisions of the Ithala Act, provided that Ithala may not, in the performance of its activities –
- 3.1.1. use, or refer to itself or any of its divisions by any name, description or symbol indicating, or calculated to lead persons to infer, that it or such a division is a bank registered as such under the Banks Act; or
- 3.1.2. use, in respect of itself or any of its divisions or undertakings, a name or description that includes the word "bank", or any derivative thereof, or the words "building society" or any derivative thereof, unless such name or description is composed of words that include the word "bank" as part of the place name or a personal name.
- 3.2. In addition to the specific conditions set out below, the activities of Ithala shall also comply with-
 - (i) the Banks Act and any regulations, directives, circulars, guidance notes and notices issued by the Prudential Authority in terms of the Banks Act; and
 - (ii) such other prudential, reporting, and regulatory requirements that may be imposed by the Prudential Authority from time to time.
- 3.3. Ithala Corporation shall maintain a separation between the lending activities of Ithala Corporation and any deposit-taking activities conducted by Ithala.
- 3.4. Performance Standards:
- 3.4.1. Ithala shall maintain the following performance standards in respect of its governance structures:
 - (i) A fit and proper board of directors and governance arrangements as required in terms of the Banks Act;
 - A fit and proper executive structure, including having at least a full time appointed chief executive officer, chief risk officer, chief internal auditor, chief compliance officer and company secretary, as required in terms of the Banks Act and other applicable legislation;
 - (iii) Ithala shall appoint a chief financial officer, treasurer, chief operating officer, chief information officer, head of credit and anti-money laundering officer, which appointments shall be subject to the approval of the Prudential Authority;

- (iv) A documented allocation of roles and responsibilities between the board of directors and executive management to the satisfaction of the Prudential Authority; and
- (v) The appointment of board members and executive officers, as defined in the Banks Act, shall be undertaken in accordance with a form BA020 process and the conclusion of all appointments, in this regard, shall be subject to the Prudential Authority's approval.
- 3.4.2. Ithala shall maintain the following performance standards in respect of its prudential requirements, calculated as prescribed by the Regulations relating to Banks:
 - (i) A minimum required capital of 15% of risk-weighted assets or as determined by the Prudential Authority;
 - (ii) A leverage ratio of not less than 5%; and
 - (iii) Liquid assets of at least 7.5% of liabilities.
- 3.4.3. Ithala shall maintain the following performance standards in respect of its profitability and financial sustainability:
 - (i) Ithala shall remain profitable at all times;
 - A positive JAWS ratio (i.e. growth in operating income greater than growth in operating costs);
 - (iii) Cost-to-income ratio of not more than 78% (i.e., operating costs divided by operating income excluding credit impairments); and
 - (iv) Impaired loans and advances as a percentage of total loans and advances not greater than 8%.
- 3.5. Outsourcing:
- 3.5.1. Ithala may, with the prior consent of the Prudential Authority outsource key functions and or executive roles.
- 3.6. Sanctions and enforcement:
- 3.6.1. Ithala shall be subject to the provisions of Chapter 10 of the Financial Sector Regulation Act.
- 3.6.2. Ithala shall be subject to supervision and enforcement by the Prudential Authority to ensure compliance with the provisions of Financial Intelligence Centre Act, 2001 (Act 38 of 2001), as amended.
- 3.6.3. If Ithala fails (and is not able to show any good cause for such failure):
 - (iv) to submit any document or information required to be submitted or reported to the Prudential Authority as referred to or issued in terms of this Exemption Notice; and/or
 - (ii) to publish any document or information as referred to or issued in terms of this Exemption Notice; and/or
 - (v) to submit or publish any document or information referred to in paragraph (i) or (ii) within the specified period,

Ithala will be liable for the payment of a penalty to the Prudential Authority, which penalty shall not exceed R5 000 for every day, excluding weekends and public holidays, during which the failure continues.

3.6.4. If Ithala fails to comply with any requirement referred to or issued in terms of this Exemption Notice the Prudential Authority may impose an administrative penalty in terms of Chapter 13 of the Financial Sector Regulation Act.

4. Amendment and withdrawal of Exemption

The Prudential Authority may amend or withdraw this Exemption Notice by notice published on the website of the Prudential Authority.

5. Short title and commencement

This Exemption Notice is called the "Designation by the Prudential Authority of certain activities of Ithala SOC Limited" and comes into operation on 1 January 2022 and expires on 30 June 2022.

This notice substitutes Government Notice No. 654 as published in *Government Gazette* No. 42927 dated 27 December 2019.

Kuben Naidoo Deputy Governor and CEO: Prudential Authority Date: 17 January 2022

DEPARTMENT OF TRADE, INDUSTRY AND COMPETITION

NOTICE 780 OF 2022

INTERNATIONAL TRADE ADMINISTRATION COMMISSION <u>CUSTOMS TARIFF APPLICATIONS</u> LIST 01/2022

The International Trade Administration Commission (herein after referred to as ITAC or the Commission) has received the following applications concerning the Customs Tariff. Any objection to or comment on these representations should be submitted to the Chief Commissioner, ITAC, Private Bag X753, Pretoria, 0001. Attention is drawn to the fact that the rate of duty mentioned in these applications is that requested by the applicant and that the Commission may, depending on its findings, recommend a lower or higher rate of duty.

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

The submission of confidential information to the Commission in connection with customs tariff applications is governed by section 3 of the Tariff Investigations Regulations, which regulations can be found on ITAC's website at <u>http://www.itac.org.za/documents/R.397.pdf</u>.

These regulations require that if any information is considered to be confidential, then a <u>non-confidential version of the information must be submitted</u>, simultaneously with the confidential version. In submitting a non-confidential version the regulations are strictly applicable and require parties to indicate:

- Each instance where confidential information has been omitted and the reasons for confidentiality;
- □ *A summary of the confidential information which permits other interested parties a reasonable understanding of the substance of the confidential information; and*
- □ In exceptional cases, where information is not susceptible to summary, reasons must be submitted to this effect.

This rule applies to all parties and to all correspondence with and submissions to the Commission, which unless clearly indicated to be confidential, will be made available to other interested parties.

The Commission will disregard any information indicated to be confidential that is not accompanied by a proper non-confidential summary or the aforementioned reasons.

If a party considers that any document of another party, on which that party is submitting representations, does not comply with the above rules and that such deficiency affects that party's ability to make meaningful representations, the details of the deficiency and the reasons why that party's rights are so affected must be submitted to the commission in writing forthwith (and at the latest 14 days prior to the date on which that party's submission is due).

Failure to do so timeously will seriously hamper the proper administration of the investigation, and such party will not be able to subsequently claim an inability to make meaningful representations on the basis of the failure of such other party to meet the requirements.

1. CORRECTION NOTICE

The following Notice replaces Item No. 2 in Notice No. 725 of 2021, which appeared in Government Gazette No. 45649 of 17 December 2021:

AMENDMENT OF REBATE ITEMS 316.01 AND REBATE ITEM 316.09 TO ALLOW FOR THE INCLUSION OF ADDITIONAL COMPONENTS FOR COOKING AND COOLING APPLIANCES, AS FOLLOWS:

- With regards to Rebate Item 316.01/8302.10/01.06, by insertion of the phrase *"refrigerators and freezers of headings 84.18 and"....* and by deletion of the word *"heading";*
- With regards to Rebate Item 316.01/8418.99/01.06, by deletion of the word *"evaporators";* the insertion of the phrase *"Parts classified under tariff subheadings 8418.99.20 and 8418.90.40";* by deletion of the word *"condensers";* and the insertion of the phrase *"and freezers classifiable in tariff heading 84.18";*
- With regards to Rebate Item 316.01/8516.80/01.06, by deletion of the word "and", by insertion of the phrase "and stoves, ovens and hobs" of headings 84.14, 84.50 and "85.16";
- With regards to Rebate Item 316.09/8302.10/01.06, by deletion of the words *"electric"* and *"heading"* and by insertion of the phrase *"headings 73.21 and"*;
- With regards to Rebate Item 316.09/8516.80/01.06, by insertion of the phrases " and solid-plate", by deletion of phrase "glass-top", by insertion of the phrase "solid-plate tabletop cookers"; ... by deletion of the word "heading", and by insertion of the phrase "headings 73.21 and";
- The deletion of Rebate Item 316.09/8516.80/03.06 from Schedule 3 of the Customs and Excise Act, 1964; and
- Rebate Item 316.09/8516.90/01.06, by deletion of the words "glass top" and insertion of the word ", *ovens*".

APPLICANT:

Defy Appliances (Pty) Ltd 135 Teakwood Road Jacobs DURBAN

Enquiries: ITAC **Ref: 14/2021,** Enquires: Ms. Diphetogo Rathete and Mr. Njabulo Mahlalela. They can be contacted by e-mail at drathete@itac.org.za / nmahlalela@itac.org.za.

REASONS FOR THE APPLICATION:

As motivation for the application, the applicant cited, *inter alia*, the following:

- There is currently no local manufacturer of the various components for which a rebate is being sought; and
- The duty on the imported components, varying from 5% *ad valorem* to 20% *ad valorem*, has a cost-raising effect on the manufacture of the domestic appliances manufactured by the applicant.

PUBLICATION PERIOD:

Written representations must be submitted within four (4) weeks of the date of this notice.

2. APPLICATION FOR THE CREATION OF A TEMPORARY REBATE PROVISION FOR THE IMPORTATION OF:

Sheet piling of iron or steel, whether or not drilled, punched or made from assembled elements excluding those that are cold-rolled (cold-reduced), classifiable under tariff subheading 7301.10.

APPLICANT:

Macsteel Service Centres (Pty) Ltd

7 Brook Road Lilianton Boksburg 1459 ITAC Ref 16/2021, Enquiries: Mr Maxwell Madida / Ms Ndivhudzannyi Mokou, Tel: 012 394 3714/3627 or email <u>mmadida@itac.org.za/nramphabana@itac.org.za</u>.

REASONS FOR THE APPLICATION AS STATED BY THE APPLICANT:

- 1) The subject products are currently not manufactured in the SACU region; and
- 2) The applicable duties have an unnecessary cost-raising effect for the end users of the products.

PUBLICATION PERIOD:

Representations should be submitted within four (4) weeks of the date of this notice.
DEPARTMENT OF TRADITIONAL AFFAIRS

NOTICE 781 OF 2022

NATIONAL INITIATION OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE: FILLING OF VACANCY: CUSTOMARY INITIATION ACT, 2021 (ACT NO. 2 OF 2021)

Notice is hereby given that the National House of Traditional and Khoi-San Leaders has, in terms of section 4(1)(a) of the Customary Initiation Act, 2021 (Act No. 2 of 2021), read with section 7 of the said Act, designated Ikosi V W Mahlangu to replace Nkosi X S Ndevu as a member of the National Initiation Oversight Committee established under Government Notice No. 1075 of 22 October 2021, for the period 04 November 2021 until 30 June 2022.

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORT

NOTICE 782 OF 2022

AIR SERVICE LICENSING ACT, 1990 (ACT NO.115 OF 1990) APPLICATION FOR THE GRANT OR AMENDMENT OF DOMESTIC AIR SERVICE LICENCE

Pursuant to the provisions of section 15 (1) (b) of Act No. 115 of 1990 and Regulation 8 of the Domestic Air Regulations, 1991, it is hereby notified for general information that the application detail of which appear in the appendix, will be considered by the Air Service Licensing Council. Representation in accordance with section 15 (3) of the Act No.115 of 1990 in support of, or in position, an application, should reach the Air Service Licensing Council. Private Box X 193, Pretoria, 0001, within 21 days of date of the publication thereof.

APPENDIX I

(A) Full name and trade name of the applicant. (B) Full business or residential address of the applicant. (C) Class of licence applied for. (D) Type of air service to which application applies. (E) Category of aircraft to which application applies

(A)Alpha Drones. (B)Hangar 64 & 65, Wonderboom Airport, Lintvelt Road, Doornpoort, Pretoria, 0110. (C) Class III. (D) Type G16 (RPAS). (E) Category A4.

APPENDIX II

(A) Full Name and trade name of the applicant. (B) Full business or residential address of the applicant. (C) The Class and number of license in respect of which the amendment is sought (D) Type of air service and the amendment thereto which is being applied for (E) Category of aircraft and the amendment thereto which is being applied for.

(A) Atlantic Tech Group (Pty) Ltd. (B) 23 Restio Road, Blouberg Hills Estate, Big Bay, Cape Town. (C) Class III; G1318D. (D) Type G3, G4, G10 & G16 (RPAS). (E) Category H1. Addition of type G5, G8, G13 & G13 and addition of category A4.

(A) DHL Aviation (Pty) Ltd. (B) Clearwater Office Park, Block J,C/OAtlas Ave & Park Road, Parkhaven, Boksburg. (C) Class II; N411D. (D) Type N2. (E) Category A3 & A4. Change to the MP: Mr W. Petzer replaces Mr G. B. Watson as the RP: Aircraft & Ms N. van Wyk replaces Mr J. O. Dube as the Air Service Safety Officer.

(A) Xcalibur Resources (Pty) Ltd; Xcalibur. (B) Xcalibur Hangar, Wonderboom Airport, Lintveld Road, Pretoria North. (C) Class III; G767D. (D) Type G3 & G16 (Geophysical Survey). (E) Category A3 & A4. Change to the MP: Mr H. J. Harrington replaces G. M. du Toit as the RP: Flight Operations, Mr Van eeden replaces G. M. du Toit as the RP: Aircraft & Ms Dorfling replaces Mr G. H. Zondagh as the Air Service Safety Officer.

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORT

NOTICE 783 OF 2022

INTERNATIONAL AIR SERVICE ACT, (ACT NO.60 OF 1993) GRANT /AMENDMENT OF INTERNATIONAL AIR SERVICE LICENSE

Pursuant to the provisions of section 17 (12) of Act No.60 of 1993 and Regulation 15 (1) and 15 (2) of the International Air Regulations, 1994, it is hereby notified for general information that the applications, detail of which appear in the Schedules hereto, will be considered by the International Air Services Council (Council) Representation in accordance with section 16(3) of the Act No. 60 of 1993 and regulation 25(1) of International Air Services Regulation, 1994, against or in favour of an application, should reach the Chairman of the International Air Services Council at Department of Transport, Private Bag X 193, Pretoria, 0001, within 28 days of the application hereof. It must be stated whether the party or parties making such representation is / are prepared to be represent or represented at the possible hearing of the application.

APPENDIX I

(A) Full name, surname and trade name of the applicant. (B) Full business or residential address of the applicant. (C) Class of licence applied for. (D) Type of International Air
Service to which application pertains. (E) Category or kind of aircraft to which application pertains. (F) Airport from and the airport to which flights will be undertaken. (G) Area to be served. (H) Frequency of flight.

(A) Xcalibur Resources (Pty) Ltd; Xcalibur. (B) Xcalibur Hangar, Wonderboom Airport, Lintveld Road, Pretoria North. (C) Class III. (D) Type G3 & G16 (Geophysical Survey). (E) Category A3. (F) Wonderboom Airport. (G) Worldwide.

APPENDIX II

(A) Full name, surname and trade name of the applicant. (B) Full business or residential address of the applicant. (C) Class and number of licence in which the amendment is made. (D) Type of International Air Service in respect which amendment was made. (E) Category or kind of aircraft in respect of which license was made. (F) Airport in respect of which the amendment was made. (G) Area to be served. (H) Frequency of flight of which the amendment was made. (I) Condition under which amendment was made.

(A) DHL Aviation (Pty) Ltd. (B) Clearwater Office Park, Block J,C/OAtlas Ave & Park Road, Parkhaven, Boksburg. (C) Class I & II; I/S114 & I/N136. (D) Type S2, N1 & N4. (E) Category A1, A2 & A3. Change to the MP: Mr W. Petzer replaces Mr G. B. Watson as the RP: Aircraft & Ms N. van Wyk replaces Mr J. O. Dube as the Air Service Safety Officer.

BOARD NOTICES • RAADSKENNISGEWINGS

BOARD NOTICE 194 OF 2021

ROAD ACCIDENT FUND

ADJUSTMENT OF STATUTORY LIMIT IN RESPECT OF CLAIMS FOR LOSS OF INCOME AND LOSS OF SUPPORT

The Road Accident Fund hereby, in accordance with section 17(4A)(a) of the Road Accident Fund Act, No. 56 of 1996, adjusts and makes known that the amounts referred to in subsection 17(4)(c) are hereby adjusted to **R315 504**, with effect from **31 January 2022**, to counter the effects of CPI inflation.

Note: The CPI index based on the new "basket and weights" was used to calculate this adjustment, **effective from 31 January 2022** (with base year December 2016 = 100). The rebased CPI index for May 2008 was 62.63. The CPI index for November 2021 was 123.5. This adjustment was calculated by multiplying the R 160 000 limit by 123.5/62.63.

RAADSKENNISGEWING 194 VAN 2021

PADONGELUKFONDS

AANPASSING VAN STATUTÊRE LIMIET TEN OPSIGTE VAN EISE VIR VERLIES AAN INKOMSTE EN ONDERHOUD

Die Padongelukfonds maak ooreenkomstig artikel 17(4A)(a) van die Padongelukfondswet, No. 56 van 1996 bekend dat, met effek vanaf **31 Januarie 2022**, die bedrae waarna verwys word in subartikel 17(4)(c) aangepas word tot **R315 504**, ten einde die uitwerking van VPI inflasie teen te werk.

Neem kennis: Die VPI indeks gebasseer op die nuwe "mandjie en gewigte" is gebruik om hierdie aanpassing, **effektief vanaf 31 Januarie 2022**, te bereken (met basisjaar Desember 2016 = 100). Die heraangepaste VPI indeks vir Mei 2008 was 62.63. Die VPI indeks vir November 2021 was 123.5. Hierdie aanpassing was bereken deur die R 160 000 limiet te vermenigvuldig met 123.5/62.63.

BOARD NOTICE 195 OF 2021

GAUTENG GAMBLING ACT, 1995

APPLICATION FOR AMENDMENT OF BOOKMAKER'S LICENCE

Notice is hereby given that Portapa (Pty) Ltd intend submitting an application to the Gauteng Gambling Board for the amendment of a bookmaker's licence, to relocate from 1st Floor, State Building, 45 Kruis Street, Johannesburg to 1st Floor A, 44 Diagonal Street, City & Suburban Street, Johannesburg.

The application will be open to public inspection at the offices of the board from 28th of January 2022.

Attention is directed to the provisions of Section 20 of the Gauteng Gambling Act No 4 of 1995 (as amended), which makes provision for the lodging of written representations in respect of the application.

Written representations should be lodged with the Chief Executive Officer, Gauteng Gambling Board, Private Bag 15, Bramley, 2018, within one month from 28th of January 2022.

Such representations shall contain at least the following information: (a) the name of the applicant to which representations relate;

(b) the ground or grounds on which representations are made;

(c) the name, address, telephone and fax number of the person submitting the representations

(d) whether the person submitting the representations requests the board to determine that such person's identity may not be divulged and the grounds for such request; and

(e) whether or not they wish to make oral representations at the hearing of the application.

BOARD NOTICE 196 OF 2021

APPOINTMENT OF THE NEW ACCOUNITING AUTHORITY FOR THE CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT BOARD (CIDB)

The Honourable Minister of Public Works and Infrastructure, Ms. Patricia de Lille, MP has in terms of Section 6 (1) and 7 (1) of the Construction Industry Development Act, 2000 (No. 38 of 2000), made a decision to appoint the new Accounting Authority for the Construction Industry Development Board (CIDB). The incumbents are appointed for a three-year term commencing from 01 December 2021 and concluding on 30 November 2024. In terms of Section 6 (9) of the Act, the first meeting of the board shall take place on 03 December 2021. Due to the ongoing risk with Covid-19 infections, especially considering the noticeable rise during this period, it has been determined that the meeting shall take place on a virtual platform. The 13 persons that have been appointed are listed as follows:

- i. Mr Khulile Vuyisile Nzo Chairperson
- ii. Prof. Susanna Gertruida Bouillon Deputy Chairperson
- iii. Mr Danny Lesiba Masimene
- iv. Ms Karabo Joyce Siyila
- v. Mr Sibusiso Makhanya
- vi. Ms Yvonne Deliwe Mbane
- vii. Mr Khuliso Kennedy Maimela
- viii. Ms Moloko Benadette Rabosiwana
- ix. Mr Tumelo Gopane
- x. Ms. Celeste Margo Le Roux
- xi. Ms. Bongekile Zulu
- xii. Ms. Thuthuka Siphumezile Songelwa
- xiii. Ms Ertia Boitumelo Mokgatle

P. de Lille.

Ms Patricia de Lille, MP Minister of Public Works and Infrastructure Date: 26 November 2021

Printed by and obtainable from the Government Printer, Bosman Street, Private Bag X85, Pretoria, 0001 Contact Centre Tel: 012-748 6200. eMail: info.egazette@gpw.gov.za Publications: Tel: (012) 748 6053, 748 6061, 748 6065